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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
Manning & Napier, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)

June 30, 2020

December 31, 2019

(unaudited)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

40,577

$

67,088

Accounts receivable

11,373

10,182

Investment securities

24,169

90,467

Prepaid expenses and other assets

13,158

5,607

89,277

173,344

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net

3,658

4,565

Operating lease right-of-use assets

17,082

18,795

Net deferred tax assets, non-current

21,671

20,668

Goodwill

4,829

4,829

Other long-term assets

3,740

4,010

Total assets

$

140,257

$

1,239

$

226,211

Liabilities
Accounts payable

$

1,614

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

25,067

26,201

Deferred revenue

10,777

10,759

37,083

38,574

Operating lease liabilities, non-current

17,420

18,753

Amounts payable under tax receivable agreement, non-current

15,497

17,246

1,165

2,017

71,165

76,590

Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Shareholders’ equity
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized; and 16,275,359 and
15,956,526 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively

163

160

Additional paid-in capital

112,300

198,516

Retained deficit

(36,407)

(38,478)

(112)

(50)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity

75,944

Noncontrolling interests
Total shareholders’ equity and noncontrolling interests
Total liabilities, shareholders’ equity and noncontrolling interests

$

(10,527)

69,092

149,621

140,257

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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160,148

(6,852)
$

226,211
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

Revenues
Management Fees
Wealth Management

$

Institutional and Intermediary

13,740

$

16,209

$

28,040

$

32,678

12,142

12,932

24,273

26,166

Distribution and shareholder servicing

2,303

2,566

4,693

5,190

Custodial services

1,463

1,750

3,062

3,495

Other revenue
Total revenue

698

837

1,387

1,562

30,346

34,294

61,455

69,091

17,379

20,161

36,642

41,609

2,425

3,019

5,238

6,777

Expenses
Compensation and related costs
Distribution, servicing and custody expenses
Other operating costs
Total operating expenses
Operating income

7,489

8,639

14,586

16,946

27,293

31,819

56,466

65,332

3,053

2,475

4,989

3,759

Non-operating income (loss)
Interest expense

(3)

Interest and dividend income

(10)

363

Change in liability under tax receivable agreement

(5)

837

(13)

720

1,646

914

—

(1,936)

195

1,416

248

(416)

1,122

2,690

1,075

(1,637)

2,950

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes

5,743

3,550

3,352

6,709

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

1,460

331

Net income attributable to controlling and noncontrolling interests

4,283

3,219

5,118

6,136

Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests

2,737

2,805

2,714

5,161

Net gains (losses) on investments
Total non-operating income (loss)

Net income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

(1,766)

573

$

1,546

$

414

$

2,404

$

975

Basic

$

0.09

$

0.03

$

0.15

$

0.07

Diluted

$

0.06

$

0.03

$

0.06

$

0.06

Net income per share available to Class A common stock

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding
Basic

16,132,667

15,267,762

15,972,809

15,098,454

Diluted

46,296,214

15,613,939

61,851,067

78,317,986

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(U.S. dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended June 30,
2020

Net income attributable to controlling and noncontrolling interests

$

Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on investment securities, net of tax

4,283

$

179

Reclassification adjustment for net realized gains on investment securities
included in net income
$

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests

4,321

$

1,568

3,219

$

3,343
436

4,695
2,342

6,136
232
(6)

$

2,353
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

(174)
$

2,907
$

2019

5,118
(249)

8
$

2,753

Comprehensive income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

2020

116

(141)

Comprehensive income

Six months ended June 30,

2019

6,362
5,344

$

1,018
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Common Stock – Class A
Shares

Additional
Paid in Capital

Amount

Retained
Deficit

Non
Controlling
Interests

Total

Three months ended June 30, 2020
Balance—March 31, 2020

16,275,359

$

163

Net income

—

—

Net changes in unrealized investment securities
gains or losses

—

Equity-based compensation

—

Impact of changes in ownership of Manning &
Napier Group, LLC
(Note 4)

—

—

Deferred tax impacts from transactions with
shareholders (Note 12)
Balance—June 30, 2020

—

$

198,722

$

(37,953)

$

(134)

$

(9,819)

$

150,979

—

1,546

—

2,737

4,283

—

—

—

22

157

179

—

271

—

—

559

830

—

—

(486)

(90,299)

—

3,606

—

—

(90,785)

—

3,606

16,275,359

$

163

$

112,300

$

(36,407)

$

(112)

$

(6,852)

$

69,092

15,956,526

$

160

$

198,516

$

(38,478)

$

(50)

$

(10,527)

$

149,621

Six months ended June 30, 2020
Balance—December 31, 2019
Net income

—

—

—

2,404

Net changes in unrealized investment securities
gains or losses

—

—

—

—

(62)

(187)

(249)

(3)

—

—

—

—

Common stock issued under equity
compensation plan, net of forfeitures

—

2,714

318,833

3

Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding
requirements related to equity awards vested

—

—

—

—

—

Equity-based compensation

—

—

522

—

—

1,593

Dividends declared on Class A common stock $0.02 per share

—

—

—

(333)

—

—

Impact of changes in ownership of Manning &
Napier Group, LLC (Note 4)

—

—

—

—

(443)

Deferred tax impacts from transactions with
shareholders (Note 12)
Balance—June 30, 2020

—
16,275,359

(90,341)

—
$

163

3,606
$

4

112,300

—
$

(36,407)

(2)

—
$

(112)

5,118

(2)
2,115
(333)
(90,784)

—
$

(6,852)

3,606
$

69,092
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Common Stock – Class A
Shares

Additional
Paid in Capital

Amount

Retained
Deficit

Non
Controlling
Interests

Total

Three months ended June 30, 2019
Balance—March 31, 2019

15,684,573

$

157

$

198,811

$

(38,516)

$

(56)

$

(11,488)

$

—

—

—

414

—

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

—

—

—

—

—

(798)

(798)

Net changes in unrealized investment securities
gains or losses

—

—

—

—

22

94

116

(1)

1

—

—

—

—

Common stock issued under equity
compensation plan, net of forfeitures

(63,978)

2,805

148,908

Net income

3,219

Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding
requirements related to equity awards vested

—

—

(15)

—

—

(63)

(78)

Equity-based compensation

—

—

130

—

—

555

685

Dividends declared on Class A common stock $0.02 per share

—

—

—

(270)

—

—

(270)

Impact of changes in ownership of Manning &
Napier Group, LLC
Balance—June 30, 2019

—

—

(623)

—

—

(2,429)

(3,052)

15,620,595

$

156

$

198,304

$

(38,372)

$

(34)

$

(11,324)

$

148,730

15,310,958

$

153

$

198,604

$

(38,865)

$

(77)

$

(13,572)

$

146,243

Six months ended June 30, 2019
Balance—December 31, 2018
Net income

—

—

—

975

—

5,161

6,136

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

—

—

—

—

—

(2,419)

(2,419)

Net changes in unrealized investment securities
gains or losses

—

—

—

—

43

189

232

(3)

—

—

—

—

Common stock issued under equity
compensation plan, net of forfeitures

309,637

3

Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding
requirements related to equity awards vested

—

—

(15)

—

—

Equity-based compensation

—

—

402

—

—

1,748

Dividends declared on Class A common stock $0.04 per share

—

—

—

(558)

—

—

(558)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of taxes

—

—

—

76

—

—

76

Impact of changes in ownership of Manning &
Napier Group, LLC

—

—

(684)

—

—

Balance—June 30, 2019

15,620,595

$

156

$

198,304

$

(38,372)

$

(34)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(63)

(78)
2,150

(2,368)
$

(11,324)

(3,052)
$

148,730
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(U.S. dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Six months ended June 30,
2020

2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income attributable to controlling and noncontrolling interests

$

5,118

$

6,136

Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Equity-based compensation

2,115

Depreciation and amortization

2,150

796

Change in amounts payable under tax receivable agreement

796

1,936

(195)

Impairment of long-lived assets

553

—

Gain on sale of intangible assets

(21)

(116)

Net (gains) losses on investment securities

416

Deferred income taxes

(1,122)

(1,853)

410

Accounts receivable

(1,191)

(788)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

(2,708)

(Increase) decrease in operating assets and increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Other long-term assets

(645)

1,574

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred revenue

1,211

(375)

(121)

(4,705)

(5,535)

18

Other long-term liabilities

1,198

(2,163)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(1,327)

(490)

2,052

(204)

(1,084)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Sale of investments
Purchase of investments
Sale of intangible assets
Proceeds from maturity of investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

69,531

4,734

(20,298)

(55,863)

21

116

16,400

54,054

65,450

1,957

Cash flows from financing activities:
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

—

Dividends paid on Class A common stock
Payment of shares withheld to satisfy withholding requirements
Payment of capital lease obligations
Purchase of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group, LLC
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents, including cash classified within current assets held for sale
Less: increase in cash classified within current assets held for sale

(2,419)

(645)

(620)

(2)

(78)

(41)

(61)

(90,783)

(3,052)

(91,471)

(6,230)

(26,511)

(2,221)

—

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

196

(26,511)

(2,417)

67,088

59,586

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period
End of period

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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40,577

$

57,169
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1—Organization and Nature of the Business
Manning & Napier, Inc. ("Manning & Napier" or the "Company") provides a broad range of investment solutions through separately managed
accounts, mutual funds, and collective investment trust funds, as well as a variety of consultative services that complement its investment process. Founded
in 1970, the Company offers equity, fixed income and alternative strategies, as well as a range of blended asset portfolios, including life cycle funds.
Headquartered in Fairport, New York, the Company serves a diversified client base of high-net-worth individuals and institutions, including 401(k) plans,
pension plans, Taft-Hartley plans, endowments and foundations.
The Company was incorporated in 2011 as a Delaware corporation, and is the sole managing member of Manning & Napier Group, LLC and its
subsidiaries (“Manning & Napier Group”), a holding company for the investment management businesses conducted by its operating subsidiaries. The
diagram below depicts the Company's organizational structure as of June 30, 2020. Manning & Napier Group completed the redemption of 60,012,419 of
its Class A units held by M&N Group Holdings, LLC ("M&N Group Holdings") and Manning & Napier Capital Company, LLC ("MNCC") on May 11,
2020 with payment made from its cash, cash equivalents and proceeds from the sale of investment securities. Subsequent to the redemption, the Class A
units were retired and as a result, the Company's ownership of Manning & Napier Group increased from 19.5% to 88.2%. Refer to Note 4 for further
discussion.

(1) The consolidated operating subsidiaries of Manning & Napier Group include Manning & Napier Advisors, LLC ("MNA"), Manning & Napier
Investor Services, Inc., Exeter Trust Company and Rainier Investment Management, LLC ("Rainier").
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Critical Accounting Policies
The Company's critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The Company believes that the disclosures herein are adequate so that the information presented is not misleading; however, these financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The financial data for the interim periods may not necessarily be indicative of results for future interim periods or for the full year.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and related rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial
reporting and include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair
statement of the results for the interim period.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates or assumptions that affect the
reported amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates or assumptions.
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
Summary of Presentation Changes
As of January 1, 2020, the Company revised its presentation of investment management revenue within its consolidated statements of operations.
Investment management revenue, previously presented by investment vehicle, has been disaggregated to present investment management revenue by sales
channel. Concurrently, the Company revised the presentation of assets under management ("AUM") activity previously reported by investment vehicle to
present this activity by sales channel.
Amounts for the comparative prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications had no impact
on previously reported net income and do not represent a restatement of any previously published financial results.
Principles of Consolidation
The Company consolidates all majority-owned subsidiaries. In addition, as of June 30, 2020, Manning & Napier holds an economic interest of
approximately 88.2% in Manning & Napier Group and, as managing member, controls all of the business and affairs of Manning & Napier Group. As a
result, the Company consolidates the financial results of Manning & Napier Group and records a noncontrolling interest on its consolidated statements of
financial condition with respect to the remaining economic interest in Manning & Napier Group held by Manning & Napier Group Holdings and MNCC.
All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
In accordance with Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810) – Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis, the
determination of whether a company is required to consolidate an entity is based on, among other things, an entity’s purpose and design, a company’s
ability to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, and whether a company is obligated to absorb
losses or receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the entity. The standard also requires ongoing assessments of whether a company is the
primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity (“VIE”). When utilizing the voting interest entity ("VOE") model, controlling financial interest is generally
defined as majority ownership of voting interests.
The Company provides seed capital to its investment teams to develop new strategies and services for its clients. The original seed investment may be
held in a separately managed account, comprised solely of the Company's investments or within a mutual fund, where the Company's investments may
represent all or only a portion of the total equity investment in the mutual fund. Pursuant to U.S. GAAP, the Company evaluates its investments in mutual
funds on a regular basis and consolidates such mutual funds for which it holds a controlling financial interest. When no longer deemed to hold a controlling
financial interest, the Company would deconsolidate the fund and classify the remaining investment as either an equity method investment, equity
investments, at fair value, or as trading securities, as applicable. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not have investments
classified as an equity method investment.
The Company serves as the investment adviser for Manning & Napier Fund, Inc. series of mutual funds (the “Fund”), Exeter Trust Company
Collective Investment Trusts (“CIT”) and Rainier Multiple Investment Trust. The Fund, CIT and Rainier Multiple Investment Trust are legal entities, the
business and affairs of which are managed by their respective boards of directors. As a result, each of these entities is a VOE. The Company holds, in
limited cases, direct investments in a mutual fund (which are made on the same terms as are available to other investors) and consolidates each of these
entities where it has a controlling financial interest or a majority voting interest. The Company's investments in the Fund amounted to approximately $1.9
million as of June 30, 2020 and $3.2 million as of December 31, 2019. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not have a
controlling financial interest in any mutual fund.
Revenue
Investment Management: Investment management fees are computed as a percentage of AUM. The Company's performance obligation is a series of
services that form part of a single performance obligation satisfied over time.
Separately managed accounts are paid in advance, typically for a semi-annual or quarterly period, or in arrears, typically for a monthly or quarterly
period. When investment management fees are paid in advance, the Company defers the revenue as a contract liability and recognizes it over the applicable
period. When investment management fees are paid in arrears, the Company estimates revenue and records a contract asset (accrued accounts receivable)
based on AUM as of the most recent month end date.
Mutual funds and collective investment trust investment management revenue is calculated and earned daily based on AUM. Revenue is presented net
of cash rebates and fees waived pursuant to contractual expense limitations of the funds. The Company also has agreements with third parties who provide
recordkeeping and administrative services for employee benefit plans participating in the collective investment trusts. The Company is acting as an agent
on behalf of the employee benefit plan sponsors, therefore, investment management revenue is recorded net of fees paid to third party service providers.
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Manning & Napier, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
Distribution and shareholder servicing: The Company receives distribution and servicing fees for providing services to its affiliated mutual funds.
Revenue is computed and earned daily based on a percentage of AUM. The performance obligation is a series of services that form part of a single
performance obligation satisfied over time. The Company has agreements with third parties who provide distribution and administrative services for its
mutual funds. The agreements are evaluated to determine whether revenue should be reported gross or net of payments to third-party service providers. The
Company controls the services provided and acts as a principal in the relationship. Therefore, distribution and shareholder servicing revenue is recorded
gross of fees paid to third parties.
Custodial services: Custodial service fees are calculated as a percentage of the client’s market value with additional fees charged for certain
transactions. For the safeguarding and administrative services that are subject to a percentage of market value fee, the Company's performance obligation is
a series of services that form part of a single performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue for transactions assigned a stand-alone selling price is
recognized in the period in which the transaction is executed. Custodial service fees are billed monthly in arrears. The Company has agreements with third
parties who provide safeguarding, recordkeeping and administrative services for their clients. The Company controls the services provided and acts as a
principal in the relationship. Therefore, custodial service revenue is recorded gross of fees paid to third parties.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company generally considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are primarily held in operating accounts at major financial institutions and also in money market securities. Cash equivalents are stated at cost,
which approximates market value due to the short-term maturity of these investments. The fair value of cash equivalents has been classified as Level 1 in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
Investment Securities
Investment securities are classified as either trading, equity method investments or available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Fair value is
determined based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical or similar instruments.
Investment securities classified as equity investments, at fair value consist of equity securities and investments in mutual funds for which the
Company provides advisory services. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on equity investments, at fair value or trading securities, as applicable, are
recorded in net gains (losses) on investments in the consolidated statements of operations. At June 30, 2020, equity investments, at fair value consist of
investments held by the Company to provide initial cash seeding for product development purposes and investments to hedge economic exposure to market
movements on its deferred compensation plan.
Investment securities classified as available-for-sale consist of U.S. Treasury notes, corporate bonds and other short-term investments. Unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are reported, net of deferred income tax, as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity until realized. The Company periodically reviews each individual security position that
has an unrealized loss, or impairment, to determine if that impairment is other-than-temporary. If impairment is determined to be other-than-temporary, the
carrying value of the security will be written down to fair value and the loss will be recognized in earnings. Realized gains and losses on sales of availablefor-sale securities are computed on a specific identification basis and are recorded in net gains (losses) on investments in the consolidated statements of
operations.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is presented net of accumulated depreciation of approximately $12.0 million and $11.4 million as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess cost over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of acquired companies. Identifiable intangible assets generally
represent the cost of client relationships and investment management agreements acquired as well as trademarks. Goodwill and indefinite-lived assets are
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Intangible assets
subject to amortization are tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill and
intangible assets require significant management estimate and judgment, including the valuation and expected life determination in connection with the
initial purchase price allocation and the ongoing evaluation for impairment.
Leases
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets,
accrued expenses and other liabilities and operating lease liabilities, non-current on its consolidated
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statements of financial condition. Finance leases are included in other long-term assets, accrued expenses and other liabilities, and other long-term
liabilities on its consolidated statements of financial condition.
ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to
make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present
value of lease payments over the lease term. As the Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate
based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate, for each
identified lease, is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term. The operating lease ROU
asset is reduced for any lease incentives. The Company's lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that
it will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are combined for all classes of underlying assets.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the historical
cost carrying value of an asset may no longer be appropriate. During the three months ended June 30, 2020, a downturn in the commercial real estate
market indicated that an asset group, including previously vacated office space, may not be recoverable. The Company assessed recoverability of the asset
group by comparing the undiscounted future net cash flows expected to result from the asset group to its carrying value. The carrying value exceeded the
undiscounted future net cash flows of the asset, and an impairment loss of approximately $0.6 million was recognized during the three months ended June
30, 2020 as the difference between the net book value and the fair value of the asset group.
Operating Segments
The Company operates in one segment, the investment management industry.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract. The
amendment aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements
that currently exist in U.S. GAAP for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. Under the new standard,
implementation costs are deferred and presented in the same financial statement caption on the consolidated statements of financial condition as a
prepayment of related arrangement fees. The deferred costs are recognized over the term of the arrangement in the same financial statement caption in the
consolidated statements of operations as the related fees of the arrangement. The Company adopted the provisions of this guidance using the prospective
adoption approach, which does not require the restatement of prior years. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company's
statement of operations as requirements under the standard are generally consistent with its previous accounting for cloud computing arrangements, with
the primary difference being the classification of certain information in its statements of financial condition and related disclosures.
As of June 30, 2020, the Company had a total of approximately $3.5 million of capitalized implementation costs for hosting arrangements within
prepaid expenses and other assets on its statements of financial condition, with no amounts in accumulated amortization and no amortization expense
recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2020. At December 31, 2019, approximately $0.4 million of these costs were capitalized within property
and equipment, net. The hosting arrangements that are service contracts include internal and external costs related to various technology additions in
support of the Company's business. Amortization costs are recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the hosting arrangement agreement.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which
simplifies the accounting for goodwill impairments by eliminating step two from the goodwill impairment test. The ASU requires goodwill impairments to
be measured on the basis of the fair value of the reporting unit relative to the reporting unit's carrying amount rather than on the basis of the implied amount
of goodwill relative to the goodwill balance of the reporting unit. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.
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Note 3—Revenue
Disaggregated Revenue
The following table represents the Company’s wealth management and institutional and intermediary investment management revenue by investment
portfolio during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three months ended June 30, 2020
Institutional and
Intermediary

Wealth Management

Three months ended June 30, 2019
Total

Institutional and
Intermediary

Wealth Management

Total

(in thousands)

Blended Asset

$

Equity
Fixed Income
Total

$

12,148

$

7,486

$

19,634

$

13,186

$

7,607

$

20,793

1,470

4,345

5,815

2,819

4,894

7,713

122

311

433

204

431

635

13,740

$

12,142

$

25,882

$

16,209

Six months ended June 30, 2020
Institutional and
Intermediary

Wealth Management

$

12,932

$

29,141

Six months ended June 30, 2019
Total

Institutional and
Intermediary

Wealth Management

Total

(in thousands)

Blended Asset

$

Equity
Fixed Income
Total

$

24,090

$

15,672

$

39,762

$

26,684

$

15,435

3,635

7,964

11,599

5,580

9,851

315

637

952

414

880

28,040

$

24,273

$

52,313

$

32,678

$

$

42,119
15,431
1,294

26,166

$

58,844

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 consisted of the following:
June 30, 2020

December 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Accounts receivable - third parties

$

6,163

Accounts receivable - affiliated mutual funds and collective investment trusts
Total accounts receivable

$

5,778

5,210
$

11,373

4,404
$

10,182

Accounts receivable represents the Company's unconditional rights to consideration arising from its performance under separately managed account,
mutual fund and collective investment trust, distribution and shareholder servicing, and custodial service contracts. Accounts receivable balances do not
include an allowance for doubtful accounts nor has any significant bad debt expense attributable to accounts receivable been recorded during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2020 or 2019.
Advisory and Distribution Agreements
The Company earns investment advisory fees, distribution fees and administrative service fees under agreements with affiliated mutual funds and
collective investment trusts. Fees earned for advisory and distribution services provided were approximately $8.5 million and $17.4 million for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2020, and approximately $10.2 million and $21.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, which
represents greater than 25% of revenue in each period. The following provides amounts due from affiliated mutual funds and collective investment trusts
reported within accounts receivable in the consolidated statements of financial condition as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
June 30, 2020

December 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Affiliated mutual funds

$

Affiliated collective investment trusts

4,020

$

1,190

Accounts receivable - affiliated mutual funds and collective investment trusts
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Contract assets and liabilities
Accrued accounts receivable: Accrued accounts receivable represents the Company's contract asset for revenue that has been recognized in advance
of billing separately managed account contracts. Consideration for the period billed in arrears is dependent on the client’s AUM on a future billing date and
therefore conditional as of the reporting period end. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, revenue was increased by less than $0.1 million for
changes in transaction price. Accrued accounts receivable of approximately $0.3 million is reported within prepaid expenses and other assets in the
consolidated statements of financial condition for both June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Deferred revenue: Deferred revenue is recorded when consideration is received or unconditionally due in advance of providing services to the
Company's customer. Revenue recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2020 that was included in deferred revenue at the beginning of the period
was approximately $10.6 million.
Costs to obtain a contract: Under compensation plans in effect for periods prior to January 1, 2020, certain incremental first year commissions
directly associated with new customer contracts were capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated customer contract period of 3 to 7
years. The total net asset as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was approximately $0.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The related
amortization expense, which is included in compensation and related costs, totaled approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million for three and six months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. An impairment loss is recorded for contract acquisition costs related to client contracts that cancel during the
period. These impairment losses totaled less than $0.1 million for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Note 4—Noncontrolling Interests
Manning & Napier holds an economic interest of approximately 88.2% in Manning & Napier Group, and as managing member controls all of the
business and affairs of Manning & Napier Group. As a result, the Company consolidates the financial results of Manning & Napier Group and records a
noncontrolling interest on its consolidated statements of financial condition with respect to the remaining approximately 11.8% economic interest in
Manning & Napier Group held by M&N Group Holdings and MNCC. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests on the statements of operations
represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in Manning & Napier Group held by the noncontrolling interests.
The following table provides a reconciliation from “Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes” to “Net income attributable to
Manning & Napier, Inc.”:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands)

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

5,743

Less: income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes
of Manning & Napier, Inc. (1)

901

Income before provision for (benefit from) income taxes, as adjusted

901

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes
attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

3,055

Less: provision for (benefit from) income taxes of Manning &
Napier, Inc.(3)

1,546

669

2,247

(10)

(1,965)

414

6,528
18.7%
1,221
181

282

1,402

(2,122)
$

2,404

6,709
181

42.3%

245
$

$

5,317

659

1,509
$

3,352
(1,965)

18.8%

2,154

Plus: income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes
of Manning & Napier, Inc. (1)

$

3,560

44.5%

Net income attributable to controlling interest

3,550
(10)

4,842

Controlling interest percentage (2)

Net income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

$

427
$

975

________________________
(1) Manning & Napier, Inc. incurs certain income or expenses that are only attributable to it and are therefore excluded from the net income attributable
to noncontrolling interests.
(2) Income before provision for (benefit from) income taxes is allocated to the controlling interest based on the percentage of units of Manning &
Napier Group held by Manning & Napier, Inc. The amount represents the Company's weighted ownership of Manning & Napier Group's income for
the respective periods and anticipates a closing of the books pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 1377.
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(3) The consolidated provision for (benefit from) income taxes is equal to the sum of (i) the provision for (benefit from) income taxes for entities other
than Manning & Napier, Inc. and (ii) the provision for (benefit from) income taxes of Manning & Napier, Inc. which includes all U.S. federal and
state income taxes. The consolidated provision for (benefit from) income taxes was a provision of $1.5 million and $0.3 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and a benefit of $1.8 million and provision of $0.6 million for the six months ended June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.
As of June 30, 2020, a total of 2,021,781 units of Manning & Napier Group were held by the noncontrolling interests. Pursuant to the terms of the
exchange agreement entered into at the time of the Company's initial public offering ("Exchange Agreement"), such units may be tendered for exchange.
For any units exchanged, the Company will (i) pay an amount of cash equal to the number of units exchanged multiplied by the value of one share of the
Company's Class A common stock less a market discount and expected expenses, or, at the Company's election, (ii) issue shares of the Company's Class A
common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary adjustments. As the Company receives units of Manning & Napier Group that are exchanged,
the Company's ownership of Manning & Napier Group will increase.
The Company received notice that a total of 60,012,419 Class A units, including 59,957,419 units held by William Manning, who was previously the
Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors, were tendered for either cash or shares of the Company's Class A common stock pursuant to the terms of
the Exchange Agreement. The independent directors, on behalf of the Company, decided to settle the exchange utilizing approximately $90.8 million in
cash, including approximately $90.7 million paid to Mr. Manning, pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Agreement. Manning & Napier Group completed
the redemption on May 11, 2020 with payment made from its cash, cash equivalents and proceeds from the sale of investment securities. Subsequent to the
redemption the Class A units were retired and as a result, the Company's ownership of Manning & Napier Group increased from 19.5% to 88.2%.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, Class A common stock was issued under the Company's 2011 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Equity
Plan") for which Manning & Napier, Inc. acquired an equivalent number of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group.
The following is the impact to the Company's equity ownership interest in Manning & Napier Group for the six months ended June 30, 2020:
Manning & Napier Group Class A Units Held
Manning & Napier

As of December 31, 2019

14,750,221

Class A Units issued

318,833

Class A Units exchanged
As of June 30, 2020

—
15,069,054

Noncontrolling
Interests

62,034,200
—

Total

76,784,421
318,833

Manning & Napier
Ownership %

19.2%
0.3%

(60,012,419)

(60,012,419)

68.7%

2,021,781

17,090,835

88.2%

Manning & Napier, as managing member controls all of the business and affairs of Manning & Napier Group prior to and subsequent to the
redemption that was completed during the second quarter of 2020. Since the Company continues to have a controlling interest in Manning & Napier Group,
the aforementioned changes in ownership of Manning & Napier Group were accounted for as equity transactions under ASC 810, Consolidation.
Additional paid-in capital and noncontrolling interests in the consolidated statements of financial position are adjusted to reallocate the Company's
historical equity to reflect the change in ownership of Manning & Napier Group.
At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had recorded a liability of $19.5 million and $17.5 million, respectively, representing the
estimated payments due to the selling unit holders under the tax receivable agreement ("TRA") entered into between Manning & Napier and the other
holders of Class A Units of Manning & Napier Group. Of these amounts, approximately $4.0 million and $0.3 million were included in accrued expenses
and other liabilities at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The Company made no payments pursuant to the TRA during either of the six
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. Refer to Note 12 for further discussion surrounding the amounts payable under the TRA.
Obligations pursuant to the TRA are obligations of Manning & Napier. They do not impact the noncontrolling interests. These obligations are not
income tax obligations. Furthermore, the TRA has no impact on the allocation of the provision for income taxes to the Company’s net income.
Note 5—Investment Securities
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The following represents the Company’s investment securities holdings as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
June 30, 2020
Unrealized
Gains

Cost

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

(in thousands)

Available-for-sale securities
U.S. Treasury notes

$

8,538

Fixed income securities

$

11

8,360

$

(12)

—

$

(145)

8,537
8,215
16,752

Equity investments, at fair value
Equity securities

5,558

Mutual funds

1,859
7,417

Total investment securities

$

24,169

December 31, 2019
Unrealized
Gains

Cost

Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

(in thousands)

Available-for-sale securities
U.S. Treasury notes

$

33,908

$

193

$

—

$

34,101

Fixed income securities

35,148

—

(91)

35,057

Short-term investments

12,119

—

—

12,119
81,277

Equity investments, at fair value
Equity securities

6,038

Mutual funds

3,152
9,190

Total investment securities

$

90,467

Investment securities are classified as either equity investments or available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined based on
quoted market prices in active markets for identical or similar instruments.
Investment securities classified as equity investments, at fair value consist of equity securities and investments in mutual funds for which the
Company provides advisory services. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, equity investments, at fair value consist of investments held by the
Company to provide initial cash seeding for product development purposes and investments in mutual funds to hedge economic exposure to market
movements on its deferred compensation plan. The Company recognized approximately $0.6 million of net unrealized losses and $1.1 million of net
unrealized gains related to investments classified as equity investments, at fair value during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Investment securities classified as available-for-sale consist of U.S. Treasury notes, corporate bonds and other short-term investments to optimize
cash management opportunities and for compliance with certain regulatory requirements. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, approximately $0.6
million of these securities was considered restricted. The Company periodically reviews each individual security position that has an unrealized loss, or
impairment, to determine if that impairment is other-than-temporary. No other-than-temporary impairment charges have been recognized by the Company
during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Note 6—Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is defined as the price that the Company would receive upon selling an investment in an orderly transaction to an independent buyer in the
principal or most advantageous market of the investment. A fair value hierarchy is applied that gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).
The following three-tier fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value:
•

Level 1—observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical securities;
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•

Level 2—other significant observable inputs (including but not limited to quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment rates,
credit risk, etc.); and

•

Level 3—significant unobservable inputs (including the Company’s own assumptions in determining the fair value of investments).

The following table summarizes the hierarchy of inputs used to derive the fair value of the Company’s assets as of June 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019:
June 30, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Totals

(in thousands)

Equity securities

$

5,558

Fixed income securities
Mutual funds
$

—

$

—

$

5,558

—

8,215

—

8,215

1,859

—

—

1,859

—

8,537

—

8,537

U.S. Treasury notes
Total assets at fair value

$

7,417

$

16,752

$

—

$

24,169

December 31, 2019
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Totals

(in thousands)

Equity securities

$

6,038

Fixed income securities
Mutual funds
U.S. Treasury notes
Short-term investments
Total assets at fair value

$

$

—

$

6,038

—

35,057

—

3,152

—

—

3,152

—

34,101

—

34,101

—
$

—

9,190

12,119
$

35,057

—

81,277

$

12,119

—

$

90,467

Short-term investments consists of U.S. Treasury bills.
Valuations of investments in fixed income securities, U.S. Treasury notes and U.S. Treasury bills can generally be obtained through independent
pricing services. For most bond types, the pricing service utilizes matrix pricing, which considers one or more of the following factors: yield or price of
bonds of comparable quality, coupon, maturity, current cash flows, type and current day trade information, as well as dealer supplied prices. These
valuations are categorized as Level 2 in the hierarchy.
The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers in and transfers out of the valuation levels as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were no
transfers between valuation levels during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
Note 7—Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 consisted of the following:
June 30, 2020

December 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Accrued bonus and sales commissions

$

Accrued payroll and benefits
Accrued sub-transfer agent fees
Dividends payable on Class A common stock

11,699

$

14,825

2,333

4,415

407

420

—

312

Amounts payable under tax receivable agreement

3,960

275

Short-term operating lease liabilities

2,899

2,682

Other accruals and liabilities

3,769

3,272

Total accrued expenses and other liabilities

$
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Note 8—Leases
Leases
The Company has operating and finance leases for office space and certain equipment. For these leases, the office space or equipment is an explicitly
identified asset within the contract. The Company has determined that it has obtained substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the
underlying asset and directs how and for what purpose the asset is used during the term of the contract.
The Company's leases have remaining lease terms ranging between approximately 1 year and 8 years. The Company's lease term on certain of its
multi-year office space leases, including its headquarters, include options for the Company to extend those leases for periods ranging from an additional
five to 10 years. In addition, the Company has the option to reduce a portion of its square footage at certain times throughout the term of the lease for its
headquarters. The Company determined it is not reasonably certain at this time it will exercise the options to extend these leases or will exercise the options
to reduce its square footage; therefore, the payment amounts related to these lease term extensions and contraction options have been excluded from
determining its ROU asset and lease liability.
Certain of the Company's operating leases for office space include variable lease payments, including non-lease components (such as utilities and
operating expenses) that vary based on actual expenses and are adjusted on an annual basis. The Company concluded that these variable lease payments are
in substance fixed payments and included the estimated variable payments in its determination of ROU assets and lease liabilities.
Changes in the lease terms, including renewal options and options to reduce its square footage, incremental borrowing rates, and/or variable lease
payments, and the corresponding impact to the ROU assets and lease liabilities, are recognized in the period incurred.
Certain of the Company's operating leases have been subleased for which the Company will receive cash totaling approximately $3.6 million over the
remaining term of such leases. The lease terms for the three subleased operating leases end in 2021, 2027 and 2028.
The components of lease expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands)

Finance lease expense
Amortization of right-of-use assets

$

Interest on lease liabilities
Operating lease expense
Short-term lease expense
Variable lease expense
Sublease income
Total lease expense

$

23

$

30

$

48

59

2

2

4

5

1,428

934

2,220

1,857

1

4

2

8

72

65

147

111

(161)

(174)

(327)

(297)

1,365

$

861

$

2,094

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
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Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from finance leases

$

2

$

3

$

5

Finance cash flows from finance leases

$

24

$

33

$

51

$

61

5

Operating cash flows from operating leases

$

940

$

1,159

$

1,660

1,953

Finance leases

$

—

$

15

$

—

Operating leases

$

—

$

862

$

136

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:
175
$

862

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2020 was as follows:
(in thousands, except lease term and discount rate)

June 30, 2020

Finance Leases
Finance lease right-of-use assets (1)

$

156

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

71

Other long-term liabilities

94
$

165

Operating lease right-of-use assets

$

17,082

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

Total finance lease liabilities
Operating Leases

Operating lease liabilities, non-current

2,899
17,420

$

Total operating lease liabilities

20,319

Weighted average remaining lease term
Finance leases

2.62 years

Operating leases

6.96 years

Weighted average discount rate
Finance leases

4.92%

Operating leases
_______________________

5.13%

(1) Amounts included in other long-term assets within the consolidated statements of financial condition.
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Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:
Twelve month period ending June 30,

Finance Leases

Operating Leases

(in thousands)

2021

$

80

$

3,868

2022

55

3,599

2023

28

3,389

2024

13

3,135

2025

—

2,986

Thereafter

—

7,188

176

24,165

(11)

(3,846)

Total lease payments
Less imputed interest
$

Total lease liabilities

165

$

20,319

Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies
The Company may from time to time enter into agreements that contain certain representations and warranties and which provide general
indemnifications. The Company may also serve as a guarantor of such obligations. The Company’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is
unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the Company that have not yet occurred. The Company expects any risk of liability
associated with such guarantees to be remote.
Regulation
As an investment adviser to a variety of investment products, the Company and its affiliated broker-dealer are subject to routine reviews and
inspections by the SEC and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. Additionally, the Company could be subject to non-routine reviews and
inspections by the National Futures Association and U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission in regards to the Company’s de minimis exposure to
commodity interest investments in the mutual funds and collective investment trust vehicles it operates. From time to time the Company may also be
subject to claims, or be involved in various legal proceedings, arising in the ordinary course of its business and other contingencies. The Company does not
believe that the outcome of any of these reviews, inspections or other legal proceedings will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements;
however, litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of individual litigated matters is difficult to predict. The Company will establish
accruals for matters that are probable, can be reasonably estimated, and may take into account any related insurance recoveries to the extent of such
recoveries. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company has not accrued for any such claims, legal proceedings, or other contingencies.
Note 10—Earnings per Common Share
Basic earnings per share (“basic EPS”) is computed using the two-class method to determine net income available to Class A common stock. The
two-class method includes an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each participating security according to dividends declared
and undistributed earnings for the period. The Company's restricted Class A common shares granted under the Equity Plan have non-forfeitable dividend
rights during their vesting period and are therefore considered participating securities under the two-class method. Under the two-class method, the
Company's net income available to Class A common stock is reduced by the amount allocated to the unvested restricted Class A common stock. Basic EPS
is calculated by dividing net income available to Class A common stock by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share (“diluted EPS”) is computed under the more dilutive of either the treasury method or the two-class method. For the diluted
calculation, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period is increased by the assumed conversion into Class A common
stock of unvested restricted stock units, unvested restricted stock awards, and outstanding stock options (collectively, "outstanding equity awards"), as well
as the exchangeable Class A units of Manning & Napier Group, to the extent that such conversion would dilute earnings per share.
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The following is a reconciliation of the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019 under the two-class method:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands, except share data)

Net income attributable to controlling and noncontrolling interests

$

Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

$

2,737
$

1,546

$

1,533

Less: allocation to participating securities
Net income available to Class A common stock

4,283

Dilutive effect of outstanding equity awards

$

5,118

2,805
$

414

$

447

13

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - basic

3,219

15,267,762

6,136

2,714
$

2,404

$

2,377

(33)

16,132,667

$

5,161
$

975

$

1,018

27

(43)

15,972,809

15,098,454

1,762,681

346,177

660,725

305,895

Dilutive effect of exchangeable Class A Units

28,400,866

—

45,217,533

62,913,637

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - diluted

46,296,214

15,613,939

61,851,067

78,317,986

Net income available to Class A common stock per share - basic

$

0.09

$

0.03

$

0.15

$

0.07

Net income available to Class A common stock per share - diluted

$

0.06

$

0.03

$

0.06

$

0.06

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, 3,000,000 unvested performance-based stock options were excluded from the
calculation of diluted EPS because the associated market condition had not yet been achieved.
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, 179,133 and 408,481, respectively, unvested equity awards were excluded from the calculation of
diluted EPS because the effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, 961,060 and 1,211,060, respectively,
unvested equity awards were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
Note 11—Equity-Based Compensation
The Equity Plan was adopted by the Company's board of directors and approved by shareholders prior to the consummation of the Company's 2011
initial public offering. Under the Equity Plan, a total of 13,142,813 equity interests are authorized for issuance, and may be issued in the form of Class A
common stock, restricted stock units, stock options, units of Manning & Napier Group, or certain classes of membership interests in the Company which
may convert into units of Manning & Napier Group. At June 30, 2020, a total of 3,098,104 equity interests were available for issuance pursuant to the
Equity Plan.
The following table summarizes activity related to awards of restricted stock and restricted stock units (collectively, "stock awards") under the Equity
Plan for the six months ended June 30, 2020:
Weighted Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Stock Awards

Outstanding at January 1, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding at June 30, 2020

1,037,901

$

4.30

2,997,940

$

1.58

(444,165)

$

4.55

(2,667)

$

1.67

$

2.00

3,589,009

The weighted average fair value of stock awards granted during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $1.58, based on the closing sale price of the
Company's Class A common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, and, if not entitled to dividends or dividend
equivalents during the vesting period, reduced by the present value of such amounts expected to be paid on the underlying shares during the requisite
service period.
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For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded approximately $0.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively, of compensation
expense related to stock awards under the Equity Plan. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company recorded approximately $0.5
million and $1.9 million, respectively, of compensation expense related to stock awards under the Equity Plan. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock
awards that vested during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $0.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively. As of June 30,
2020, there was unrecognized compensation expense of approximately $5.6 million related to stock awards, which the Company expects to recognize over
a weighted average period of approximately 3.4 years.
In connection with the vesting of restricted stock units during the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company withheld a total of 2,832 shares of
Class A common stock to satisfy less than $0.1 million of employee income tax withholding requirements. These net share settlements had the effect of
shares repurchased and retired by the Company, as they reduced the total number of Class A common shares outstanding.
A summary of activity under the Equity Plan related to stock option awards during the six months ended June 30, 2020 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Stock Option Awards

Outstanding at January 1, 2020

3,500,000

$

2.01

Granted

—

$

—

Exercised

—

$

—

Forfeited

Weighted Average
Contractual Term
(years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

—

$

—

Outstanding at June 30, 2020

3,500,000

$

2.01

4.1 $

2,975

Exercisable at June 30, 2020

166,666

$

2.01

3.5 $

142

For the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded approximately $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, of
compensation expense related to stock options under the Equity Plan. For both of the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2019, the Company
recorded approximately $0.2 million of compensation expense related to stock options under the Equity Plan. As of June 30, 2020, there was unrecognized
compensation expense of approximately $0.6 million related to stock options, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of
approximately 1.0 year.
Note 12—Income Taxes
The Company is comprised of entities that have elected to be treated as either a limited liability company ("LLC") or a “C-Corporation". As such, the
entities functioning as LLCs are not liable for or able to benefit from U.S. federal and most state income taxes on their earnings, and earnings (losses) will
be included in the personal income tax returns of each entity’s unit holders. The entities functioning as C-Corporations are liable for or able to benefit from
U.S. federal and state and local income taxes on their earnings and losses, respectively.
On March 27, 2020, the U.S. government enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") which includes, among
other things, the ability to carryback net operating losses from 2018, 2019 and 2020 to prior years. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had
approximately $12.1 million net operating losses available to offset future taxable income for federal income tax purposes and approximately $6.1 million
for state income tax purposes. The Company expects to carryback net operating losses generated in 2018, 2019 and, if applicable, 2020 to prior years and
claim refunds when the federal corporate tax rate was 34% compared to the current statutory rates of 21%. During the first quarter of 2020, the Company
recognized an income tax benefit of approximately $3.3 million, related to the favorable rate applied to its net operating losses. During the second quarter
of 2020, the Company reduced its benefit by approximately $1.2 million primarily due to a decrease in the Company's estimated 2020 net operating loss.
As a result, the Company increased its deferred tax asset during the six months ended June 30, 2020 related to the TRA by approximately $2.3 million,
resulting in a $1.9 million increase of the liability, representing 85% of the applicable cash savings.
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During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company completed the redemption and subsequent retirement of 60,012,419 Class A units,
resulting in the Company's ownership of Manning & Napier Group increasing from 19.5% to 88.2% (Refer to Note 4). The Company recognized a deferred
tax asset of approximately $1.1 million, resulting from an increased share of Manning & Napier Group's deferred tax assets. Additionally, as a result of
Manning & Napier Group's redemption of its Class A units during the three months ended June 30, 2020 and Manning & Napier Group's election under
Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code, the Company expects to benefit from depreciation and amortization deductions resulting from increases in the
tax basis of tangible and intangible assets of Manning & Napier Group. Those deductions allocated to the Company will be taken into account in reporting
the Company's taxable income resulting in the recognition of a deferred tax asset of approximately $2.5 million. The aggregate $3.6 million of deferred tax
assets recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2020 resulting from the redemption were recorded within the Company's consolidated statements
of shareholder's equity.
The Company’s income tax provision (benefit) and effective tax rate were as follows:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands)

Income before provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

5,743

Effective tax rate

25.4%

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

254

$

(415)

$

573

704
$

(2,470)

6,709
8.5%

(1,766)

746
$

3,352
(52.7)%

331

1,206
$

3,550
9.3%

1,460

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes at statutory rate
Difference between tax at effective vs. statutory rate

$

1,409
$

(836)

For both the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the difference between the Company’s recorded provision (benefit) and the
provision that would result from applying the U.S. statutory rate of 21% includes the benefit resulting from the fact that a significant portion of the
Company’s operations include a series of flow-through entities which are generally not subject to federal and most state income taxes. Accordingly, a
portion of the Company’s earnings are not subject to corporate level taxes. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the income tax benefit also includes the
impact from the enactment of the CARES Act, which resulted in the recognition of an income tax benefit based on the ability to carry back net operating
losses to prior years.
A state is currently auditing the Company's 2016, 2017 and 2018 corporate tax returns. The audit is expected to be completed in 2020. As of June 30,
2020, the audit is in process and the state is collecting and evaluating the data for which the Company has not recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions
under ASC 740. The Company believes any potential increases to this liability, which could be up to approximately $1.3 million, would not result in a
material change to its financial position.
Note 13—Related Party Transactions
Transactions with noncontrolling members
From time to time, the Company may be asked to provide certain services, including accounting, legal and other administrative functions for the
noncontrolling members of Manning & Napier Group. While immaterial, the Company has not received any reimbursement for such services.
The Company manages the personal funds of certain of the Company's executive officers and directors and/or their affiliated entities. Pursuant to the
respective investment management agreements, in some instances the Company may waive or reduce its regular advisory fees for these accounts. The
aggregate value of the fees earned and the value of fees waived was less than $0.1 million for each of the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Manning & Napier Group completed the redemption of 60,012,419 Class A units held by the noncontrolling members of Manning & Napier Group,
including 59,957,419 units held by William Manning, who was previously the Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors on May 11, 2020. The
independent directors, on behalf of the Company, decided to settle the exchange utilizing approximately $90.8 million in cash, including approximately
$90.7 million paid to Mr. Manning with payment made from its cash, cash equivalents and proceeds from the sale of investment securities. See Note 4 for
additional details.
Affiliated fund transactions
The Company earns investment advisory fees, distribution fees and administrative service fees under agreements with affiliated mutual funds and
collective investment trusts. Fees earned for advisory and distribution services provided were approximately $8.5 million and $17.4 million for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2020, and approximately $10.2 million and $21.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019. Fees earned for
administrative services provided
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were approximately $0.4 million and $0.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, and approximately $0.5 million and $1.1 million for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2019. See Note 3 for disclosure of amounts due from affiliated mutual funds and collective investment trusts.
The Company incurs certain expenses on behalf of the collective investment trusts and has contractually agreed to limit its fees and reimburse
expenses to limit operating expenses incurred by certain affiliated fund series. The aggregate value of fees waived and expenses reimbursed to, or incurred
for, affiliated mutual funds and collective investment trusts were approximately $1.3 million and $2.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30,
2020 and 2019. As of June 30, 2020 the Company had recorded a receivable of approximately $0.2 million for expenses paid on behalf of an affiliated
mutual fund. These expenses are reimbursable to the Company under an agreement with the affiliated mutual fund, and are included within other long-term
assets on the consolidated statements of financial condition.
Note 14—Subsequent Events
Distribution
Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Board of Directors approved a $1.5 million distribution from Manning & Napier Group to Manning & Napier and
the noncontrolling interests of Manning & Napier Group, of which approximately $0.2 million was paid to the noncontrolling members of Manning &
Napier Group.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), which reflect the views of Manning & Napier, Inc. ("we," "our," or "us") with respect
to, among other things, our future operations and financial performance. Words like "believes," "expects," "may," "estimates," "will," "should," "could,"
"intends," "likely," "plans," or "anticipates" or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, are used to identify forwardlooking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these words. Although we believe that we are basing our expectations and beliefs
on reasonable assumptions within the bounds of what we currently know about our business and operations, there can be no assurance that our actual
results will not differ materially from what we expect or believe. Some of the factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our
expectations or beliefs are disclosed in the “Risk Factors” section, as well as other sections, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, which include, without
limitation: changes in securities or financial markets or general economic conditions; the impact of COVID-19 on the U.S. and global economy; the impact
of the settlement of the exchange pursuant to the exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) between the Company, M&N Group Holdings, LLC
(“M&N Group Holdings”) and Manning & Napier Capital Company, LLC (“MNCC”); a decline in the performance of our products; client sales and
redemption activity; any loss of an executive officer or key personnel; changes in our business related to strategic acquisitions and other transactions; our
ability to successfully deploy new technology platforms and upgrades; and changes of government policy or regulations. All forward-looking statements
speak only as of the date on which they are made and we undertake no duty to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
Overview
Our Business
Manning & Napier, Inc. is an independent investment management firm that provides our clients with a broad range of financial solutions and
investment strategies. Founded in 1970 and headquartered in Fairport, New York, we serve a diversified client base of high-net-worth individuals and
institutions, including 401(k) plans, pension plans, Taft-Hartley plans, endowments and foundations. Our investment strategies offer equity, fixed income
and a range of blended asset portfolios by employing traditional and quantitative approaches.
Impact of COVID-19
In March 2020, the World Health Organization categorized COVID-19 as a pandemic, and it continues to spread throughout the United States and
other countries. To limit the spread of COVID-19, governments have taken various actions including the issuance of stay-at-home orders and social
distancing guidelines, causing some businesses to suspend operations, disrupting the global supply chain, creating a reduction in demand for many
products, and thus having a significant impact on the global economy. We are addressing the challenges of COVID-19 by protecting the health and wellbeing of our employees while servicing our clients and leveraging technology to fully support our business needs in a primarily digital manner.
The impact of COVID-19 on our investment performance, financial statements, capital and liquidity and our business operations are further discussed
below:

•

•

Client Performance Impact: As a result of our ability to rapidly adapt to a remote work environment, we believe we were able to minimize the
impact of COVID-19 on client performance. Additionally, due to the significant increase in volatility throughout the first half of the year,
discussed in more detail in the next section, we were able to capitalize on the market environment by delivering strong results for clients year-todate.

•

Financial Statement Impact: Our revenues consist primarily of investment management fees typically calculated as a percentage of the market
value of our assets under management ("AUM"), and they are dependent on the value and composition of our AUM. As of June 30, 2020, AUM
was $18.6 billion, an increase from $17.1 billion as of March 31, 2020. This 9% increase came on the heels of a market rebound during the second
quarter, with approximately $2.2 billion of market appreciation offset by approximately $0.7 billion of net client outflows. While we anticipate the
effects of the pandemic may negatively affect our results of operations, cash flows, and financial position, at this time we cannot reasonably
estimate the full impact, given the uncertainty over the duration and severity of the economic crisis.
Capital and Liquidity Impact: Our financial condition is stable, allowing us to effectively manage the financial impacts of COVID-19. We believe
our capital structure should provide us with sufficient resources and flexibility to meet present and future cash needs. During the first quarter of
2020, we suspended the quarterly cash dividend on our Class A common stock. Given the uncertainty surrounding the current economic
environment, we will continue to assess our liquidity needs.
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•

Business Operations Impact: For the health and well-being of our employees, we have modified our business practices in accordance with social
distancing guidelines to encourage work-from-home arrangements and we have restricted business-related travel. Our technology capabilities have
allowed us to maintain sales and client servicing activity through digital collaboration platforms and digital marketing efforts. We believe our
second quarter 2020 results, with gross client inflows comparable to prior periods and gross client outflows reduced from historical levels, provide
an indication that our sales strategy is gaining traction despite the COVID-19 disruption. Additionally, our technology has enabled us to support
the majority of our employees’ remote working arrangements. Our ability to adequately maintain our operations, internal controls and client
relationships has not been adversely affected by these modifications.

The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on our business, financial condition and results of operations also depends on future developments, including
the duration of the pandemic and the volatility of the global financial markets, all of which are highly uncertain. We continue to assess the risks associated
with COVID-19 and to mitigate them where possible. For further discussion regarding the potential future impacts of COVID-19 and related economic
conditions on the Company's financial statements, capital and liquidity, and business operations, see "Part II-Item 1A-Risk Factors."
Market Developments
The second quarter was characterized by a massive rebound in capital markets all across the globe. However, this improvement came as the pandemic
continued to worsen in the western and southern portions of the United States. The continued uncertainty related to the spread of the virus and its longterm impacts on the economy is likely not fully known at this point and is something that investors must consider.
From bottoming out at near-term lows in mid- to late-March, equities rallied sharply, and in some cases, in a historic manner. Amid the broad-based
strength, domestic equities again outperformed international peers. Within the US, small-cap stocks outperformed large-caps over the quarter, closing the
performance gap year-to-date as investors became increasingly optimistic that a widespread reopening of business activity would aid the hard-hit group.
Additionally, growth continued its multi-year run of outsized relative results versus value, and the style now holds a very substantial year-to-date
performance edge.
Regarding fixed income, central bank policy measures helped stabilize credit markets, contributing to little movement in yield curves over the quarter.
As a result, domestic and international sovereign debt performance regressed toward zero, a substantial decline from the exceptional performance last
quarter. Moving out on the risk spectrum, credit spreads materially compressed throughout the quarter, significantly aiding performance for both
investment grade and below investment grade securities. Falling spreads aided municipal bonds as well, leading to a bounce back in results for the sector.
We believe the stark juxtaposition in the behavior of financial markets, as well as in our investment performance over the past six months clearly
demonstrates the value and power of a truly active investment approach. Uncertainty drives volatility, and it is specifically during those rare moments of
great uncertainty when we believe a disciplined, selective investment process can make a meaningful difference.
Other Business Updates
During the first quarter of 2020, pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Agreement between the Company and the holders of its non-controlling
interests, approximately 60.0 million Class A Units of Manning & Napier Group, LLC ("Manning & Napier Group") were tendered for cash or shares of
the Company's Class A common stock. In early April 2020, the independent directors, on behalf of the Company, determined that the exchange would be
settled in approximately $90.8 million cash. The settlement of the exchange occurred on May 11, 2020, with payment made from our cash, cash equivalents
and proceeds from the sale of investment securities. The Class A Units were subsequently retired, and as a result, our ownership of Manning & Napier
Group increased from 19.5% to 88.2%.
Our Solutions
We derive substantially all of our revenues from investment management fees earned from providing advisory services to separately managed
accounts and to mutual funds and collective investment trusts—including those offered by Manning & Napier Advisors, LLC ("MNA"), the Manning &
Napier Fund, Inc. (the "Fund"), Exeter Trust Company, and Rainier Investment Management, LLC ("Rainier").
Our separate accounts are primarily distributed through our wealth management sales channel, where our financial consultants form relationships
with high-net-worth individuals, endowments, foundations, and retirement plans. To a lesser extent, we also obtain a portion of our separate account
distribution via third parties, either through our intermediary sales channel where national brokerage firm representatives or independent financial advisors
select our separate account strategies for their clients, or through our platform/sub-advisor relationships, where unaffiliated registered investment advisors
approve our strategies for their product platforms. Our separate account strategies are a primary driver of our blended asset portfolios for
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high-net-worth, middle market institutional clients and financial intermediaries. In contrast, larger institutions and unaffiliated registered investment advisor
platforms are a driver of our separate account equity portfolios.
Our mutual funds and collective investment trusts are distributed through financial intermediaries, including brokers, financial advisors, retirement
plan advisors and platform relationships. We also distribute our mutual fund and collective investment trusts through our institutional representatives,
particularly within the defined contribution, Taft-Hartley, and institutional marketplace. Our mutual fund and collective investment trust strategies are an
important driver of our blended asset class and single asset class portfolios.
Assets Under Management
During 2019, we changed our distribution strategy following a business review to better capitalize on our strengths. As part of this change, we have
adjusted our sales efforts to more distinctly separate the clients to which we deliver holistic solutions, including high-net-worth families, endowments and
foundations, and small and mid-sized business, from our Institutional and Intermediary clients, including third party advisors, platforms and consultants, as
well as larger institutions and Taft-Hartley clients. Our AUM was $18.6 billion as of June 30, 2020. The composition of our AUM by sales channel and
portfolio is illustrated in the table below:
June 30, 2020
Blended
Asset

Equity

Fixed Income

Total

(dollars in millions)

Total AUM
Wealth Management

$

7,280.4

$

13,075.3

Institutional and Intermediary
Total

$

5,794.9

798.1

$

255.9

$

1,003.3

3,763.6
$

4,561.7

$

747.4

8,334.4
10,305.9

$

18,640.3

Percentage of AUM
Wealth Management

40%

4%

1%

Institutional and Intermediary

31%

20%

4%

55%

71%

24%

5%

100%

Wealth Management

56%

17%

26%

45%

Institutional and Intermediary

44%

83%

74%

55%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Wealth Management

87%

10%

3%

100%

Institutional and Intermediary

56%

37%

7%

100%

Total

45%

Percentage of portfolio by channel

Total
Percentage of channel by portfolio

Our wealth management channel represented 45% of our total AUM as of June 30, 2020. Blended portfolios are the most significant portion of
wealth management assets, representing 87% of wealth management AUM. Equity and fixed income portfolios represent 10% and 3%, respectively, of
wealth management AUM.
Our institutional and intermediary channel represented 55% of our total AUM as of June 30, 2020. Blended portfolios are also the largest portion of
institutional and intermediary assets at 56% of AUM, followed by equity and fixed income portfolios at 37% and 7%, respectively.
As of June 30, 2020, blended portfolios account for 71% of our total AUM at $13.1 billion, a 8% increase from March 31, 2020 when blended assets
were $12.1 billion. Blended portfolio AUM is similar across both distribution channels, with 56% in wealth management and 44% in institutional and
intermediary. Equity portfolios account for 24% of our total AUM, at $4.6 billion, a 16% increase from March 31, 2020 when equity portfolios were at $3.9
billion. Of equity portfolio AUM, 83% is in the institutional and intermediary channel, and 17% is in the wealth management channel. Fixed income
portfolios account for 5% of total AUM at $1.0 billion, consistent with March 31, 2020. Consistent with equity portfolio AUM, the majority of fixed
income assets come through the institutional and intermediary channel at 74%, and 26% of fixed income AUM is in the wealth management channel.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2020, our wealth management sales channel contributed 32% of our total gross client inflows, while our
institutional and intermediary channel contributed 68%. Of the $1,221.6 million in gross client inflows, blended asset portfolios represented 65%, while
equity and fixed income portfolios represented 28% and 7%, respectively.
Results of Operations
Below is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Components of Results of Operations
Overview
An important factor influencing inflows and outflows of our AUM is the investment performance of our various investment approaches. Our stock
selection strategies, absolute pricing discipline and active asset allocation generally result in specific absolute and relative return characteristics in different
market environments. For example, during a fundamental-driven bull market when prices are rising alongside improving fundamentals, we are likely to
experience positive absolute returns and competitive relative returns. However, in a more momentum-driven bull market, when prices become disconnected
from underlying fundamentals, or narrow market environment where a small handful of stocks outperform the average stock, we are likely to experience
positive absolute returns but lagging relative returns. Similarly, during a valuation-driven bear market, when markets experience a period of price
correction following a momentum-driven bull market, we are likely to experience negative absolute returns but strong relative returns. However, in a
momentum-driven bear market, which is typically characterized by broad price declines in a highly correlated market, we are likely to experience negative
absolute returns and potentially lagging relative returns. Essentially, our approach is likely to do well when markets are driven by fundamentals, but lag
when markets are driven primarily by momentum.
Other components impacting our operating results include:
•

asset-based fee rates and changes in those rates;

•

the composition of our AUM among various portfolios, vehicles and client types;

•

changes in our variable costs, including incentive compensation and distribution, servicing and custody expenses, which are affected by our
investment performance, level of our AUM and revenue; and

•

fixed costs, including changes to base compensation, vendor-related costs and investment spending on new products.
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Assets Under Management and Investment Performance
The following table reflects the indicated components of our AUM for our sales channels for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Sales Channel (3)
Wealth Management

Institutional and
Intermediary

Total

Wealth
Management

Institutional and
Intermediary

Total

(in millions)

As of March 31, 2020

$

7,732.9

Gross client inflows (1)

193.3

Gross client outflows (1)

(360.7)

Market appreciation/(depreciation) & other (2)
As of June 30, 2020
Average AUM for period
As of March 31, 2019
Gross client inflows

$ 17,060.5

359.5

552.8
2,238.6

8,334.4

$

10,305.9

$ 18,640.3

$

8,164.0

$

9,930.2

$ 18,094.2

$

9,362.6

$

11,775.2

$ 21,137.8

Market appreciation/(depreciation) & other (2)

203.9

346.5

(421.3)

(701.5)

252.7

432.7

685.4

100%

45%

55%

100%

44%

56%

100%

44%

56%

100%

550.4

9,397.9

$

11,852.9

$ 21,250.8

$

9,327.6

$

11,702.9

$ 21,030.5

Institutional and
Intermediary

55%

(1,122.8)

$

Wealth Management

45%

(1,211.6)

1,469.7

$

Gross client outflows (1)

Average AUM for period

9,327.6
(850.9)

768.9

(1)

As of June 30, 2019

$

Total

Wealth
Management

Institutional and
Intermediary

Total

(in millions)

As of December 31, 2019

$

Gross client inflows (1)

(736.0)
(2)

As of June 30, 2020
Average AUM for period
As of December 31, 2018

$ 19,480.1

826.2

1,221.6

(1,604.8)

(41.4)

320.8

279.4

$

10,305.9

$ 18,640.3

$

8,486.1

$

10,130.7

$ 18,616.8

$

8,700.9

$

11,462.7

$ 20,163.6

881.0

1,271.1

390.1
(886.0)

Market appreciation/(depreciation) & other (2)

1,192.9

45%

55%

100%

45%

55%

100%

43%

57%

100%

44%

56%

100%

(2,340.8)

8,334.4

Gross client outflows (1)

Average AUM for period

10,763.7

$

Gross client inflows (1)

As of June 30, 2019

$

395.4

Gross client outflows (1)
Market appreciation/(depreciation) & other

8,716.4

(1,809.7)

(2,695.7)

1,318.9

2,511.8

$

9,397.9

$

11,852.9

$ 21,250.8

$

9,192.8

$

11,628.5

$ 20,821.3

________________________
(1) Transfers of client assets between portfolios are included in gross client inflows and gross client outflows.
(2) Market appreciation/(depreciation) and other includes investment gains/(losses) on assets under management, the impact of changes in foreign
exchange rates and net flows from non-sales related activities including net reinvested dividends.
(3) AUM and gross client flows between sales channels have been estimated based upon preliminary data. For a limited portion of our mutual fund
AUM, reporting by sales channel is not available at the time of this report. Such estimates have no impact on total AUM, total cash flows, or AUM
by investment portfolio reported in the table above.
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The following table reflects the indicated components of our AUM for our portfolios for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Blended
Asset

Fixed
Income

Equity

Total

Blended
Asset

Equity

Fixed
Income

Total

(in millions)

As of March 31, 2020

$

12,096.8

$

3,944.7

$

1,019.0

Gross client inflows (1)

426.5

99.4

26.9

Gross client outflows (1)

(851.8)

(292.5)

(67.3)

Market appreciation/(depreciation)
& other (2)
As of June 30, 2020
Average AUM for period
As of March 31, 2019

1,403.8

810.1

24.7
$

1,003.3

$

18,640.3

$

12,729.7

$

4,353.7

$

1,010.8

$

18,094.2

$

13,834.7

$

6,227.2

$

1,075.9

$

21,137.8

Gross client outflows (1)

(745.7)

(308.2)

(68.9)

Market appreciation/(depreciation)
& other (2)

428.3

228.8

71%

24%

5%

100%

66%

29%

5%

100%

65%

30%

5%

100%

(1,122.8)

28.3

685.4

13,844.3

$

6,309.5

$

1,097.0

$

21,250.8

$

13,718.9

$

6,200.7

$

1,110.9

$

21,030.5

Fixed
Income

Equity

100%

550.4

$

Blended
Asset

6%

2,238.6

4,561.7

61.7

23%

(1,211.6)

$

161.7

71%

552.8

13,075.3

327.0

Average AUM for period

17,060.5

$

Gross client inflows (1)

As of June 30, 2019

$

Total

Blended
Asset

Equity

Fixed
Income

Total

(in millions)

As of December 31, 2019

$

Gross client inflows (1)

(1,668.2)

Market appreciation/(depreciation)
& other (2)
Average AUM for period
As of December 31, 2018

$

794.7

Gross client outflows (1)

As of June 30, 2020

13,473.3

475.5

4,988.8

$

1,018.0

$

19,480.1

336.6

90.3

1,221.6

(524.2)

(148.4)

(2,340.8)

(239.5)

43.4

13,075.3

$

4,561.7

$

1,003.3

$

18,640.3

$

12,974.6

$

4,619.6

$

1,022.6

$

18,616.8

$

13,532.2

$

5,501.9

$

1,129.5

$

20,163.6

629.1

541.0

101.0

1,271.1

Gross client outflows (1)

(1,811.6)

(690.9)

(193.2)

(2,695.7)

Market appreciation/(depreciation)
& other (2)

1,494.6

957.5

59.7

2,511.8

As of June 30, 2019
Average AUM for period

26%

5%

100%

70%

25%

5%

100%

67%

27%

6%

100%

65%

30%

5%

100%

279.4

$

Gross client inflows (1)

69%

$

13,844.3

$

6,309.5

$

1,097.0

$

21,250.8

$

13,661.0

$

6,048.8

$

1,111.5

$

20,821.3

________________________
(1) Transfers of client assets between portfolios are included in gross client inflows and gross client outflows.
(2) Market appreciation/(depreciation) and other includes investment gains/(losses) on assets under management, the impact of changes in foreign
exchange rates and net flows from non-sales related activities including net reinvested dividends.
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The following table summarizes the annualized returns for several of our key investment strategies and relative benchmarks. Since inception and over
long-term periods, we believe these strategies have earned attractive returns on both an absolute and relative basis. We recognize, however that some key
strategies have mixed track records over the past several years. These strategies are used across separate account, mutual fund and collective investment
trust vehicles, and represent approximately 75% of our AUM as of June 30, 2020.
AUM as of
June 30, 2020
(in millions)

Key Strategies

Long-Term Growth (30%-80% Equity Exposure)

$

Annualized Returns as of June 30, 2020 (2)

5,389.1

Inception Date

One Year

Three Year

Five Year

Ten Year

Inception

1/1/1973

11.5%

8.3%

6.7%

8.4%

9.5%

6.4%

7.0%

6.6%

8.2%

8.7%

5.0%

3.7%

3.6%

5.2%

7.1%

(4.8)%

1.1%

2.3%

5.0%

4.6%

10.7%

7.2%

5.6%

6.9%

8.7%

6.7%

6.4%

5.8%

6.9%

8.3%

11.5%

10.8%

8.7%

10.5%

10.0%

4.9%

7.8%

7.8%

10.6%

8.4%

12.1%

9.2%

7.4%

9.3%

7.2%

5.7%

7.4%

7.3%

9.5%

5.5%

10.4%

11.6%

9.6%

11.9%

11.1%

4.2%

8.3%

8.5%

12.0%

8.9%

13.2%

13.7%

11.5%

13.0%

8.3%

6.5%

10.0%

10.0%

13.7%

6.2%

8.4%

5.5%

4.2%

4.8%

6.0%

6.4%

5.2%

4.5%

4.9%

6.1%

9.6%

5.4%

4.2%

3.8%

7.2%

8.7%

5.3%

4.3%

3.8%

7.1%

8.2%

7.5%

6.9%

N/A (1)

11.3%

(4.3)%

(0.2)%

2.5%

N/A (1)

4.7%

(4.2)%

5.7%

8.1%

N/A (1)

11.9%

(8.8)%

1.8%

4.6%

N/A (1)

11.0%

Blended Index (3)
Core Non-U.S. Equity

$

570.1

10/1/1996

$

2,552.6

1/1/1973

Benchmark: ACWIxUS Index
Growth with Reduced Volatility (20%-60% Equity Exposure)
Blended Index (4)
Equity-Oriented (70%-100% Equity Exposure)

$

1,316.2

1/1/1993

Blended Benchmark: 65% Russell 3000 / 20% ACWIxUS/ 15%
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond
Equity-Focused Blend (50%-90% Equity Exposure)

$

977.5

4/1/2000

Blended Benchmark: 53% Russell 3000 / 17% ACWIxUS/ 30%
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond
Core Equity-Unrestricted (90%-100% Equity Exposure)

$

534.5

1/1/1995

Blended Benchmark: 80% Russell 3000 / 20% ACWIxUS
Core U.S. Equity

$

175.6

7/1/2000

Benchmark: Russell 3000
Conservative Growth (5%-35% Equity Exposure)

$

483.2

4/1/1992

Blended Benchmark: 15% Russell 3000 / 5% ACWIxUS / 80%
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Intermediate Aggregate Bond
Aggregate Fixed Income

$

183.0

1/1/1984

Benchmark: Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond
Rainier International Small Cap

$

810.4

3/28/2012

Benchmark: MSCI ACWIxUS Small Cap Index
Disciplined Value US (5)

$

1,069.9

Benchmark: Russell 1000 Value

1/1/2013

__________________________
(1) Performance not available given the product's inception date.
(2) Key investment strategy returns are presented net of fees. Benchmark returns do not reflect any fees or expenses.
(3) Benchmark shown uses the 55/45 Blended Index from 01/01/1973-12/31/1987 and the 40/15/45 Blended Index from 01/01/1988- 3/31/2020. The
55/45 Blended Index is represented by 55% S&P 500 Total Return Index ("S&P 500") and 45% Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Government/Credit Bond
Index ("BGCB"). The 40/15/45 Blended Index is 40% Russell 3000 Index ("Russell 3000"), 15% MSCI ACWI ex USA Index ("ACWxUS"), and
45% Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index ("BAB").
(4) Benchmark shown uses the 40/60 Blended Index from 01/01/1973-12/31/1987, the 30/10/60 Blended Index from 01/01/1988-12/31/2019, and the
30/10/30/30 Blended Index from 01/01/2020 to 03/31/2020. The 40/60 Blended Index is represented by 40% S&P 500 and 60% BGCB. The
30/10/60 Blended Index is represented by 30% Russell 3000, 10% ACWxUS, and 60% BAB. The 30/10/30/30 Blended Index is represented by
30% Russell 3000, 10% ACWxUS, 30% BAB, and 30% Barclays Intermediate Aggregate Bond Index.
(5) In our Annual Report, on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, we began presenting the performance of Disciplined Value US in place
of Disciplined Value Unrestricted.
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Revenue
Our revenues primarily consist of investment management fees earned from managing our clients’ AUM. We earn our investment management fees
as a percentage of our clients’ AUM either as of a specified date or on a daily basis. Our investment management fees can fluctuate based on the average
fee rate for our investment management products, which are affected by the composition of our AUM among various portfolios and investment vehicles.
We serve as the investment adviser for Manning & Napier Fund, Inc., Exeter Trust Company Collective Investment Trusts and Rainier Multiple
Investment Trust. The mutual funds are open-end mutual funds that primarily offer no-load share classes designed to meet the needs of a range of
institutional and other investors. Exeter Trust Company, an affiliated New Hampshire-chartered trust company and Rainier Multiple Investment Trust
sponsor collective investment trusts for qualified retirement plans, including 401(k) plans. These mutual funds and collective investment trusts comprised
$5.5 billion, or 30%, of our AUM as of June 30, 2020. MNA and Rainier also serve as the investment advisor to all of our separately managed accounts,
managing $13.1 billion, or 70%, of our AUM as of June 30, 2020, including assets managed as a sub-advisor to pooled investment vehicles. For the period
ended June 30, 2020 approximately 99% of our revenue was earned from clients located in the United States.
We earn distribution and servicing fees for providing services to our affiliated mutual funds. Revenue is computed and earned daily based on a
percentage of AUM.
We earn custodial service fees for administrative and safeguarding services performed by Exeter Trust Company. Fees are calculated as a percentage
of the client's market value with additional fees for certain transactions.
During the first quarter of 2019, we completed the effort to restructure fees for many of our mutual fund and collective trust vehicles. The impacts on
our overall revenue margins and operating expenses are described below in the discussion of results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020.
Operating Expenses
Our largest operating expenses are employee compensation and related costs, and to a lesser degree, distribution, servicing and custody expenses,
discussed further below, with a significant portion of these expenses varying in a direct relationship to our absolute and relative investment management
performance, as well as AUM and revenues. We review our operating expenses in relation to the investment market environment and changes in our
revenues. However, we are generally willing to make expenditures as necessary, even when faced with declining rates of growth in revenues, in order to
support our investment products, our client service levels, strategic initiatives and our long-term value.
•

Compensation and related costs. Employee compensation and related costs represent our largest expense, including employee salaries and
benefits, incentive compensation to investment and sales professionals, compensation issued under our long-term incentive plan as well as equity
compensation. These costs are affected by changes in the employee headcount, the mix of existing job descriptions, competitive factors, the
addition of new skill sets and variations in the level of our AUM and revenues. In addition, these costs are impacted by the amount of
compensation granted under our equity plan and the amount of deferred cash awards granted under our long-term incentive plan. Incentive
compensation for our research team considers the cumulative impact of both absolute and relative investment performance over historical time
periods, with more weight placed on the recent periods. As such, incentive compensation paid to our research team will vary, in part, based on
absolute and relative investment performance.

•

Distribution, servicing and custody expenses. Distribution, servicing and custody expenses represent amounts paid to various intermediaries for
distribution, shareholder servicing, administrative servicing and custodial services. These expenses generally increase or decrease in line with
changes in our mutual fund and collective investment trust AUM or services performed by these intermediaries. During the first quarter of 2019,
we completed the effort, begun in 2017, of restructuring fees across our mutual funds. The financial impacts were a reduction in the management
fees on existing business, as well as an offsetting reduction in related distribution, servicing and custody expenses. Given the overall pressure on
fees that all active managers are facing, we felt bringing our fund fees to a more competitive level would enhance our ability to attract additional
assets in the future.

•

Other operating costs. Other operating costs include technology costs, accounting, legal and other professional service fees, occupancy and facility
costs, travel and entertainment expenses, insurance, market data service expenses and all other miscellaneous costs associated with managing the
day-to-day operations of our business.

Non-Operating Income (Loss)
Non-operating income (loss) includes interest expense, interest and dividend income, changes in liability under the tax receivable agreement ("TRA")
entered into between Manning & Napier and the other holders of Class A units of Manning &
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Napier Group, LLC ("Manning & Napier Group"), gains (losses) related to investment securities sales as well as changes in values of those investment
securities designated as equity securities, at fair value.
We expect the interest and investment components of non-operating income (loss) to fluctuate based on market conditions, the performance of our
investments and the overall amount of our investments held by the Company to provide initial cash seeding for product development purposes and shortterm investment for cash management opportunities.
Provision for Income Taxes
The Company is comprised of entities that have elected to be treated as either a limited liability company ("LLC") or a "C-Corporation". As such, the
entities functioning as LLCs are not liable for or able to benefit from U.S. federal or most state and local income taxes on their earnings, and their earnings
(losses) will be included in the personal income tax returns of each entity's unit holders. The entities functioning as C-Corporations are liable for or able to
benefit from U.S. federal and state and local income taxes on their earnings and losses, respectively.
Noncontrolling Interests
Manning & Napier, Inc. holds an economic interest of approximately 88.2% in Manning & Napier Group as of June 30, 2020 and, as managing
member, controls all of the business and affairs of Manning & Napier Group. As a result, the Company consolidates the financial results of Manning &
Napier Group and records a noncontrolling interest in our consolidated financial statements. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests on the
consolidated statements of operations represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in Manning & Napier Group held by the
noncontrolling interests.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.
This management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes and the other financial information that appear elsewhere in this
report.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Recent Accounting Pronouncements" to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information.
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Assets Under Management
The following table reflects changes in our AUM for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Period-to-Period

2019

$

%

(in millions)

Wealth Management (3)
Beginning assets under management

$

Gross client inflows (1)

7,732.9

$

9,362.6

$

(1,629.7)

(17)%

(10.6)

(5)%

193.3

203.9

(1)

(360.7)

(421.3)

60.6

(14)%

Market appreciation (depreciation) & other (2)

768.9

252.7

516.2

204 %

Gross client outflows

Ending assets under management

$

8,334.4

$

9,397.9

Average AUM for period

$

8,164.0

$

9,327.6

$

9,327.6

$

11,775.2

$

(1,063.5)

(11)%

$

(2,447.6)

(21)%

Institutional and Intermediary (3)
Beginning assets under management
Gross client inflows

(1)

Gross client outflows (1)
Market appreciation (depreciation) & other (2)

359.5

346.5

13.0

4%

(850.9)

(701.5)

(149.4)

21 %

1,469.7

432.7

Ending assets under management

$

10,305.9

$

11,852.9

Average AUM for period

$

9,930.2

$

11,702.9

$

17,060.5

$

21,137.8

1,037.0

240 %

$

(1,547.0)

(13)%

$

(4,077.3)

(19)%

Total assets under management
Beginning assets under management
Gross client inflows (1)

552.8

Gross client outflows (1)
Market appreciation (depreciation) & other

550.4

(1,211.6)
(2)

(1,122.8)

2,238.6

685.4

Ending assets under management

$

18,640.3

$

21,250.8

Average AUM for period

$

18,094.2

$

21,030.5

$

2.4

—%

(88.8)

8%

1,553.2

227 %

(2,610.5)

(12)%

________________________
(1) Transfers of client assets between portfolios are included in gross client inflows and gross client outflows.
(2) Market appreciation/(depreciation) and other includes investment gains/(losses) on assets under management, the impact of changes in foreign
exchange rates and net flows from non-sales related activities including net reinvested dividends.
(3) AUM and gross client flows between sales channels have been estimated based upon preliminary data. For a limited portion of our mutual fund
AUM, reporting by sales channel is not available at the time of this report. Such estimates have no impact on total AUM, total cash flows, or AUM
by investment portfolio reported in the table above.
Our total AUM decreased by $2.6 billion from $21.3 billion at June 30, 2019 to $18.6 billion at June 30, 2020. The decrease was attributable to net
client outflows of $4.2 billion, partially offset by market appreciation of $1.6 billion. Net client outflows consisted of approximately $1.2 billion of net
outflows for wealth management and $3.0 billion for institutional and intermediary. By portfolio, the rates of change in AUM from June 30, 2019 to
June 30, 2020 consisted of a $1.7 billion, or 28% decrease in our equity portfolio, a $0.8 billion, or 6% decrease in our blended asset portfolio, and a
decrease of approximately $0.1 billion, or 9% in our fixed income portfolio.
We have experienced a slight increase in the overall rate of outflows with gross outflows of approximately $1.2 billion during the quarter ended
June 30, 2020, a 8% increase from the quarter ended June 30, 2019. Gross outflows annualized as a percentage of our AUM, or turnover rate, for the three
months ended June 30, 2020 was 28%.
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The rate of gross client inflows was approximately $0.6 billion during the three months ended June 30, 2020, consistent with the quarter ended
June 30, 2019. We believe that COVID related travel restrictions, coupled with the changes in our organization and macro trends towards passive investing
have all played a role in this trend. We believe that by demonstrating stability in client AUM and in our organization, and modernizing our platform, we
will provide a foundation from which we can grow.
The total AUM increase of approximately $1.6 billion, to $18.6 billion at June 30, 2020 from $17.1 billion at March 31, 2020 was attributable to
market appreciation of $2.2 billion, partially offset by net client outflows of $0.7 billion. Net client outflows consisted of approximately $0.2 billion for
wealth management while net client outflows in institutional and intermediary were $0.5 billion. The blended investment gain was 9.9% in wealth
management accounts and 15.8% in institutional and intermediary. By portfolio in the period, our AUM increased by $1.0 billion in our blended asset
portfolio, $0.6 billion in our equity portfolio, and decreased by $15.7 million in our fixed income portfolio.
As of June 30, 2020, the composition of our AUM was 45% in wealth management and 55% in institutional and intermediary, compared to 44% in
wealth management and 56% in institutional and intermediary at June 30, 2019. The composition of our AUM across portfolios at June 30, 2020 was 71%
in blended assets, 24% in equity, and 5% in fixed income, compared to 65% in blended assets, 30% in equity, 5% in fixed income at June 30, 2019.
For our wealth management channel, gross client inflows of approximately $0.2 billion were offset by $0.4 billion of gross client outflows during the
three months ended June 30, 2020. The $0.2 billion gross client inflows include approximately $0.2 billion into our blended asset portfolio and less than
$0.1 billion into both our equity and fixed income portfolios. Outflows during the quarter were $0.2 billion, or 58% from blended portfolios, $0.1 billion, or
29% from equity, and less than $0.1 billion, or 13% from fixed income portfolios, respectively.
Gross client inflows of $0.4 billion were offset by gross client outflows of $0.9 billion within our institutional and intermediary channel during the
three months ended June 30, 2020. Gross client inflows include approximately $0.3 billion into our blended asset portfolios and less than $0.1 billion into
both our equity and fixed income portfolios. With regard to gross client outflows, $0.6 billion, or 75% was from our blended asset portfolios, $0.2 billion or
22% was from our equity portfolios, and less than $0.1 billion, or 3% was from our fixed income portfolios.
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The following table sets forth our results of operations and related data for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Period-to-Period

2019

$

%

(in thousands, except share data)

Revenues
Management Fees
Wealth management

$

Institutional and intermediary

13,740

$

16,209

$

(2,469)

(15)%

12,142

12,932

(790)

(6)%

Distribution and shareholder servicing

2,303

2,566

(263)

(10)%

Custodial services

1,463

1,750

(287)

(16)%

698

837

(139)

(17)%

30,346

34,294

(3,948)

(12)%

17,379

20,161

(2,782)

(14)%

Distribution, servicing and custody expenses

2,425

3,019

(594)

(20)%

Other operating costs

7,489

8,639

(1,150)

(13)%

27,293

31,819

(4,526)

(14)%

3,053

2,475

578

23 %

Non-operating income (loss), net

2,690

1,075

1,615

150 %

Income before provision for income taxes

5,743

3,550

2,193

62 %

Provision for income taxes

1,460

331

1,129

341 %

Net income attributable to controlling and noncontrolling interests

4,283

3,219

1,064

33 %

Other revenue
Total revenue
Expenses
Compensation and related costs

Total operating expenses
Operating income
Non-operating income (loss)

Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

2,737

Net income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

2,805

$

1,546

$

414

Basic

$

0.09

$

0.03

Diluted

$

0.06

$

0.03

(68)

(2)%

$

1,132

273 %

Per Share Data
Net income per share available to Class A common stock

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding
Basic

16,132,667

15,267,762

Diluted

46,296,214

15,613,939

Other financial and operating data
Economic income (loss) (1)
Economic net income

(1)

Economic net income per adjusted share (1)
Weighted average adjusted Class A common stock outstanding(1)

$

6,701

$

4,224

$

2,477

59 %

$

3,971

$

2,999

$

972

32 %

$

0.08

$

0.04

48,309,400

79,570,059

_______________________
(1) See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Information”
for Manning & Napier’s reasons for including these measures not calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America ("GAAP") in this report in addition to a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP measures for the
periods indicated.
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Revenues
Wealth management revenue decreased by $2.5 million, or 15%, to $13.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $16.2 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease is driven primarily by a 12%, or $1.2 billion, decrease in our average wealth management AUM for the
three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. At June 30, 2020 the concentration of investments in our wealth
management assets were 87% blended assets, 10% equity and 3% fixed income, compared to 79% blended assets, 18% equity and 3% fixed income as of
June 30, 2019.
Institutional and intermediary revenue decreased by $0.8 million, or 6%, to $12.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $12.9
million for the three months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease is driven primarily by a 15%, or $1.8 billion, decrease in our average institutional and
intermediary AUM for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. As of June 30, 2020, the concentration of
assets in our institutional and intermediary was 56% blended assets, 37% equity and 7% fixed income, compared to 54% blended assets, 39% equity and
7% fixed income as of June 30, 2019.
Distribution and shareholder servicing revenue decreased by $0.3 million, or 10%, to $2.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from
$2.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease was driven by a reduction in mutual fund and collective investment trust average
AUM of 17% for the same period.
Custodial services revenue decreased by $0.3 million, or 16%, to $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $1.8 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease primarily relates to decreases in our collective investment trust AUM.
Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses decreased by $4.5 million, or 14%, to $27.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $31.8 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2019.
Compensation and related costs decreased by $2.8 million, or 14%, to $17.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $20.2 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease in the current quarter compared to the second quarter of 2019 was driven by a decrease in our
workforce. When considered as a percentage of revenue, compensation and related costs for both the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 57%.
Given the declines in our revenue, we anticipate that our compensation ratio as a percentage of revenue will remain elevated in the near term compared to
prior periods.
Distribution, servicing and custody expenses decreased by $0.6 million, or 20%, to $2.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 from $3.0
million for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was generally driven by a 17% reduction in mutual fund and collective investment trust
average AUM for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. As a percentage of mutual fund and collective
investment trust average AUM, distribution, servicing and custody expense was 0.18% for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to 0.19% for
the three months ended June 30, 2019.
Other operating costs for the three months ended June 30, 2020 were $7.5 million, as compared to $8.6 million for the three months ended June 30,
2019. During the second quarter of 2020, we recognized an impairment charge of approximately $0.6 million in connection with a leased asset for which
the carrying value was deemed not fully recoverable. As a percentage of revenue, other operating costs were 25% for both the three months ended June 30,
2020 and 2019.
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Non-Operating Income (Loss)
Non-operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was $2.7 million, an increase of $1.6 million, from non-operating income of $1.1
million for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The following table reflects the components of non-operating income (loss) for the three months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Period-to-Period

2019

$

%

(in thousands)

Non-operating income (loss)
Interest expense
Interest and dividend income

$
(1)

Change in liability under tax receivable agreement (2)
Net gains (losses) on investments (3)
Total non-operating income (loss)

$

(3) $

(10) $

7

(70)%

363

837

(474)

914

—

914

1,416

248

1,168

471 %

1,615

150 %

2,690

$

1,075

$

(57)%
*

__________________________
(*) Variance not calculable
(1) The decrease in interest and dividend income for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019 is attributable to a decrease in
investments, including U.S. Treasury notes and bills, corporate bonds and other short-term investments to optimize cash management opportunities,
coupled with a decrease in interest rates.
(2) The change in the liability under the tax receivable agreement for the three months ended June 30, 2020 is driven by a decrease in the Company's
expected tax benefits under the tax receivable agreement with the other holders of units of Manning & Napier Group and the corresponding changes
in the payment of such benefits. The change during the three months ended June 30, 2020 is driven by a reduction in the Company's estimated 2020
net operating loss. This change will reduce the favorable rate of applying 2020 net operating losses to prior years with the enactment of the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act").
(3) The amount of net gain (loss) on investments held by us, to provide initial cash seeding for product development purposes and to hedge economic
exposure to market movements on our deferred compensation plan, will vary depending on the performance and overall amount of our investments.
Provision for Income Taxes
Our provision for income taxes was $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to a provision of $0.3 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2019. During the first quarter of 2020, we recognized a benefit from income taxes of $3.2 million, driven primarily from the
enactment of the CARES Act which includes, among other things, the ability to carry back net operating losses from 2018, 2019 and 2020. As a result, we
recognized an income tax benefit during the first quarter of 2020 related to the favorable rate applied to our net operating losses. During the second quarter
of 2020, we reduced the benefit by approximately $1.2 million due to the decrease in our estimated 2020 net operating loss.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Assets Under Management
The following table reflects changes in our AUM for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Six months ended June 30,
2020

Period-to-Period

2019

$

%

(in millions)

Wealth Management (3)
Beginning assets under management
Gross client inflows

$

(1)

Gross client outflows (1)
Market appreciation (depreciation) & other (2)

8,716.4

$

8,700.9

395.4

390.1

(736.0)

(886.0)

(41.4)

$

1,192.9

Ending assets under management

$

8,334.4

$

9,397.9

Average AUM for period

$

8,486.1

$

9,192.8

$

10,763.7

$

11,462.7

15.5

—%

5.3

1%

150.0

(17)%

(1,234.3)

(103)%

$

(1,063.5)

(11)%

$

(699.0)

(6)%

Institutional and Intermediary (3)
Beginning assets under management
Gross client inflows (1)

826.2

Gross client outflows (1)

881.0

(1,604.8)

Market appreciation (depreciation) & other (2)

(1,809.7)

320.8

1,318.9

Ending assets under management

$

10,305.9

$

11,852.9

Average AUM for period

$

10,130.7

$

11,628.5

$

19,480.1

$

20,163.6

(54.8)

(6)%

204.9

(11)%

(998.1)

(76)%

$

(1,547.0)

(13)%

$

(683.5)

(3)%

(49.5)

(4)%

354.9

(13)%

Total assets under management
Beginning assets under management
Gross client inflows (1)
Gross client outflows

(1)

Market appreciation (depreciation) & other (2)

1,221.6

1,271.1

(2,340.8)

(2,695.7)

279.4

Ending assets under management

$

18,640.3

2,511.8
$

21,250.8

$

(2,232.4)

(89)%

(2,610.5)

(12)%

Average AUM for period

$
18,616.8 $
20,821.3
________________________
(1) Transfers of client assets between portfolios are included in gross client inflows and gross client outflows.
(2) Market appreciation/(depreciation) and other includes investment gains/(losses) on assets under management, the impact of changes in foreign
exchange rates and net flows from non-sales related activities including net reinvested dividends.
(3) AUM and gross client flows between sales channels have been estimated based upon preliminary data. For a limited portion of our mutual fund
AUM, reporting by sales channel is not available at the time of this report. Such estimates have no impact on total AUM, total cash flows, or AUM
by investment portfolio reported in the table above.
Our total AUM decreased by $2.6 billion from $21.3 billion at June 30, 2019 to $18.6 billion at June 30, 2020. The decrease was attributable to net
client outflows of $4.2 billion, partially offset by market appreciation of $1.6 billion. Net client outflows consisted of approximately $1.2 billion of net
outflows for wealth management and $3.0 billion for institutional and intermediary. By portfolio, the rates of change in AUM from June 30, 2019 to
June 30, 2020 consisted of a $1.7 billion, or 28% decrease in our equity portfolio, a $0.8 billion, or 6% decrease in our blended asset portfolio, and a
decrease of $0.1 billion, or 9% in our fixed income portfolio.
While many of our key strategies achieved recent competitive relative returns, we attribute our net cash outflows during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 in part to challenging three and five year annualized returns in many of the strategies included in our blended asset and equity portfolios. We
have experienced a decrease in the overall rate of outflows with gross outflows of approximately $2.3 billion during the six months ended June 30, 2020, a
13% improvement from the same period through June 30, 2019.
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While we have experienced an improvement in the rate of outflows, the rate of gross client inflows has slowed to approximately $1.2 billion during
the six months ended June 30, 2020, a 4% decrease compared to the same period in 2019. We believe that changes in our organization and macro trends
towards passive investing have all played a role in this trend. We believe that by demonstrating stability in client AUM and in our organization, along with
continuing to improve long-term track records and modernizing our platform, we will provide a foundation from which we can grow.
The total AUM decrease of $0.8 billion, or 4%, to $18.6 billion at June 30, 2020 from $19.5 billion at December 31, 2019 was attributable to net
client cash outflows of $1.1 billion, partially offset by market appreciation of $0.3 billion. Included in net client flows during the six months ended June 30,
2020 were net client outflows in wealth management of approximately $0.3 billion and institutional and intermediary of approximately $0.8 billion. The
blended investment loss was 0.5% in wealth management and the blended investment gain was 3.0% in institutional and intermediary. By portfolio, our net
$0.8 billion AUM decrease was derived from decreases of $0.4 billion, or 9%, in our equity portfolio, $0.4 billion, or 3%, in our blended asset portfolio and
$14.7 million, or 1%, in our fixed income portfolio.
As of June 30, 2020, the composition of our AUM was 45% in wealth management and 55% in institutional and intermediary, compared to 44% in
wealth management and 56% in institutional and intermediary at June 30, 2019. The composition of our AUM across portfolios at June 30, 2020 was 71%
in blended assets, 24% in equity, and 5% in fixed income, consistent with composition at June 30, 2019.
With regard to our wealth management channel, gross client inflows of $0.4 billion were offset by approximately $0.7 billion of gross client outflows
during the six months ended June 30, 2020. The $0.4 billion of gross client inflows included $0.3 billion into our blended asset portfolios, and less than
$0.1 billion into both our equity portfolios and fixed income portfolios. Outflows during the six months ended June 30, 2020 were $0.7 billion, with 66%
from blended portfolios, 21% from equity, and 13% from fixed income portfolios, respectively. The annualized separate account retention rate was 94% for
the six months ended June 30, 2020, up from 85% for the rolling twelve months ended June 30, 2020. We believe the improvement is further support that
our overall servicing efforts, importantly including our value-added advisory services, are effective in supporting long-term relationships.
Net client outflows of $0.8 billion from our institutional and intermediary included gross client inflows of $0.8 billion offset by gross client outflows
of $1.6 billion during the six months ended June 30, 2020. Gross client inflows into our blended asset portfolios, represented $0.5 billion, or 57%, of
institutional and intermediary gross client inflows during the six months ended June 30, 2020. With regard to gross client outflows, $1.2 billion, or 74%, of
institutional and intermediary gross client outflows were from blended asset institutional and intermediary products.
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The following table sets forth our results of operations and other data for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Six months ended June 30,
2020

Period-to-Period

2019

$

%

(in thousands, except share data)

Revenues
Management Fees
Wealth management

$

Institutional and intermediary

28,040

$

32,678

$

(4,638)

(14)%

24,273

26,166

(1,893)

(7)%

Distribution and shareholder servicing

4,693

5,190

(497)

(10)%

Custodial services

3,062

3,495

(433)

(12)%

Other revenue

1,387

1,562

(175)

(11)%

61,455

69,091

(7,636)

(11)%

36,642

41,609

(4,967)

(12)%

Total revenue
Expenses
Compensation and related costs
Distribution, servicing and custody expenses
Other operating costs
Total operating expenses
Operating income

5,238

6,777

(1,539)

(23)%

14,586

16,946

(2,360)

(14)%

56,466

65,332

(8,866)

(14)%

4,989

3,759

1,230

33 %

(1,637)

2,950

(4,587)

3,352

6,709

(3,357)

(50)%

573

(2,339)

(408)%

6,136

(1,018)

(17)%

Non-operating income (loss)
Non-operating income (loss), net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

(1,766)

Net income attributable to controlling and noncontrolling interests

5,118

Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

2,714

Net income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

5,161

$

2,404

$

975

Basic

$

0.15

$

0.07

Diluted

$

0.06

$

0.06

(155)%

(2,447)

(47)%

$

1,429

147 %

Per Share Data
Net income per share available to Class A common stock

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding
Basic

15,972,809

15,098,454

Diluted

61,851,067

78,317,986

Other financial and operating data
Economic income (1)
Economic net income

(1)

Economic net income per adjusted share (1)
Weighted average adjusted Class A common stock outstanding (1)

$

5,029

$

8,043

$

(3,014)

(37)%

$

5,537

$

5,711

$

(174)

(3)%

$

0.09

$

0.07

64,534,522

79,817,987

________________________
(1) See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Information”
for Manning & Napier’s reasons for including these non-GAAP measures in this report in addition to a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial
measures to GAAP measures for the periods indicated.
Revenues
Wealth management revenue decreased by $4.6 million, or 14%, to $28.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $32.7 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease is driven primarily by an 8% decrease in our average wealth management AUM for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. As of
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June 30, 2020, the concentration of assets in our wealth management channel was 87% blended assets, 10% equity and 3% fixed income, compared to 79%
blended assets, 18% equity and 3% fixed income as of June 30, 2019.
Institutional and intermediary revenue decreased by $1.9 million, or 7%, to $24.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $26.2 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease is driven primarily by a 13%, or $1.5 billion, decrease in average institutional and intermediary
AUM for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. As of June 30, 2020 the concentration of assets in our
institutional and intermediary channel was 56% blended assets, 37% equity and 7% fixed income, compared to 54% blended assets, 39% equity and 7%
fixed income as of June 30, 2019.
Distribution and shareholder servicing revenue decreased by $0.5 million, or 10%, to $4.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $5.2
million for the six months ended June 30, 2019. This decrease is driven by a reduction in mutual fund and collective investment trust average AUM of 13%
for the same period.
Custodial services revenue decreased by $0.4 million, or 12%, to $3.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $3.5 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease primarily relates to decreases in our collective trust AUM.
Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses decreased by $8.9 million, or 14%, to $56.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $65.3 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2019.
Compensation and related costs decreased by $5.0 million, or 12%, to $36.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $41.6 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was driven by a decrease in our workforce as well as lower variable incentive costs for our sales team as
a result of the reduction in AUM and revenue, coupled with a reduction in employee severance costs and equity based compensation. When considered as a
percentage of revenue, compensation and related costs was 60% for both the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. Given the declines in our revenue,
we anticipate that our compensation ratio as a percentage of revenue will remain elevated in the near term compared to prior periods.
Distribution, servicing and custody expenses decreased by $1.5 million, or 23%, to $5.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $6.8
million for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease was generally attributable to a 13% decrease in mutual fund and collective investment trust
average AUM for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019, coupled with the completion of MNA's mutual
fund fee restructure initiative during the first quarter of 2019, where a portion of these expenses are now borne by the mutual funds directly. As a
percentage of mutual fund and collective investment trust average AUM, distribution, servicing and custody expense was 0.38% for the six months ended
June 30, 2020, compared to 0.43% for the six months ended June 30, 2019.
Other operating costs decreased by $2.4 million, or 14%, to $14.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 from $16.9 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2019. During the second quarter of 2020, we recognized an impairment charge of approximately $0.6 million in connection with a
leased asset for which the carrying value was deemed not fully recoverable. As a percentage of revenue, other operating costs for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 was 24% compared to 25% for six months ended June 30, 2019.
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Non-Operating Income (Loss)
Non-operating loss for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $1.6 million, a decrease of $4.6 million, from non-operating income of $3.0 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The following table reflects the components of non-operating income (loss) for the six months ended June 30,
2020 and 2019:
Six months ended June 30,
2020

Period-to-Period

2019

$

%

(in thousands)

Non-operating income (loss)
Interest expense
Interest and dividend income

$
(1)

720

Change in liability under tax receivable agreement (2)
Net gains (losses) on investments (3)
Total non-operating income

(5) $

$

(13) $

8

(62)%

1,646

(926)

(56)%

(1,936)

195

(2,131)

(1,093)%

(416)

1,122

(1,538)

(137)%

(4,587)

(155)%

(1,637) $

2,950

$

__________________________
(*) Variance not calculable.
(1) The decrease in interest and dividend income for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019 is attributable to a decrease in investments,
including U.S. Treasury notes and bills, corporate bonds and other short-term investments to optimize cash management opportunities, coupled with
a decrease in interest rates.
(2) The change in the liability under the tax receivable agreement for the six months ended June 30, 2020 is driven by an increase in the Company's
expected tax benefits under the tax receivable agreement with the other holders of units of Manning & Napier Group and the corresponding changes
in the payment of such benefits. The change during the six months ended June 30, 2020 is driven by the tax benefits realized with the enactment of
the CARES Act.
(3) The amount of net gain (loss) on investments held by us, to provide initial cash seeding for product development purposes and to hedge economic
exposure to market movements on our deferred compensation plan, will vary depending on the performance and overall amount of our investments.
Provision for Income Taxes
Our benefit from income taxes was $1.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to a provision for income taxes of $0.6 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2019. The benefit recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was attributable to the enactment of the CARES
Act during the first quarter of 2020 which includes, among other things, the ability to carry back net operating losses from 2018, 2019 and 2020 to prior
years. As a result, we recognized an income tax benefit related to the favorable rate applied to our net operating losses.
Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Information
Beginning with the release of our operating results for the third quarter of 2019, as supplemental information we began providing a new non-GAAP
measure, economic income. Management uses economic income, economic net income and economic net income per adjusted share as financial measures
to evaluate the profitability and efficiency of our business as a whole in the ordinary, ongoing and customary course of its operations. Economic income,
economic net income and economic net income per adjusted share are not presented in accordance with GAAP.
Economic income, for periods beginning in and subsequent to January 1, 2019, presents a non-GAAP financial measure of the controlling and noncontrolling interests of Manning & Napier Group and excludes from income before provision for income taxes strategic restructuring and transaction costs,
net. We define strategic restructuring and transaction costs, net, as items related to our ongoing strategic review focused on the evolution of our distribution
strategy and technology initiatives. These costs include severance-related costs, certain consulting and other professional service fees, lease and other
contract termination costs, and gain or loss on sale of a business. Non-GAAP measures for the first and second quarters of 2019 have been restated to
conform to the current period presentation.
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Economic net income is a non-GAAP measure of after-tax operating performance and equals the Company’s income before provision for income
taxes less adjusted income taxes. Adjusted income taxes are estimated assuming the exchange of all outstanding units of Manning & Napier Group into
Class A common stock on a one-to-one basis. Therefore, all income of Manning & Napier Group allocated to the units of Manning & Napier Group is
treated as if it were allocated to us and represents an estimate of income tax expense (benefit) at an effective rate of 40.7% and 29.0% for the three months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and (10.1)% and 29.0% for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, reflecting assumed
federal, state and local income taxes.
Economic net income per adjusted share is a non-GAAP measure and is equal to economic net income divided by the weighted average adjusted
Class A common shares outstanding. The number of weighted average adjusted Class A common shares outstanding for all periods presented is determined
by assuming the weighted average exchangeable units of Manning & Napier Group, weighted average unvested stock units, weighted average unvested
restricted stock awards, and weighted average vested stock options are converted into our outstanding Class A common stock as of the respective reporting
date, on a one-to-one basis. Our management uses economic net income, among other financial data, to determine the earnings available to distribute as
dividends to holders of its Class A common stock and to the holders of the units of Manning & Napier Group.
Non-GAAP measures are not a substitute for financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP and therefore should not be used in isolation of,
but in conjunction with, GAAP measures. Additionally, our non-GAAP measures may differ from similar measures used by other companies, even if
similar terms are used to identify such measures.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our other financial and operating data:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands, except share data)

Economic income (loss) (Non-GAAP)

$

6,701

$

4,224

$

5,029

$

8,043

Economic net income (Non-GAAP)

$

3,971

$

2,999

$

5,537

$

5,711

Economic net income per adjusted share (Non-GAAP)

$

0.08

$

0.04

$

0.09

$

0.07

Weighted average adjusted Class A common stock outstanding (NonGAAP)

48,309,400
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64,534,522
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP measures:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,

2019

2020

2019

(in thousands, except share data)

Net income attributable to Manning & Napier, Inc.

$

1,546

$

414

Add back: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests

2,737

2,805

Add back: Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

1,460

331

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

5,743

Add back: Strategic restructuring and transaction costs, net (1)
Economic income (loss) (Non-GAAP)

$

Adjusted income taxes (Non-GAAP)
Economic net income (Non-GAAP)

$

3,550

2,404

$

975

2,714

5,161

(1,766)
$

3,352

573
$

6,709

958

674

1,677

1,334

6,701

4,224

5,029

8,043

2,730

1,225

3,971

Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding Basic

$

$

$

2,999

(508)
$

5,537

2,332
$

5,711

16,132,667

15,267,762

15,972,809

15,098,454

28,400,866

62,482,345

45,217,533

62,913,637

3,609,201

1,819,952

3,177,514

1,805,896

Assumed vesting, conversion or exchange of:
Weighted average Manning & Napier Group, LLC units outstanding
(noncontrolling interest)
Weighted average unvested restricted stock units and share awards
Weighted average vested stock options
Weighted average adjusted shares (Non-GAAP)
Economic net income per adjusted share (Non-GAAP)

166,666

—

166,666

—

48,309,400

79,570,059

64,534,522

79,817,987

$

0.08

$

0.04

$

0.09

$

0.07

__________________________
(1)

Strategic restructuring and transaction costs, net, are included in the following financial statement line items of our Consolidated Statements of
Operations:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Six months ended June 30,
2019

2020

2019

(in thousands)

Compensation and related costs

$

Other operating costs
Total strategic restructuring and transaction costs

154

$

804
$
43

958

566

$

108
$

674

840

$

837
$

1,677

1,110
224

$

1,334
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Historically, our cash and liquidity needs have been met primarily through cash generated by our operations and cash and cash equivalents on hand.
Our financial condition at June 30, 2020 was highly liquid, with a significant amount of our assets comprised of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and investment securities held by us for the purpose of optimizing short-term cash management and providing initial cash seeding for product
development purposes.
The following table sets forth certain key financial data relating to our liquidity and capital resources as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
June 30, 2020

December 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

$

40,577

$

67,088

Accounts receivable

$

11,373

$

10,182

Investment securities

$

24,169

$

90,467

Amounts payable under tax receivable agreement (1)

$

19,457

$

17,521

________________________
(1) In light of numerous factors affecting our obligation to make such payments, the timing and amounts of any such actual payments are based on our
best estimate as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, including our ability to realize the expected tax benefits. Actual payments may
significantly differ from estimated payments.
We have no material assets other than our ownership of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group and, accordingly, will depend on distributions
from Manning & Napier Group to pay taxes and operating expenses, as well as any dividends we may pay. As managing member of Manning & Napier
Group, we will determine the timing and amount of any distributions to be paid to its members. We intend to cause Manning & Napier Group to distribute
cash to its members, including us, in an amount sufficient to cover taxes and operating expenses, including dividends, if any, declared by us. If we do cause
Manning & Napier Group to make such distributions, M&N Group Holdings, MNCC and any other holders of units of Manning & Napier Group will be
entitled to receive equivalent distributions on a pari passu basis. On April 22, 2020 the Board of Directors determined to suspend our quarterly cash
dividend on our Class A common stock due to the market volatility and ongoing uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.
In determining the sufficiency of liquidity and capital resources to fund our business, we regularly monitor our liquidity position, including among
other things, cash, working capital, long-term liabilities, lease commitments and operating company distributions.
On March 27, 2020, the U.S. government enacted the CARES Act which includes, among other things, the ability to carryback net operating losses
from 2018, 2019 and 2020 to prior years. We expect to carryback net operating losses generated in 2018, 2019 and 2020 to prior years and claim refunds
when the federal corporate tax rate was 34% compared to the current statutory rates of 21%. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized an
income tax benefit of approximately $2.2 million, related to the favorable rate applied to our net operating losses. As a result, we increased the amounts
payable under the tax receivable agreement by $1.9 million, representing 85% of the applicable cash savings. As of June 30, 2020, we have recorded an
estimated tax refund of approximately $4.5 million within our prepaid expenses and other assets and a corresponding amounts payable under tax receivable
agreement of approximately $4.0 million within our accrued expenses and other liabilities. At this time, we do not anticipate the enactment of the CARES
Act to have any other material impacts to our short- and long-term liquidity.
A state is currently auditing the Company's 2016, 2017 and 2018 corporate tax returns. The audit is expected to be completed in 2020. As of June 30,
2020, the audit is in process and the state is collecting and evaluating the data for which the Company has not recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions
under ASC 740. The Company believes any potential increases to this liability, which could be up to approximately $1.3 million, would not result in a
material change to its financial position.
As of June 30, 2020, a total of 2,021,781 units of Manning & Napier Group were held by the noncontrolling interests, including M&N Group
Holdings and MNCC. Pursuant to the terms of the Exchange Agreement, such units may be tendered for exchange. On March 15, 2020, certain legacy
shareholders and William Manning, the former Chairman of our Board of Directors, provided notice to us that they would tender a total of 60,012,419
Class A units, including 59,957,419 units held by William Manning, for cash or shares of our Class A common stock pursuant to the terms of the Exchange
Agreement.
Subsequent to March 31, 2020, the independent directors, on behalf of the Company, decided to settle the exchange utilizing approximately
$90.8 million in cash, including approximately $90.7 million paid to Mr. Manning. Manning & Napier Group completed the redemption on May 11, 2020,
with payment made from its cash, cash equivalents and proceeds from the
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sale of investment securities. Subsequent to the exchange, the Class A units were retired and as a result, Manning & Napier's ownership of Manning &
Napier Group increased from 19.5% to 88.2%.
Following the settlement of the redemption of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group, we have significantly less cash and cash equivalents to
meet working capital requirements and liquidity needs. With approximately $64.7 million in cash and investment securities on hand as of June 30, 2020, we
expect that we have sufficient liquidity available to meet our needs for the foreseeable future. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 we did not
generate net cash from operations, which was driven by implementation costs related to our technology enhancements and the timing of accrued incentive
compensation payments during the first quarter. In the future, we will need to either generate cash from operations or seek additional financing to fund our
operations. We believe cash on hand and cash generated from operations will be sufficient over the next twelve months to meet our working capital
requirements.
Cash Flows
The following table sets forth our cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. Operating activities consist primarily of net income
subject to adjustments for changes in operating assets and liabilities, equity-based compensation expense, changes in the liability under the TRA, deferred
income tax expense, gain on sale of intangible assets and gains on sale of business and depreciation and amortization. Investing activities consist primarily
of the purchase and sale of investments for the purpose of providing initial cash seeding for product development and cash management purposes, gain on
sale of intangible assets, gain on sale business and purchases of property and equipment. Financing activities consist primarily of distributions to
noncontrolling interests, dividends paid on our Class A common stock, and purchases of Class A units held by noncontrolling interests of Manning &
Napier Group.
Six months ended June 30,
2020

2019
(in thousands)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$

Net cash provided by investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

$

(490)

$

2,052

65,450

1,957

(91,471)

(6,230)

(26,511)

$

(2,221)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Operating Activities
Operating activities used $0.5 million and provided $2.1 million of net cash for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. This
overall $2.5 million increase in net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to 2019 was attributed to an increase
in operating assets and operating liabilities of approximately $3.5 million driven by implementation costs during the six months ended June 30, 2020
related to our technology enhancements. This change was partially offset by an increase in net income after adjustment for non-cash items of approximately
$1.0 million driven by net losses on investment securities during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to net gains in the same period of 2019.
Investing Activities
Investing activities provided $65.5 million and $2.0 million of net cash for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. This change
was driven by an increase in cash from investing activities of $62.7 million due to our funding of and timing of activity within our investment securities,
primarily related to the sale of investment securities in order help fund the redemption of Class A units during the six months ended June 30, 2020. During
the six months ended June 30, 2020, we received approximately $64.4 million, net, from the purchase and sale of certain securities for cash management
purposes compared to $3.0 million in the same period of 2019. In addition, we received approximately $1.2 million and less than $0.1 million, net from
seeding and redemption activity of certain seeded portfolios in the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our purchases of property and
equipment was approximately $0.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to $1.1 million in the same period of 2019.
Financing Activities
Financing activities used $91.5 million and $6.2 million of net cash for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. This overall $85.2
million increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily the result of an increase in cash used for the purchase of Class A units of Manning &
Napier Group pursuant to the exchange agreement entered into at the time of our IPO of $90.8 million in 2020 compared to $3.1 million in 2019. This
increase of $87.7 million in 2020
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compared to the prior year was due to a high number of units exchanged in 2020. The overall increase in cash used for financing activities was partially
offset by a reduction in distributions to noncontrolling interests of $2.4 million. This decrease was due to lower net income during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019, coupled with the impact of the redemption of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group during 2020
that resulted in the increase in our ownership of Manning & Napier Group from 19.5% to 88.2%.
Dividends
On October 22, 2019, the Board of Directors declared a $0.02 per share dividend to the holders of Class A common stock. The dividend was paid on
February 3, 2020 to shareholders of record as of January 15, 2020.
On March 3, 2020, the Board of Directors declared a $0.02 per share dividend to the holders of Class A common stock. The dividend was paid on
May 1, 2020 to shareholders of record as of April 1, 2020.
We have funded our historical quarterly cash dividends on our Class A common stock, and we believe any future dividends would be funded from
our portion of distributions made by Manning & Napier Group, from its available cash generated from operations. On April 22, 2020, the Board of
Directors determined to suspend our quarterly cash dividend on our Class A common stock due to the market volatility and ongoing uncertainty resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic. Company management and the Board of Directors will continue to monitor our ability to declare and pay future dividends
on a quarter-by-quarter basis.
The declaration and payment of all future dividends, if any, will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors. In determining the amount of any
future dividends, our Board of Directors will take into account:
•

the financial results of Manning & Napier Group;

•

our available cash, as well as anticipated cash requirements, including any debt servicing and payments required under the tax receivable
agreement or the Exchange Agreement;

•

our capital requirements and the capital requirements of our subsidiaries, including Manning & Napier Group;

•

contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions on, and implications of, the payment of dividends by us to our shareholders or distributions by
Manning & Napier Group to us, including the obligation of Manning & Napier Group to make tax distributions to its unitholders, including us;

•

general economic and business conditions, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and state and regional stay-at-home orders; and

•

any other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

We have no material assets other than our ownership of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group and, accordingly, will depend on distributions
from Manning & Napier Group to fund any dividends we may pay. As managing member of Manning & Napier Group, we will determine the timing and
amount of any distributions to be paid to its members, other than mandatory tax distributions required under Manning & Napier Group's operating
agreement. We intend to cause Manning & Napier Group to distribute cash to its members, including us, in an amount sufficient to cover dividends, if any,
declared by us. If we do cause Manning & Napier Group to make such distributions, M&N Group Holdings, MNCC and any other holders of units of
Manning & Napier Group will be entitled to receive equivalent distributions on a pari passu basis.
On March 2, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors had declared a $2.0 million distribution from Manning & Napier Group to its unitholders.
Subsequent to March 3, 2020, there was significant disruption to global commercial activity as a result of the spread of COVID-19, which contributed to
significant volatility and a decline in the value of many securities in the financial markets. As a result, the Company’s Board of Directors determined on
March 24, 2020 to withdraw its approval of that distribution from Manning & Napier Group. In July 2020, the Board of Directors approved a $1.5 million
distribution from Manning & Napier Group to Manning & Napier Inc. and the noncontrolling interests of Manning & Napier Group, of which
approximately $0.2 million was paid to the noncontrolling interests of Manning & Napier Group.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2020.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a "smaller reporting company," we are not required to provide this information.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of June 30, 2020 pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2020, our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were
effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2020 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1A. Risk Factors
In addition to the other information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Item 1A
to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the “2019 Form 10-K”) in evaluating our business, industry, structure, future
results and Class A common stock.
The information presented below updates and supplements those risk factors for events, changes and developments since the filing of the 2019 Form
10-K and should be read in conjunction with the risks and other information contained in the 2019 Form 10-K. The risks described in our 2019 Form 10-K,
as updated below, are not the only risks we face. Additional risks that we do not presently know or that we currently believe are not material could also
materially adversely affect our business, financial position, future results and prospects.
Risks Related to our Business
Our revenues are dependent on the market value and composition of our AUM, which are subject to significant fluctuations and have been impacted by
the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and its effect on the U.S. and global economy.
We derive the majority of our revenue from investment management fees, typically calculated as a percentage of the market value of our AUM. As a
result, our revenues are dependent on the value and composition of our AUM, all of which are subject to fluctuation due to many factors, including:
•

Declines in prices of securities in our portfolios. The prices of the securities held in the portfolios we manage may decline due to any number of
factors beyond our control, including, among others, the impacts of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic on the companies whose
securities are held in the portfolios we manage, declining stock or commodities markets, changes in interest rates, a general economic downturn,
including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, political uncertainty, pandemics or other health crises, or acts of terrorism. The U.S. and global
financial markets continue to be subject to uncertainty and instability. Such factors could cause an unusual degree of volatility and price declines
for securities in the portfolios we manage;

•

Redemptions and other withdrawals. Our clients generally may withdraw their funds at any time, on very short notice and without any significant
penalty. A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from investment advisory agreements that are terminable by clients upon short notice or no
notice and investors in the mutual funds we advise can redeem their investments in those funds at any time without prior notice. Also, new clients
and portfolios may not have the same client retention characteristics as we have experienced in the past. In a declining stock market, the pace of
redemptions could accelerate;

•

Investment performance. Our ability to deliver strong investment performance depends in large part on our ability to identify appropriate
investment opportunities in which to invest client assets. If we are unable to identify sufficient appropriate investment opportunities for existing
and new client assets on a timely basis, our investment performance could be adversely affected. The risk that sufficient appropriate investment
opportunities may be unavailable is influenced by a number of factors including general market conditions. If our portfolios perform poorly, even
over the short-term, as compared with our competitors or applicable third-party benchmarks, or the rankings of mutual funds we manage decline,
we may lose existing AUM and have difficulty attracting new assets; and

•

Competition from passive strategies. There has been an increasing preference for passive investment products, such as index and exchange-traded
funds ("ETFs") over active strategies managed by asset managers. If this market preference continues, existing and prospective clients may choose
to invest in passive investment products, our growth strategy may be impaired and our AUM may be negatively impacted.

The market disruption caused by COVID-19 may continue for as long or longer than the restrictions on general business operations and in-person
interactions imposed by federal, state and local governments. If this period of economic disruption and volatility continues or worsens, our AUM could be
reduced, and if we are unable to reduce expenses, our net income will be reduced in the near term. Should the COVID-19 pandemic continue for an
extended period of time, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may likewise be materially adversely impacted for an
extended period of time.
If any of the factors described above cause a decline in our AUM, it would result in lower investment management revenues. If our revenues decline
without a commensurate reduction in our expenses, our net income will be reduced and our business will be adversely affected.
We derive substantially all of our revenues from contracts and relationships that may be terminated upon short or no notice.
We derive substantially all of our revenues from investment advisory and sub-advisor agreements, all of which are terminable by clients upon short
notice or no notice and without any significant penalty.
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Our mutual fund and collective investment trust relationships may be terminated or not renewed for any number of reasons. Our investment
management agreements with mutual funds, as required by law, are generally terminable by the funds’ board of directors or a vote of the majority of the
funds’ outstanding voting securities on not more than 60 days’ written notice. After an initial term, each fund’s investment management agreement must be
approved and renewed annually by such fund’s board, including by its independent members. Similarly, our investment management agreements with the
collective investment trusts may be terminated at any time by Exeter Trust Company's board of directors, which includes independent members. As of
June 30, 2020, mutual fund and collective investment trust relationships represent 30% of our AUM and 28% of our revenue for the quarter ended June 30,
2020.
Our clients will likely be impacted by the overall decline in the U.S. economy, which may cause them to terminate their relationships with us. The
longer the economic results of the COVID-19 pandemic negatively impact our clients, clients may seek to withdraw their funds from our investment
solutions. If a significant proportion of our clients withdraw their funds, our AUM and results of operations will be materially adversely impacted.
The decrease in revenues that could result from the termination of a material client relationship or group of client relationships could have an adverse
effect on our business. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and the quarter ended June 30, 2020, other than our relationship with the Fund,
there were no customers that provided over 10 percent of our total revenue.
We may not realize the expected benefits from our restructuring plan and other operational improvement initiatives relating
to our strategic review of our business.
We commenced a strategic review of our business upon the appointment of our new Chief Executive, Marc Mayer, in early 2019. Our comprehensive
review resulted in changes to our overall distribution strategy, our suite of investment offerings, and our operational platform. The objective of this review
was to improve financial results for stockholders and investment results for clients by more clearly prioritizing our strengths, eliminating distractions and
sub-scale offerings, and increasing productivity across the firm through improved technology. As a result of this strategic review, we incurred
approximately
$11.1 million of strategic restructuring and transaction costs during 2019 (excluding a $2.9 million gain on the sale of PPI). These charges consisted of $3.4
million of employee severance costs and $7.7 million of other operating costs, which included approximately $6.3 million of impairment charges stemming
from the write-off of existing contracts that we will not be utilizing as we move forward with a new third-party service provider to leverage its platform in
an effort to expand our digital capabilities. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized $1.7 million of strategic restructuring and
transaction costs and we will likely incur additional costs in the future as a result of this strategic review. There can be no assurance that the costs of
undertaking our operational improvement initiatives will be offset by future earnings that may result from the improvements, and it is possible that we will
not realize the expected benefits from our operational improvement initiatives to the extent we anticipate or at all.
Our portfolios may not obtain attractive returns under certain market conditions or at all.
The goal of our investment process is to provide competitive absolute returns over full market cycles. Accordingly, our portfolios may not perform
well compared to benchmarks or other investment managers’ strategies during certain periods of time, under certain market conditions, or after specific
market shocks. Underperformance may negatively affect our ability to retain clients and attract new clients. We are likely to be most out of favor when the
markets are running on positive or negative price momentum and market prices become disconnected from underlying investment fundamentals. During
and shortly following such periods of relative under performance, we are likely to see our highest levels of client turnover, even if our absolute returns are
positive. Loss of client assets and the failure to attract new clients could adversely affect our revenues and growth.
Difficult market conditions, like those during the current COVID-19 pandemic, can adversely affect our strategies in many ways, including by
negatively impacting their performance and reducing their ability to raise or deploy capital, which could materially reduce our revenues and adversely
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Significant disruptions and volatility in the global financial markets and economies, like the current conditions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic,
could impair the investment performance of our strategies. Although we seek to generate consistent, positive, absolute returns across all market cycles, our
strategies have been and may be materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions. The global market and
economic climate may become increasingly uncertain due to numerous factors beyond our control, including but not limited to, the duration of the COVID19 pandemic and resulting limitations on business operations in the U.S., concerns related to unpredictable global market and economic factors, uncertainty
in U.S. federal fiscal, tax, trade or regulatory policy and the fiscal, tax, trade or regulatory policy of foreign governments, rising interest rates, inflation or
deflation, the availability of credit, performance of financial markets, terrorism, natural or biological catastrophes, public health emergencies, or political
uncertainty.
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A general market downturn, a specific market dislocation or deteriorating economic conditions may cause a material reduction in our revenues and
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations by causing:
• A decline in AUM, resulting in lower management fees and incentive income.
• An increase in the cost of financial instruments, executing transactions or otherwise doing business.
• Lower or negative investment returns, which may reduce AUM and potential incentive income.
• Reduced demand for assets held by our funds, which would negatively affect our funds’ ability to realize value from such assets.
• Increased investor redemptions or greater demands for enhanced liquidity or other terms, resulting in a reduction in AUM, lower
revenues and potential increased difficulty in raising new capital.
During the first quarter of 2020 when the COVID-19 pandemic began, there was a global market downturn which caused a decline in our AUM
primarily due to market depreciation. While our AUM as of June 30, 2020 has since increased by $1.6 billion since March 31, 2020, our AUM has
decreased by $0.8 billion, or 4%, since December 31, 2019. The decrease was driven by net client cash outflows of $1.1 billion, partially offset by market
appreciation of $0.3 billion. If these conditions continue, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be materially adversely
impacted for an extended period of time.
Furthermore, while difficult market and economic conditions and other factors can potentially increase investment opportunities over the long term,
such conditions and factors also increase the risk of increased investment losses and additional regulation, which may impair our business model and
operations. Our strategies may also be adversely affected by difficult market conditions if we fail to assess the adverse effect of such conditions, which
would likely result in significant reductions in the returns of those strategies. Moreover, challenging market conditions may prompt industry-wide
reductions in fees. In response to competitive pressures or for any other reason, we may reduce or change our fee structures, which could reduce the amount
of fees and income that we may earn relative to AUM.
An investment in our Class A common stock is not an alternative to investing in our strategies, and the returns of our strategies should not be
considered as indicative of any returns expected on our Class A common stock, although if our strategies perform poorly, our revenue could be
materially adversely impacted, which may in turn impact the returns on our Class A common stock.
The returns on our Class A common stock are not directly linked to the historical or future performance of our investment strategies. Even if our
strategies experience positive performance and our AUM increases, holders of our Class A common stock may not experience a corresponding positive
return on their Class A common stock.
However, poor performance of our strategies could cause a decline in our revenues, and may therefore have a negative effect on our performance and
the returns on our Class A common stock. If we fail to meet the expectations of our clients or otherwise experience poor performance, whether due to
difficult economic and financial conditions or otherwise, our ability to retain existing AUM and attract new clients could be materially adversely affected.
In turn, the fees that we would earn would be reduced and our business, financial condition or results of operations would suffer, thus negatively impacting
the price of our Class A common stock. Furthermore, even if the investment performance of our strategies is positive, our business, financial condition or
results of operations and the price of our Class A common stock could be materially adversely affected if we are unable to attract and retain additional
AUM consistent with our past experience, industry trends or investor and market expectations.
The loss of key investment and sales professionals, members of our senior management team, or difficulty integrating new executives, could have an
adverse effect on our business.
We depend on the skills, expertise and institutional knowledge of our key employees, including qualified investment and sales professionals and
members of our senior management team, and our success depends on our ability to retain such key employees. Our investment professionals possess
substantial experience in investing and have been primarily responsible for the historically attractive investment performance we have achieved. We
particularly depend on our executive officers as well as senior members of our research department. As part of our strategic review of our business, we
have experienced a reduction in headcount from 366 at January 1, 2019 to 288 employees at June 30, 2020. This and any future reductions to headcount
may result in the loss of expertise and institutional knowledge and could adversely affect our business.
We have had significant changes in executive leadership and more could occur. Changes to strategic or operating goals, which can occur with the
appointment of new executives, can create uncertainty, and may ultimately be unsuccessful. In addition, executive leadership transition periods, including
adding new personnel, could be difficult as new executives gain an understanding of our business and strategy. Difficulty integrating new executives, or the
loss of key individuals could limit our ability to successfully execute our business strategy and could have an adverse effect on our overall financial
condition.
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Competition for qualified investment, sales and top level management professionals is intense. Attracting qualified personnel, including top level
management, may take time and we may fail to attract and retain qualified personnel including top level management in the future. Our ability to attract
and retain our executive officers and other key employees will depend heavily on our business strategy, corporate culture and the amount and structure of
compensation. We have historically utilized a compensation structure that uses a combination of cash and equity-based incentives as appropriate. However,
our compensation may not be effective to recruit and retain the personnel we need if our overall compensation packages are not competitive in the
marketplace. Any cost-reduction initiative or adjustments or reductions to compensation could negatively impact our ability to retain key personnel, as
could changes to our management structure, corporate culture and corporate governance arrangements.
We may be required to reduce the fees we charge, or our fees may decline due to changes in our AUM composition, which could have an adverse effect
on our profit margins and results of operations.
Our current fee structure may be subject to downward pressure due to a variety of factors, including a trend in recent years toward lower fees in the
investment management industry. We may be required to reduce fees with respect to both the separate accounts we manage and the mutual funds and
collective trust funds we advise. We may charge lower fees in order to attract future new business, which may result in us having to also reduce our fees
with respect to our existing business. During the first quarter of 2019, we completed the effort of restructuring fees for many of our mutual funds and
collective trust vehicles. Given the overall pressure on fees that all active managers are facing, we believe that bringing our fund fees to a more competitive
level will enhance our ability to attract additional business in the future. The fee restructuring reduced the management fees on our existing business, and
may fail to attract additional business sufficient to offset any reduction in related operating expenses. Any further fee reductions on existing or future new
business could have an adverse effect on our profit margins and results of operations.
Our AUM may be concentrated in certain strategies.
Client purchase and redemption activity may result in AUM concentrations with certain of our investment strategies. As a result, a substantial portion
of our operating results may depend upon the performance of these strategies. If we sustain poor investment performance or adverse market conditions,
clients may withdraw their investments or terminate their investment management agreements. To the extent any of these strategies is concentrated in an
industry or geographic area that is disproportionately negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, the concentration of our AUM in those strategies
will likely have a disproportionately negative impact on our revenues. These conditions would result in a reduction in our revenues from these strategies,
which could have an adverse effect on our earnings and financial condition.
Our business is primarily focused in certain targeted geographic regions making us vulnerable to risks associated with having geographically
concentrated operations.
Although our client base is national, we are primarily focused in certain targeted geographic regions, including the northeastern and southeastern
regions of the United States. Furthermore, our review of our intermediary and institutional distribution strategy resulted in changes to our territory coverage
and servicing efforts in order to more effectively service our existing clients with our team, while concentrating on geographies with the greatest chances
for growth. This could have the effect of increasing the risks associated with having geographically concentrated operations, including increasing the risk
that our business will be negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic if its impacts are concentrated in any of these geographic areas. Our business,
financial condition and results of operations may be susceptible to regional economic downturns and other regional factors.
Several of our portfolios involve investing principally in the securities of non-U.S. companies, which involve foreign currency exchange risk, and tax,
political, social and economic uncertainties and risks.
As of June 30, 2020, approximately 20% of our AUM across all of our portfolios was invested in securities of non-U.S. companies. Fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates could negatively affect the returns of our clients who are invested in these strategies. An increase in the value of the U.S.
dollar relative to non-U.S. currencies is likely to result in a decrease in the U.S. dollar value of our AUM, which, in turn, could result in lower revenue
since we report our financial results in U.S. dollars.
Investments in non-U.S. issuers may also be affected by tax positions taken in countries or regions in which we are invested as well as political,
social and economic uncertainty. Declining tax revenues may cause governments to assert their ability to tax the local gains and/or income of foreign
investors (including our clients), which could adversely affect clients’ interests in investing outside their home markets. Many financial markets are not as
developed, or as efficient, as the U.S. financial markets, and as a result, those markets may have limited liquidity and higher price volatility and may lack
established regulations. Liquidity may also be adversely affected by political or economic events, government policies, social or civil unrest within a
particular country, and our ability to dispose of an investment may also be adversely affected if we increase the size of our investments in smaller non-U.S.
issuers. Non-U.S. legal and regulatory environments, including financial
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accounting standards and practices, may also be different, and there may be less publicly available information about such companies. These risks could
adversely affect the performance of our strategies that are invested in securities of non-U.S. issuers and may be particularly acute in the emerging or less
developed markets in which we invest.
The historical returns of our existing portfolios may not be indicative of their future results or of the portfolios we may develop in the future.
The historical returns of our portfolios and the ratings and rankings we or the mutual funds that we advise have earned in the past should not be
considered indicative of the future results of these portfolios or of any other portfolios that we may develop in the future. The investment performance we
achieve for our clients varies over time and the variance can be wide. The ratings and rankings we or the mutual funds we advise have earned are typically
revised monthly. The historical performance and ratings and rankings included in this report are as of June 30, 2020 and for periods then ended except
where otherwise stated. The performance we have achieved and the ratings and rankings earned at subsequent dates and for subsequent periods may be
higher or lower and the difference could be material. Our portfolios’ returns have benefited during some periods from investment opportunities and positive
economic and market conditions. In other periods, general economic and market conditions have negatively affected our portfolios’ returns. These negative
conditions may occur again, and in the future we may not be able to identify and invest in profitable investment opportunities within our current or future
portfolios.
Support provided to new products may reduce fee income, increase expenses and expose us to potential loss on invested capital.
We may support the development of new investment products by waiving all or a portion of the fees we receive for managing such products, by
subsidizing expenses or by making seed capital investments. Seed investments in new products utilize Company capital that would otherwise be available
for general corporate purposes and expose us to capital losses to the extent that realized investment losses are not offset by hedging gains. The risk of loss
may be greater for seed capital investments that are not hedged, or if an intended hedge does not perform as expected. Failure to have or devote sufficient
capital to support new products could have on adverse impact on our future growth.
Assets influenced by third-party intermediaries have a higher risk of redemption and are subject to changes in fee structures, which could reduce our
revenues.
Investments in our mutual funds made through third-party intermediaries, as opposed to mutual fund investments resulting from sales by our own
representatives can be more easily moved to investments in funds other than ours. Third-party intermediaries are attractive to investors because of the ease
of accessibility to a variety of funds, but this causes the investments to be more sensitive to fluctuations in performance, especially in the short-term. If we
were unable to retain the assets of our mutual funds held through third-party intermediaries, our AUM would be reduced. As a result, our revenues could
decline and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
We may elect to pursue growth in the United States and abroad through acquisitions or joint ventures, which would expose us to risks inherent in
assimilating new operations, expanding into new jurisdictions, and making non-controlling minority investments in other entities.
In order to maintain and enhance our competitive position, we may review and pursue acquisition and joint venture opportunities. We cannot assure
we will identify and consummate any such transactions on acceptable terms or have sufficient resources to accomplish such a strategy. Any strategic
transaction can involve a number of risks, including:
•

additional demands on our staff;

•

unanticipated problems regarding integration of investor account and investment security recordkeeping, operating facilities and technologies,
and new employees;

•

adverse effects in the event acquired intangible assets or goodwill become impaired;

•

the existence of liabilities or contingencies not disclosed to or otherwise known by us prior to closing such a transaction; and

•

dilution to our public stockholders if we issue shares of our Class A common stock, or units of Manning & Napier Group with exchange rights,
in connection with future acquisitions.

A portion of our separate account business, mutual funds, and collective investment trusts are distributed through intermediaries, platforms, and
consultants. Changes in key distribution relationships could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our profitability.
Given that a portion of our product offerings are distributed through intermediaries, platforms, and investment consultants, a share of our success is
dependent on access to these various distribution systems. These distributors are not contractually required to distribute or consider our products for
placement within advisory programs, on platforms’ approved
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lists, or in active searches conducted by investment consultants. Additionally, these intermediaries typically offer their clients various investment products
and services, in addition to and in competition with our products and services. If we are unable to cultivate and build strong relationships within these
distribution channels, the sales of our products could lead to a decline in revenues and profitability. Additionally, increasing competition for these
distribution channels could cause our distribution costs to rise, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability.
Our efforts to establish new portfolios or new products or services may be unsuccessful and could negatively impact our results of operations and our
reputation.
As part of our growth strategy, we may seek to take advantage of opportunities to develop new portfolios consistent with our philosophy of managing
portfolios to meet our clients’ objectives and using a team-based investment approach. The initial costs associated with establishing a new portfolio likely
will exceed the revenues that the portfolio generates. If any such new portfolio performs poorly or fails to attract sufficient assets to manage, our results of
operations could be negatively impacted. Further, a new portfolio’s poor performance may negatively impact our reputation and the reputation of our other
portfolios within the investment community. We have developed and may seek from time to time to develop new products and services to take advantage of
opportunities involving technology, insurance, participant and plan sponsor education and other products beyond investment management. The
development of these products and services could involve investment of financial and management resources and may not be successful in developing
client relationships, which could have an adverse effect on our business. The cost to develop these products initially will likely exceed the revenue they
generate and additional investment in these products could negatively impact short term financial results. If establishing new portfolios or offering new
products or services requires hiring new personnel, to the extent we are unable to recruit and retain sufficient personnel, we may not be successful in further
diversifying our portfolios, client assets and business, which could have an adverse effect on our business and future prospects.
Our failure to comply with investment guidelines set by our clients and limitations imposed by applicable law, could result in damage awards against us
and a loss of our AUM, either of which could adversely affect our reputation, results of operations or financial condition.
When clients retain us to manage assets on their behalf, they generally specify certain guidelines regarding investment allocation that we are required
to follow in managing their portfolios. We are also required to invest the mutual funds’ assets in accordance with limitations under the 1940 Act, and
applicable provisions of the IRC. Other clients, such as plans subject to ERISA, or non-U.S. funds, require us to invest their assets in accordance with
applicable law. Our failure to comply with any of these guidelines and other limitations could result in losses to clients or investors in our products which,
depending on the circumstances, could result in our obligation to make clients whole for such losses. If we believed that the circumstances did not justify a
reimbursement, or clients believed the reimbursement we offered was insufficient, clients could seek to recover damages from us, withdraw assets from our
products or terminate their investment management agreement with us. Any of these events could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business.
A change of control of our company could result in termination of our investment advisory agreements.
Under the 1940 Act, each of the investment advisory agreements for SEC registered mutual funds that our affiliate, MNA, advises automatically
terminates in the event of its assignment, as defined under the 1940 Act. If such an assignment were to occur, MNA could continue to act as adviser to any
such fund only if that fund’s board of directors and stockholders approved a new investment advisory agreement, except in the case of certain of the funds
that we sub-advise for which only board approval would be necessary. Under the Advisers Act each of the investment advisory agreements for the separate
accounts we manage may not be assigned without the consent of the client. An assignment may occur under the 1940 Act and the Advisers Act if, among
other things, MNA undergoes a change of control. In certain other cases, the investment advisory agreements for the separate accounts we manage require
the consent of the client for any assignment.
Due to the settlement of the Exchange Agreement that occurred on May 11, 2020 and the resulting increase in the Company’s ownership of Manning
& Napier Group from 19.5% to 88.2%, there was a change of control of MNA, causing an assignment of the investment advisory agreements that MNA
has with SEC registered mutual funds and separate account clients. We cannot be certain that MNA will be able to obtain the necessary approvals from the
boards and stockholders of the mutual funds that it advises. If MNA is unable to obtain those approvals, our results of operations will be materially
adversely impacted.
Operational risks may disrupt our business, result in losses or limit our growth.
We are heavily dependent on the capacity and reliability of the communications, information and technology systems supporting our operations,
whether developed, owned and operated by us or by third parties. Operational risks such as trading or operational errors or interruption of our financial,
accounting, trading, compliance and other data processing systems, whether caused by fire, natural disaster or pandemic, power or telecommunications
failure, act of terrorism or war or otherwise, could result in a disruption of our business, liability to clients, regulatory intervention or reputational damage,
and thus
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adversely affect our business. Some types of operational risks, including, for example, trading errors, may be increased in periods of increased volatility,
which can magnify the cost of an error. Although we have back-up systems in place, our back-up procedures and capabilities in the event of a failure or
interruption may not be adequate, and the fact that we operate our business out of multiple physical locations may make such failures and interruptions
difficult to address on a timely and adequate basis.
We depend on our headquarters in Fairport, New York, where a majority of our employees, administration and technology resources are located, for
the continued operation of our business. During the COVID-19 pandemic almost all of our employees are working remotely, which may impact the level of
service that is provided to our clients. Any significant disruption to our headquarters could have an adverse effect on our business.
A failure to effectively maintain, enhance and modernize our information technology systems, and effectively develop and deploy new technologies,
could adversely affect our business.
Our success depends on our ability to maintain effective information technology systems, to enhance those systems to better support our business in
an efficient and cost-effective manner and to develop new technologies and capabilities in pursuit of our long-term strategy. We recently selected
InvestCloud to lead our digital transformation, and will utilize InvestCloud's full suite of applications in order to deliver what we believe will be the best
possible experience for our clients and partners. The multi-phased conversion will focus on enhancing the digital client experience, streamlining backoffice processes, and centralizing performance data and reporting. Additionally, as part of the InvestCloud implementation, we will substantially reengineer many of our business processes.
Some technology development initiatives are long-term in nature, may negatively impact our financial results as we invest in the initiatives, may cost
more than anticipated to complete, or may not be completed. Additionally, our technology initiatives may be more costly or time-consuming than
anticipated, may not deliver the expected benefits upon completion, and may need to be replaced or become obsolete more quickly than expected, which
could result in accelerated recognition of expenses. If we fail to maintain or enhance our existing information technology systems or if we were to
experience failure in developing and implementing new technologies, our relationships, reputation, ability to do business with our clients and our
competitive position may be adversely affected. We could also experience other adverse consequences, including additional costs or write-offs of
capitalized costs, unfavorable underwriting and reserving decisions, internal control deficiencies, and information security breaches resulting in loss or
inappropriate disclosure of data. We have been required to make significant capital expenditures to update our technology infrastructure, and we may incur
the costs described above as we deploy this new technology.
Failure to implement effective information and cyber security policies, procedures and capabilities, or cybersecurity breaches of software applications
and other technologies on which we rely, could disrupt operations and cause financial losses that could result in a decrease in earnings and
reputational harm.
We are dependent on the effectiveness of our, and third party software vendors', information and cybersecurity policies, procedures and capabilities to
protect our computer and telecommunications systems and the data that reside on or are transmitted through them. As part of our normal operations, we
maintain and transmit confidential information about our clients and employees as well as proprietary information relating to our business operations. We
maintain a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that fraudulent activity, including misappropriation of assets, fraudulent
financial reporting and unauthorized access to sensitive or confidential data is either prevented or detected on a timely basis. Nevertheless, all technology
systems remain vulnerable to unauthorized access and may be corrupted by cyberattacks, computer viruses or other malicious software code, the nature of
which threats are constantly evolving and becoming increasingly sophisticated. In addition, we are currently facing heightened operational risk, including
heighted cybersecurity risk, because more of our employees are working remotely. Remote working environments may be less secure and more susceptible
to cyber-attacks, including phishing and social engineering attempts that seek to exploit the COVID-19 pandemic.
Breach or other failure of our technology systems, including those of third parties with which we do business, or failure to timely and effectively
identify and respond to any such breach or failure, could result in the loss of valuable information, liability for stolen assets or information, remediation
costs to repair damage caused by the incident, additional security costs to mitigate against future incidents, increased insurance premiums, and litigation
costs resulting from the incident. Moreover, loss of confidential customer information could harm our reputation, result in the termination of contracts by
our existing customers and subject us to liability under laws that protect confidential personal data, resulting in increased costs or loss of revenues.
Ultimately, a cyberattack can damage our competitiveness, stock price and long-term stockholder value. Recent well-publicized security breaches at other
companies have led to enhanced government and regulatory scrutiny of the measures taken by companies to protect against cyberattacks, and may in the
future result in heightened cybersecurity requirements, including additional regulatory expectations for oversight of vendors and service providers.
54

Table of Contents

We depend on third-party service providers for services that are important to our business, and an interruption or cessation of such services by any
such service providers could have an adverse effect on our business.
We depend on a number of service providers, including custodial and clearing firms, and vendors of communications and networking products and
services. We cannot assure that these providers will be able to continue to provide these services in an efficient manner or that they will be able to
adequately expand their services to meet our needs. An interruption or malfunction in or the cessation of an important service by any third-party and our
inability to make alternative arrangements in a timely manner, or at all, could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operating
results.
Employee misconduct could expose us to significant legal liability and reputational harm.
We operate in an industry in which integrity and the confidence of our clients are of critical importance. Accordingly, if any of our employees engage
in illegal or suspicious activities or other misconduct, we could be subject to regulatory sanctions and suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial
condition, client relationships and ability to attract new clients. For example, our business often requires that we deal with confidential information. If our
employees were to improperly use or disclose this information, even if inadvertently, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial condition
and current and future business relationships. It is not always possible to deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this
activity may not always be effective. Misconduct by our employees, or even unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct, could result in an adverse effect on
our reputation and our business.
Failure to properly address conflicts of interest could harm our reputation, business and results of operations.
We must monitor and address any conflicts between our interests and those of our clients. The SEC and other regulators scrutinize potential conflicts
of interest, and we have implemented procedures and controls that we believe are reasonably designed to address these issues. However, appropriately
dealing with conflicts of interest is complex, and if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest, we could face reputational
damage, litigation or regulatory proceedings or penalties, any of which could adversely affect our reputation, business and results of operations.
If our techniques for managing risk are ineffective, we may be exposed to material unanticipated losses.
In order to manage the significant risks inherent in our business, we must maintain effective policies, procedures and systems that enable us to
identify, monitor and control our exposure to operational, legal and reputational risks. Our risk management methods may prove to be ineffective due to
their design or implementation, or as a result of the lack of adequate, accurate or timely information or otherwise. If our risk management efforts are
ineffective, we could suffer losses that could have an adverse effect on our financial condition or operating results. Additionally, we could be subject to
litigation, particularly from our clients, and sanctions or fines from regulators. Our techniques for managing risks in client portfolios may not fully mitigate
the risk exposure in all economic or market environments, or against all types of risk, including risks that we might fail to identify or anticipate.
The cost of insuring our business is substantial and may increase.
While we carry insurance in amounts and under terms that we believe are appropriate, we cannot guarantee that our insurance will cover all liabilities
and losses to which we may be exposed or, if covered, that such liabilities and losses will not exceed the limits of available insurance coverage, or that our
insurers will remain solvent and meet their obligations. We cannot guarantee that our insurance policies will continue to be available at current terms and
fees.
We believe our insurance costs are reasonable but they could fluctuate significantly from year to year. Certain insurance coverage may not be
available or may only be available at prohibitive costs. As we renew our insurance policies, we may be subject to additional costs resulting from rising
premiums, the assumption of higher deductibles or co-insurance liability and, to the extent certain of our mutual funds purchase separate director and
officer or errors and omissions liability coverage, an increased risk of insurance companies disputing responsibility for joint claims. Higher insurance costs
and incurred deductibles, as with any expense, would reduce our net income.
Risks Related to our Industry
We are subject to extensive regulation.
We are subject to extensive regulation for our investment management business and operations, including regulation by the SEC under the 1940 Act
and the Advisers Act, by the U.S. Department of Labor under ERISA, and by FINRA. The U.S. mutual funds we advise are registered with and regulated
by the SEC as investment companies under the 1940 Act. The Advisers Act imposes numerous obligations on investment advisers including record
keeping, advertising and operating requirements, disclosure obligations and prohibitions on fraudulent activities. The 1940 Act imposes similar obligations,
as well as additional detailed operational requirements, on registered investment companies, which must be adhered to by their investment advisers. The
U.S. mutual funds that we advise and our broker-dealer subsidiary are each subject to the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, which requires them to know certain
information about their clients and to monitor their transactions for
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suspicious financial activities, including money laundering. The U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control, ("OFAC"), has issued regulations requiring that we
refrain from doing business, or allow our clients to do business through us, in certain countries or with certain organizations or individuals on a list
maintained by the U.S. government.
Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in fines, censure, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including
revocation of our registration as an investment adviser. Even if a sanction imposed against us or our personnel is small in monetary amount, the adverse
publicity arising from the imposition of sanctions against us by regulators could harm our reputation, result in withdrawal by our clients from our products
and impede our ability to retain clients and develop new client relationships, which may reduce our revenues.
We face the risk of significant intervention by regulatory authorities, including extended investigation and surveillance activity, adoption of costly or
restrictive new regulations and judicial or administrative proceedings that may result in substantial penalties. Among other things, we could be fined or be
prohibited from engaging in some of our business activities. The requirements imposed by our regulators are designed to ensure the integrity of the
financial markets and to protect customers and other third parties who deal with us, and are not designed to protect our stockholders. Accordingly, these
regulations often serve to limit our activities, including through net capital, customer protection and market conduct requirements.
The regulatory environment in which we and our clients operate is subject to continual change, and regulatory developments designed to increase
oversight could adversely affect our business.
The legislative and regulatory environment in which we operate undergoes continuous change, subjecting industry participants to additional, more
costly and potentially more punitive regulation. New laws or regulations, or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or regulations, applicable to us and
our clients could adversely affect our business subjecting us and other industry participants to additional costs. Any or all of the regulators who oversee us
could adopt new rules or rule amendments that could substantially impact how we operate and may necessitate significant expenditures in order to adapt
and comply.
Our ability to function in an uncertain and ever-changing regulatory environment will depend on our ability to constantly monitor and promptly react
to legislative and regulatory changes, which inevitably result in intangible costs and resource drains. The compliance burden resulting from regulatory
changes and uncertainty is likely to increase, particularly as regulators grow more technologically advanced and more reliant on data analytics. As a result,
we may be forced to divert resources and expenditures to information technology in order to analyze data and risk in the same manner as regulators and to
be able to provide regulators with the data output they may expect going forward.
Regulations may accelerate industry trends towards passive or lower cost investment options, centralized due diligence and shrinking platform
ability, making access to intermediary decision-makers more challenging. Mutual fund intermediaries may be forced to eliminate or curtail the availability
of certain mutual fund share classes, which may hamper our distribution efforts and reduce assets in the mutual fund. Similarly, platform consolidations
may prevent our separate account intermediaries from supporting our products, which could result in AUM declines and fewer distribution channels.
There have been a number of highly publicized regulatory inquiries that have focused on the investment management industry. These inquiries have
resulted in increased scrutiny of the industry and new rules and regulations for mutual funds and investment managers. This regulatory scrutiny may limit
our ability to engage in certain activities that might be beneficial to our stockholders. Further, adverse results of regulatory investigations of mutual fund,
investment advisory and financial services firms could tarnish the reputation of the financial services industry generally and mutual funds and investment
advisers more specifically, causing investors to avoid further fund investments or redeem their account balances. Redemptions would decrease our AUM,
which would reduce our advisory revenues and net income.
Further, due to acts of serious fraud in the investment management industry and perceived lapses in regulatory oversight, U.S. and non-U.S.
governmental and regulatory authorities may continue to increase regulatory oversight of our business.
The investment management industry is intensely competitive.
The investment management industry is intensely competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment performance,
investment management fee rates, recent trend towards favor for passive investment products, continuity of investment professionals and client
relationships, the quality of services provided to clients, corporate positioning and business reputation, continuity of selling arrangements with
intermediaries and differentiated products. A number of factors, including the following, serve to increase our competitive risks:
•

some competitors, including those with passive investment products and exchange traded funds, charge lower fees for their investment services
than we do;

•

a number of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources, more comprehensive name recognition and more
personnel than we do;
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•

potential competitors have a relatively low cost of entering the investment management industry;

•

the recent trend toward consolidation in the investment management industry, and the securities business in general, has served to increase the
size and strength of a number of our competitors;

•

some investors may prefer to invest with an investment manager that is not publicly traded based on the perception that a publicly traded asset
manager may focus on the manager’s own growth to the detriment of investment performance for clients;

•

some competitors may invest according to different investment styles or in alternative asset classes that the markets may perceive as more
attractive than the portfolios we offer;

•

some competitors may have more attractive investment returns;

•

some competitors may operate in a different regulatory environment than we do, which may give them certain competitive advantages in the
investment products and portfolio structures that they offer; and

•

other industry participants, hedge funds and alternative asset managers may seek to recruit our investment professionals.

If we are unable to compete effectively, our revenues could be reduced and our business could be adversely affected.
Our industry is increasingly becoming subject to rapid changes in technology that may alter historical methods of doing business.
The financial industry continues to be impacted by innovation, technological changes, and changing customer preferences, including the emergence
of “FinTech” companies and the deployment of new technologies based on artificial intelligence and machine learning that are becoming increasing
competitive with and may disrupt more traditional business models. If we do not effectively anticipate and adapt to these changes it could limit our ability
to compete, decrease the value of our products to clients, and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Our business could also be affected by technological changes in the industries that represent our target markets, including tasks/roles that are
currently performed by people being replaced by automation, artificial intelligence, or other advances outside of our control, which could impact national
brokerage firm representatives or independent financial advisors, upon which a portion of our revenues are based, and adversely affect our business and
results of operations.
The investment management industry faces substantial litigation risks, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations or cause significant reputational harm to us.
We depend to a large extent on our network of relationships and on our reputation to attract and retain client assets. If a client is not satisfied with our
services, its dissatisfaction may be more damaging to our business than client dissatisfaction would be to other types of businesses. We make investment
decisions on behalf of our clients that could result in substantial losses to them. If our clients suffer significant losses, or are otherwise dissatisfied with our
services, we could be subject to the risk of legal liabilities or actions alleging negligent misconduct, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, unjust
enrichment and/or fraud. These risks are often difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude often remain unknown for substantial
periods of time, even after an action has been commenced. We may incur significant legal expenses in defending against litigation whether or not we
engaged in conduct as a result of which we might be subject to legal liability. Substantial legal liability or significant regulatory action against us could
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations or cause significant reputational harm to us.
Catastrophic and unpredictable events, like the COVID-19 pandemic, could have an adverse effect on our business.
The COVID-19 pandemic and any terrorist attack, war, power failure, cyber-attack, natural disaster, public health emergency or pandemic or other
catastrophic or unpredictable event could adversely affect our future revenues, expenses and earnings by:
•
•
•
•
•
•

decreasing investment valuations in, and returns on, the assets that we manage;
causing disruptions in national or global economies that decrease investor confidence and make investment products generally less attractive;
interrupting our normal business operations;
sustaining employee casualties, including loss of our key members of our senior management team or our investment team;
requiring substantial expenditures and expenses to repair, replace and restore normal business operations; and
reducing investor confidence.

We have a disaster recovery plan to address certain contingencies, but we cannot be assured that this plan will be sufficient in responding or
ameliorating the effects of all disaster scenarios. If our employees or the vendors we rely upon for
57

Table of Contents

support in a catastrophic event are unable to respond adequately or in a timely manner, we may lose clients resulting in a decrease in AUM which may have
an adverse effect on revenues and net income.
Risks Related to Our Structure
We may not be able to resume paying dividends on our Class A common stock, and our ability to pay regular dividends to our stockholders is subject to
the discretion of our board of directors and may be limited by our structure and applicable provisions of Delaware law.
On April 22, 2020, our board of directors determined to suspend our quarterly cash dividend on our Class A common stock due to the market
volatility and ongoing uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Although we had historically declared cash dividends on our Class A common
stock, our board of directors has sole discretion over the amount or frequency of any dividends. Because of our structure, we will be dependent upon the
ability of our subsidiaries to generate earnings and cash flows and distribute them to us so that we may pay dividends, if declared by the board of directors,
to our stockholders. Manning & Napier Group’s ability to make distributions to its members, including us, in an amount sufficient for us to pay dividends,
if any, will be subject to its and its subsidiaries’ operating results, cash requirements and financial condition, the applicable laws of the State of Delaware,
which may limit the amount of funds available for distribution, and its compliance with covenants and financial ratios related to any indebtedness it may
incur in the future. In addition, as described elsewhere, under the terms of its operating agreement, Manning & Napier Group is obligated to make tax
distributions to holders of its units, including us. As a consequence of these various limitations and restrictions, we may have to reduce or eliminate the
payment of dividends on our Class A common stock for an extended period of time, which could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common
stock.
We depend on distributions from Manning & Napier Group to pay taxes and expenses, including payments under the tax receivable agreement, but
Manning & Napier Group’s ability to make such distributions will be subject to various limitations and restrictions.
We have no material assets other than our ownership of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group and have no independent means of generating
revenue. Manning & Napier Group is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, is not subject to U.S. federal income tax.
Instead, taxable income is allocated to holders of its units, including us. Accordingly, we incur income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable
income of Manning & Napier Group. Under the terms of its operating agreement, Manning & Napier Group is obligated to make tax distributions to
holders of its units, including us. We also incur expenses related to our operations, including expenses under the tax receivable agreement, which we expect
to be significant. We intend, as its managing member, to cause Manning & Napier Group to make distributions in an amount sufficient to allow us to pay
our taxes and operating expenses, including any payments due under the tax receivable agreement. However, Manning & Napier Group’s ability to make
such distributions is subject to various limitations and restrictions including, but not limited to, restrictions on distributions that would violate any contract
or agreement to which Manning & Napier Group is then a party or any applicable law or that would have the effect of rendering Manning & Napier Group
insolvent. If we do not have sufficient funds to pay tax or other liabilities to fund our operations, we may have to borrow funds, which could adversely
affect our liquidity and financial condition and subject us to various restrictions imposed by any such lenders.
Furthermore, by paying cash distributions rather than investing in our business, we might not have sufficient cash to fund operations or new growth
initiatives that will support the growth of our business.
We are required to pay holders of units of Manning & Napier Group for certain tax benefits we may claim as a result of the tax basis step up we realize
in connection with the future purchases or exchanges of those units for shares of our Class A common stock, and the amounts we may pay could be
significant.
Our current and former employee owners indirectly hold a minority ownership interest in Manning & Napier Group. Any future purchases or
exchanges of their units of Manning & Napier Group for cash or, at our election, shares of our Class A common stock may produce favorable tax attributes
for us. When we acquire such units, both the existing basis and the anticipated basis adjustments may increase, for tax purposes, depreciation and
amortization deductions allocable to us from Manning & Napier Group and therefore reduce the amount of income tax we would otherwise be required to
pay in the future. This increase in tax basis may also decrease gain, or increase loss, on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent the
increased tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.
We entered into a tax receivable agreement with the other holders of Class A units of Manning & Napier Group, pursuant to which we are required to
pay to holders of such Class A units 85% of the applicable cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income tax that we actually realize,
or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances, as a result of any step-up in tax basis in Manning & Napier Group’s assets as a result of (i) certain tax
attributes of our purchase of such Class A units or exchanges (for shares of Class A common stock) and that are created as a result of the sales or exchanges
and payments
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under the tax receivable agreement and (ii) payments under the tax receivable agreement, including any tax benefits related to imputed interest deemed to
be paid by us as a result of such agreement.
We expect that the payments we will be required to make under the tax receivable agreement will be substantial. We have recorded the estimated
impacts of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and the CARES Act on the liability under the tax receivable agreement. Assuming no new material changes in the
relevant tax law, the purchase or exchange of Class A units would result in depreciable or amortizable basis and that we earn sufficient taxable income to
realize all tax benefits that are subject to the tax receivable agreement, we expect that the reduction in tax payments for us is approximately $22.9 million as
of June 30, 2020. Under such scenario, we would be required to pay the holders of such Class A units 85% of such amount, or approximately $19.5 million.
The actual amounts may materially differ from these estimated amounts, as potential future reductions in tax payments for us and tax receivable agreement
payments by us will be calculated using the market value of our Class A common stock and the prevailing tax rates at the time of purchase or exchange and
will be dependent on us generating sufficient future taxable income to realize the benefit. In general, increases in the market value of our shares or in
prevailing tax rates will increase the amounts we pay under the tax receivable agreement.
The actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the tax receivable agreement, will vary depending upon a
number of factors, including:
•

the timing of exchanges by the holders of units of Manning & Napier Group, the number of units purchased or exchanged, or the price of our
Class A common stock, as the case may be, at the time of the purchase or exchange;

•

the amount and timing of the taxable income we generate in the future and the tax rate then applicable; and

•

the portion of our payments under the tax receivable agreement constituting imputed interest and whether the purchases or exchanges result in
depreciable or amortizable basis.

There is a possibility that not all of the 85% of the applicable cash savings will be paid to the selling or exchanging holder of Class A units at the time
described above. If we determine that all or a portion of such applicable tax savings is in doubt, we will pay to the holders of such Class A units the amount
attributable to the portion of the applicable tax savings that we determine is not in doubt and pay the remainder at such time as we determine the actual tax
savings or that the amount is no longer in doubt.
Payments under the tax receivable agreement, if any, will be made pro rata among all tax receivable agreement holders entitled to payments on an
annual basis to the extent we have sufficient taxable income to utilize the increased depreciation and amortization expense. The availability of sufficient
taxable income to utilize the increased depreciation and amortization expense will not be determined until such time as the financial results for the year in
question are known and tax estimates prepared. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the tax receivable agreement for any reason, such
payments will be deferred and in some instances, will accrue interest until paid.
In certain cases, payments under the tax receivable agreement to holders of Manning & Napier Group units may be accelerated and/or significantly
exceed the actual benefits we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement.
The tax receivable agreement provides that upon certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control, or if,
at any time, we elect an early termination of the tax receivable agreement, our obligations under the tax receivable agreement with respect to all Class A
units of Manning & Napier Group, whether or not such units have been purchased or exchanged before or after such transaction, would be based on certain
assumptions, including that we would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis
and other benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement. As a result, (i) we could be required to make payments under the tax receivable
agreement that are greater than or less than the specified percentage of the actual benefits we realize in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax
receivable agreement and (ii) if we elect to terminate the tax receivable agreement early, we would be required to make an immediate payment equal to the
present value of the anticipated future tax benefits, which payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization of such future benefits. In
these situations, our obligations under the tax receivable agreement could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity and could have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to finance our obligations under the tax receivable agreement. If we were to elect to terminate the tax receivable agreement
immediately as of June 30, 2020, we estimate that we would be required to pay up to approximately $20.0 million in the aggregate, which assumes the
exchange of 2,021,781 units of Manning & Napier Group held by those other than us under the tax receivable agreement.
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If we were deemed an investment company under the 1940 Act as a result of our ownership of Manning & Napier Group, applicable restrictions could
make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have an adverse effect on our business.
We do not believe that we are an “investment company” under the 1940 Act. Because we, as the sole managing member of Manning & Napier
Group, control the management of and operations of Manning & Napier Group, we believe that our interest in Manning & Napier Group is not an
“investment security” as such term is used in the 1940 Act. If we were to cease participation in the management of Manning & Napier Group or not be
deemed to control Manning & Napier Group, our interest in Manning & Napier Group could be deemed an “investment security” for purposes of the 1940
Act. A person may be an “investment company” if it owns investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of
U.S. government securities and cash items). Our sole asset is our equity investment in Manning & Napier Group. A determination that such investment is
an investment security could cause us to be deemed an investment company under the 1940 Act and to become subject to the registration and other
requirements of the 1940 Act. We do not believe that we are an investment company under Section 3(b)(1) of the 1940 Act because we are not primarily
engaged in a business that causes us to fall within the definition of “investment company.” The 1940 Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed
prescriptions for the organization and operations of investment companies. Among other things, the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder limit or prohibit
transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of debt and equity securities, prohibit the issuance of stock options, and impose certain
governance requirements. We and Manning & Napier Group intend to conduct our operations so that we will not be deemed an investment company.
However, if we nevertheless were to be deemed an investment company, restrictions imposed by the 1940 Act, including limitations on our capital structure
and our ability to transact with affiliates, could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock
The market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock may be volatile, which could result in rapid and substantial losses for our
stockholders.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. The trading volume of our Class A
common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. If the market price of our Class A common stock declines significantly,
investors may be unable to sell shares of Class A common stock at or above their purchase price, if at all. The market price of our Class A common stock
may fluctuate or decline significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could negatively affect the price of our Class A common stock, or result in
fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our Class A common stock, include:
•

an extended period of U.S. economic hardship as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic;

•

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results, including the suspension of our quarterly dividend;

•

failure to meet the market’s earnings expectations;

•

publication of negative research reports about us or the investment management industry, or the failure of securities analysts to cover our
Class A common stock;

•

a limited float and low average daily trading volume, which may result in illiquidity as investors try to buy and sell and thereby exacerbating
positive or negative pressure on our stock;

•

departures of any members of our senior management team or additions or departures of other key personnel;

•

adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we may incur or securities we may issue in the future;

•

adverse market reaction to our stockholder rights, or "poison pill," plan;

•

changes in market valuations of similar companies;

•

actual or anticipated poor performance in one or more of the portfolios we offer;

•

changes or proposed changes in laws or regulations, or differing interpretations thereof, affecting our business, or enforcement of these laws and
regulations, or announcements relating to these matters;

•

adverse publicity about the investment management industry generally, or particular scandals, specifically;

•

litigation and governmental investigations;

•

consummation by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or divestitures;

•

actions by stockholders, including any activist stockholders;
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•

exchange of units of Manning & Napier Group for shares of our Class A common stock or the expectation that such conversions or exchanges
may occur; and

•

general market and economic conditions.

Our Class A common stockholders may experience dilution in the future as a result of future acquisitions, additional capital raising, exchanges
pursuant to the Exchange Agreement and/or equity grants under our equity compensation plans.
If we issue shares of Class A common stock or units of Manning & Napier Group in future acquisitions or capital raising activity, the ownership
interest of our Class A common stockholders will be diluted. If we grant exchange rights with respect to the issuance of the units of Manning & Napier
Group that allow its holder to exchange such units for shares of our Class A common stock, stockholders will incur dilution in the percentage of the issued
and outstanding shares of Class A common stock that are owned at such time. Our stockholders will also be diluted to the extent the current holders of
Class A units of Manning & Napier Group exchange their units pursuant to the Exchange Agreement and we settle that exchange in shares of our Class A
common stock. We also may issue shares of our Class A common stock or units of Manning & Napier Group in connection with grants under our equity
compensation plans, which will dilute our Class A common stockholders. Any such future sales, issuances or exchanges of our Class A common stock or
rights to purchase our Class A common stock could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders.
If we fail to comply with our public company financial reporting and other regulatory obligations, including the Continued Listing Criteria of the New
York Stock Exchange, our business and stock price could be adversely affected.
We are subject to the Continued Listing Criteria of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). In order for our Class A common stock to continue
trading on the NYSE, we must maintain certain share prices, numbers of stockholders and corporate governance standards, including obtaining the
approval of our stockholders prior to issuing shares in excess of 20% of the voting power outstanding before that issuance. If we are unable to meet any of
these standards, our Class A common stock may no longer trade on the NYSE, which would adversely impact the trading market for our shares and
liquidity for our stockholders and may adversely impact our business. If our Class A common stock does not maintain an average closing price of $1.00 or
more over any consecutive 30 trading-day period, the NYSE may delist our Class A common stock for failure to maintain compliance with the NYSE price
criteria listing standards. Specifically, in the event that our stock price falls below the minimum share price, we may fall out of compliance with the NYSE
listing standards and to regain compliance we may be forced to take corporate actions, such as a reverse stock split, which may adversely impact the trading
market for our shares and liquidity. As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, have implemented specific
corporate governance practices and adhere to a variety of reporting requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and
regulations of the SEC, as well as the rules of the NYSE.
Our management is required to conduct an annual assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and include a report
on our internal controls in our annual reports on Form 10-K pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. If our management identifies one
or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, market perception of our financial condition and the
trading price of our stock may be adversely affected and customer perception of our business may suffer.
Our corporate documents, stockholder rights plan and Delaware law contain provisions that could discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of
the Company that our stockholders might consider to be in their best interests.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, as well as our stockholder rights, or “poison
pill,” plan, could impede attempts by our stockholders to remove or replace our management and could discourage others from initiating a potential merger,
takeover or other change of control transaction, including a potential transaction at a premium over the market price of our Class A common stock, that our
stockholders might consider to be in their best interests. These provisions:
•

authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and the shares of which may be issued without
stockholder approval, and which may include super voting, special approval, dividend, or other rights or preferences superior to the rights of the
holders of our Class A common stock;

•

discourage any person or group that wishes to acquire 15% or more of our Class A common stock from doing so without obtaining our
agreement because such an acquisition would cause the person or group to suffer substantial dilution;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent and instead require all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our amended and restated bylaws; and
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•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in
control of our company, even if doing so would benefit the holders of our Class A common stock.
A proxy contest for the election of directors at our annual meeting or proposals arising out of stockholder initiatives could cause us to incur substantial
costs and negatively affect our business.
Due to the uncertainty in U.S. financial markets as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in combination with the recent exchange pursuant to the
Exchange Agreement, we may be subject to proxy contests and other forms of stockholder activism. In the event that any significant investor makes
proposals concerning our operations, governance or other matters, or seeks to change our board of directors, our review and consideration of such proposals
may require the devotion of a significant amount of time by our management and employees and could require us to expend significant resources. Further,
if our board of directors, in exercising its fiduciary duties, disagrees with or determines not to pursue the strategic direction suggested by an activist
stockholder, our business could be adversely affected by responding to a costly and time-consuming proxy contest or other actions from an activist
stockholder that will divert the attention of our management and employees, interfere with our ability to execute our strategic plan, result in the loss of
business opportunities and clients, and make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners.
Any issuance of preferred stock could make it difficult for another company to acquire us or could otherwise adversely affect holders of our Class A
common stock, which could depress the price of our Class A common stock.
Our board of directors has the authority to issue preferred stock and to determine the preferences, limitations and relative rights of shares of preferred
stock and to fix the number of shares constituting any series and the designation of such series, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our
preferred stock could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to the rights of our Class A common stock. The potential
issuance of preferred stock may delay or prevent a change in control of us, discouraging bids for our Class A common stock at a premium over the market
price, and adversely affect the market price and the voting and other rights of the holders of our Class A common stock.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or
our business. If one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our
stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock
could decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.
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Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit No.

Description

4.1

Rights Agreement between Manning & Napier, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, including Form of
Right Certificate as Exhibit A, dated as of April 14, 2020, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 14, 2020

10.1

Form of Redemption Agreement between M&N Group Holdings, LLC and Manning & Napier Group, LLC, dated May 11,
2020 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2020.

10.2

Form of Redemption Agreement between Manning & Napier Capital Company, LLC and Manning & Napier Group, LLC,
dated May 11, 2020 is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2020.

10.3

Form of Redemption Agreement between M&N Group Holdings, LLC and William Manning, dated May 11, 2020

10.4

Form of Redemption Agreement between M&N Group Holdings, LLC and Manning & Napier Associates, L.L.C., dated May
11, 2020

10.5

Form of Redemption Agreement between M&N Group Holdings, LLC and MNA Advisors, Inc., dated May 11, 2020

10.6

Form of Redemption Agreement between MNA Advisors, Inc. and William Manning, dated May 11, 2020

10.7

Form of Redemption Agreement between Manning & Napier Capital Company, LLC and William Manning, dated May 11,
2020

31.1

Certification of the Company’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of the Company’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certification of the Company’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2

Certification of the Company’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101

Materials from the Manning & Napier, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, formatted in
Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) related Notes to the Unaudited Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

MANNING & NAPIER, INC.
Dated: August 14, 2020

By:

/s/ Marc Mayer
Marc Mayer
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
/s/ Paul J. Battaglia
Paul J. Battaglia
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
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REDEMPTION AGREEMENT
REDEMPTION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the 11th day of May, 2020, by and between M&N Group
Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company with an address at 290 Woodcliff Drive, Fairport, New York 14450
(“Group Holdings”), and William Manning, an individual having an address at 11 Bristol View, Fairport, NY 14450 (the
“Member”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Member owns 17,718,992.0000 Class B Units of Group Holdings (the “Profits Interests”);
WHEREAS, the Profits Interests convert into 17,718,992.0000 Class A Units of Manning & Napier Group, LLC.
WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement have agreed that the Member may annually redeem his or her Profits Interests
under (a) that certain Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Group Holdings by and among the
Member, the MNA Advisors, Inc. and the other parties thereto, dated as of October 1, 2011, as amended (the “Limited Liability
Company Agreement”), and (b) that certain Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Manning & Napier
Group, LLC, by and among MNCC, Manning & Napier, Inc. and M&N Group Holdings, LLC, dated October 1, 2011, as
amended (together with the shareholder agreement, the “Ownership Agreements”); and that Group Holdings shall redeem
17,718,992.0000 Profits Interests held by the Member in connection with the annual redemption process subject to the
application of the General Limit as defined in the Ownership Agreements;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the respective covenants and agreements set forth in
this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged,
the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
REDEMPTION
SECTION 1.01. Redemption of the Securities. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the
Closing Date (as defined below), the Member hereby irrevocably submits for redemption and transfers, assigns and delivers to
Group Holdings and Group Holdings hereby redeems and accepts all right, title and interest in and to, the Profits Interests, free
and clear of all liens and encumbrances of any kind, for the Redemption Price. On the Closing Date (or thereafter pursuant to
Section 5.01), the Member shall deliver to Group Holdings all instruments necessary to effect the transfer of the redeemed Profits
Interests from the Member.
SECTION 1.02. Redemption Price. The Redemption Price for the redeemed Profits Interests shall be $1.56 per Group
Unit, which is the 15 day average of Manning & Napier, Inc. (“MN”) Class A common stock NYSE closing price between
February 24, 2020 and March 13,

2020. Group Holdings shall pay $27,641,627.52 in cash for the redeemed Profits Interests (the “Redemption Price”). On or as
promptly after the Closing Date as is practicable, Group Holdings shall pay the Redemption Price by check or wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account specified in writing by the Member.
SECTION 1.03. Closing. The closing of the Redemption of the redeemed Profits Interests (the “Closing”) shall take
place immediately following the execution of this Agreement on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall take
place at the offices of Group Holdings, or at such other location as may be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF MEMBER
The Member hereby represents and warrants to Group Holdings as follows:
SECTION 2.01. Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The Member has full legal capacity and authority to execute
this Agreement and to carry out his or her obligations hereunder. To the extent applicable, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of the Member’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action on
behalf of Member. This Agreement has been duly executed by the Member, and, assuming due authorization, execution and
delivery by Group Holdings, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Member, enforceable
against the Member in accordance with its terms. Each document and instrument of transfer contemplated by this Agreement
(including pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof) is valid and legally binding upon the Member in accordance with its terms.
SECTION 2.02. Ownership of redeemed Profits Interests. The Member is the lawful owner of record and beneficially
owns, and has good and marketable title to, the redeemed Profits Interests, free and clear of any security interest, pledge,
mortgage, lien, call, option, charge, encumbrance, adverse claim, preferential arrangement or restriction of any kind, including,
without limitation, any restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership
(collectively, “Encumbrances”). Upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and payment of the
Redemption Price, Group Holdings will own the redeemed Profits Interests free and clear of any Encumbrance.
SECTION 2.03.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Member and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) with or without the giving of notice or the passage
of time or both, violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under, or result in the right to
accelerate or loss of rights under or the creation of any Encumbrance upon any assets or property of the Member, pursuant to the
terms or provisions of any contract, agreement, commitment, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security agreement, note,
lease, license, covenant, understanding or other instrument or obligation to which the Member is a party or by which he or she or
any of his or her properties or assets may be bound or affected, or (b) violate any provision of law or any order, writ, injunction,
judgment or decree of any court, administrative agency or governmental body binding upon the Member.
SECTION 2.04. No Consent. No consent, approval or authorization of or declaration or filing with any governmental
authority or other persons or entities on the part of the Member is

required in connection with execution or delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby.
SECTION 2.05. Sufficient Knowledge. The Member acknowledges that he or she has (a) been provided access to or
been furnished with sufficient facts and information to evaluate and make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of
the redeemed Profits Interests pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (b) read and understands all of such information, (c) been
provided sufficient opportunity to ask questions and all of such questions have been answered to his or her full satisfaction, (d)
not relied on any oral or written representations made by or on behalf of Group Holdings or any of its affiliates (other than as set
forth in this Agreement) and shall not construe or rely on any communication or documentation from or on behalf of Group
Holdings or any of its affiliates as investment, legal or tax advice and (e) obtained such advice (including without limitation the
advice of counsel of the Member’s choosing) as he or she deemed appropriate in order to make an informed decision with respect
to the redemption of the redeemed Profits Interests pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Member acknowledges and
agrees that the Redemption Price represents the fair market value of the redeemed Profits Interests.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF GROUP HOLDINGS
Group Holdings hereby represents and warrants to the Member as follows:
SECTION 3.01.
Organization; Authorization and Validity of Agreement. Group Holdings is duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. Group Holdings has all requisite corporate power and
authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement
and the performance of Group Holdings’ obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and
no other corporate proceedings on the part of Group Holdings is necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and
performance. This Agreement has been duly executed by Group Holdings and, assuming due execution by the Member,
constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations of Group Holdings, enforceable against Group Holdings in accordance with its
terms, except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws of general application relating
to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and except for the limitations imposed by general principles of equity.
SECTION 3.02.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance by Group Holdings of this
Agreement does not and will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the organizational documents of Group Holdings or
(ii) violate any provision of law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental entity.
ARTICLE IV
INDEMNIFICATION
SECTION 4.01. Member Indemnity. The Member covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold Group Holdings and its
officers, directors and stockholders, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any losses,
damages, liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) (a “Claim”) incurred by Group
Holdings , or any such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any

misrepresentation or breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document
executed by the Member and delivered to Group Holdings pursuant to the terms hereof or (b) any failure by the Member to
perform any obligation or covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
SECTION 4.02.
Company Indemnity. Group Holdings covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold the Member
harmless from and against, and to reimburse the Member for any Claim, including reasonable counsel fees and expenses,
incurred by the Member after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by Group Holdings and
delivered to the Member pursuant to the terms hereof or, (b) any failure by Group Holdings to perform any obligation or covenant
required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 5.01. Further Assurances. Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, file and record, or cause to be executed,
delivered, filed and recorded, such further agreements, instruments and other documents, and take, or cause to be taken, such
further actions, as any other party hereto may reasonably request as being necessary or advisable to effect or evidence the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
SECTION 5.02.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the
parties with regard to the subject matter hereof.
SECTION 5.03.
Amendments; Waivers. This Agreement may be amended, modified or superseded, and any of the
terms, covenants, representations, warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed by
parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against
whom enforcement is sought. The failure of any party at any time or times to require performance of any provisions hereof will
in no manner affect the right at a later time to enforce the same. No waiver by any party of any condition, or of any breach of any
term, covenant, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, in any one or more instances, will be deemed to be or
construed as a further or continuing waiver of any such condition or breach or a waiver of any other condition or of any breach of
any other term, covenant, representation or warranty.
SECTION 5.04. Successors and Assigns. All of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties and conditions of this
Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
SECTION 5.05. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic
laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provisions or rule that would cause
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.
SECTION 5.06. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall become illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy for any reason, or shall be held by any court of

competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against public policy, then such provision shall be severed from this
Agreement and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect.
In lieu of each provision that becomes or is held to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against public policy, there shall be
automatically added to this Agreement a provision as similar in substance to the objectionable provision as may be possible and
still be legal, valid, enforceable and in compliance with public policy.
SECTION 5.07.
Section and Paragraph Headings. The section and paragraph headings in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
SECTION 5.08. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as
if all parties hereto had executed the same document. All such counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one
instrument.
SECTION 5.09.
Consent. By executing and delivering this Agreement, the Member hereby consents to and ratifies
Group Holdings entering into a Redemption Agreement (the “Group Holdings Redemption Agreement”) with Manning & Napier
Group, LLC, pursuant to which Manning & Napier Group, LLC agrees to redeem a number of its issued and outstanding Class A
Units beneficially and of record owned by Group Holdings that corresponds to the ownership percentage of Group Holdings that
is being redeemed pursuant to this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
M&N GROUP HOLDINGS, LLC

By: /s/ Sarah Turner
Name: Sarah Turner
Title: Authorized Signatory

MEMBER:

/s/ William Manning
WILLIAM MANNING
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REDEMPTION AGREEMENT
REDEMPTION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the 11th day of May, 2020, by and between M&N Group
Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company having an address at 290 Woodcliff Drive, Fairport, New York 14450
(“Group Holdings”), and Manning & Napier Associates, L.L.C., a New York LLC with an address at 370 Woodcliff Drive,
Fairport, New York 14450 (the “Company”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement have agreed that Group Holdings shall redeem Class A Units held by the
Company;
WHEREAS, in connection with an exchange transaction among affiliated companies including Manning & Napier, Inc.,
Manning & Napier Group, LLC (“MN Group”), Manning & Napier Capital Company, and Group Holdings, Group Holdings will
in turn sell the corresponding units to Manning & Napier Group, LLC;
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in those certain Redemption Agreements entered into
concurrently with this Agreement between some of the members and the Company (collectively, the “Company Redemption
Agreements”), the members are redeeming units of the Company in exchange for the redemption price specified in such
Company Redemption Agreements; and
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company desires to irrevocably have redeemed by
Group Holdings, and Group Holdings desires to redeem, 6,808,523.0000 of the Class A Units, which amount corresponds to the
ownership percentage of the Company that is being redeemed pursuant to the Company Redemption Agreements (the “Redeemed
Interests”), in exchange for the Redemption Price (as defined below).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the respective covenants and agreements set forth in
this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged,
the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
REDEMPTION
SECTION 1.01. Redemption of the Securities. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the
Closing Date (as defined below), the Company hereby irrevocably submits for redemption and transfers, assigns and delivers to
Group Holdings, and Group Holdings hereby redeems and accepts all right, title and interest in and to, the Redeemed Interests,
free and clear of all liens and encumbrances of any kind, for the Redemption Price. On the Closing Date (or

thereafter pursuant to Section 5.01), the Company shall deliver to Group Holdings all instruments necessary to effect the transfer
of the Redeemed Interests from the Company to Group Holdings.
SECTION 1.02. Redemption Price. The redemption price for the Redeemed Interests shall be $10,621,295.88 in cash
(the “Redemption Price”). On or as promptly after the Closing Date as is practicable, Group Holdings shall pay the Redemption
Price by check or wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified in writing by the Company.
SECTION 1.03.
Closing. The closing of the redemption of the Redeemed Interests (the “Closing”) shall take place
immediately following the execution of this Agreement on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall take place at
the offices of Group Holdings, or at such other location as may be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
The Company hereby represents and warrants to Group Holdings as follows:
SECTION 2.01.
Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York. The Company has full legal capacity and authority to
execute this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. To the extent applicable, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of the Company’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action on
behalf of the Company. This Agreement has been duly executed by the Company, and, assuming due authorization, execution and
delivery by Group Holdings, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable
against the Company in accordance with its terms. Each document and instrument of transfer contemplated by this Agreement
(including pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof) is valid and legally binding upon the Company in accordance with its terms.
SECTION 2.02. Ownership of Redeemed Interests. The Company is the lawful owner of record and beneficially owns,
and has good and marketable title to, the Redeemed Interests, free and clear of any security interest, pledge, mortgage, lien, call,
option, charge, encumbrance, adverse claim, preferential arrangement or restriction of any kind, including, without limitation,
any restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership (collectively,
“Encumbrances”). Upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and payment of the Redemption
Price, Group Holdings will own the Redeemed Interests free and clear of any Encumbrance.
SECTION 2.03.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) with or without the giving of notice or the passage
of time or both, violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under, or result in the right to
accelerate or loss of rights under or the creation of any Encumbrance upon any assets or property of the Company, pursuant to the
terms or provisions of any contract, agreement, commitment, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security agreement, note,
lease, license, covenant, understanding or other instrument or obligation to which the Company is a party or by which it or

any of its properties or assets may be bound or affected, (b) violate or conflict with any provision of the organizational documents
of the Company or (c) violate any provision of law or any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree of any court, administrative
agency or governmental body binding upon the Company.
SECTION 2.04. No Consent. No consent, approval or authorization of or declaration or filing with any governmental
authority or other persons or entities on the part of the Company is required in connection with execution or delivery of this
Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
SECTION 2.05.
Sufficient Knowledge. The Company acknowledges that it has (a) been provided access to or been
furnished with sufficient facts and information to evaluate and make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of the
Redeemed Interests pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (b) read and understands all of such information, (c) been provided
sufficient opportunity to ask questions and all of such questions have been answered to its full satisfaction, (d) not relied on any
oral or written representations made by or on behalf of Group Holdings or any of its affiliates (other than as set forth in this
Agreement) and shall not construe or rely on any communication or documentation from or on behalf of Group Holdings or any
of its affiliates as investment, legal or tax advice and (e) obtained such advice (including without limitation the advice of counsel
of the Company’s choosing) as it deemed appropriate in order to make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of the
Redeemed Interests pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Redemption Price
represents the fair market value of the Redeemed Interests.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF GROUP HOLDINGS
Group Holdings hereby represents and warrants to the Company as follows:
SECTION 3.01. Organization; Authorization and Validity of Agreement. Group Holdings is a limited liability company
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. Group Holdings has all requisite
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of Group Holdings’ obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action,
and no other proceedings on the part of Group Holdings is necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and performance. This
Agreement has been duly executed by Group Holdings and, assuming due execution by the Company, constitutes legal, valid and
binding obligations of Group Holdings, enforceable against Group Holdings in accordance with its terms, except as may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws of general application relating to or affecting creditors’
rights generally and except for the limitations imposed by general principles of equity.
SECTION 3.02.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance by Group Holdings of this
Agreement does not and will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the organizational documents of Group Holdings or
(ii) violate any provision of law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental entity.

ARTICLE IV
INDEMNIFICATION
SECTION 4.01. Company Indemnity. The Company covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold Group Holdings and
its officers, directors and members, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any losses,
damages, liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) (a “Claim”) incurred by Group
Holdings or any such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by the Company and
delivered to Group Holdings pursuant to the terms hereof or (b) any failure by the Company to perform any obligation or
covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
SECTION 4.02. Group Holdings Indemnity. Group Holdings covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold the Company
and its officers, directors and members, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any
losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) incurred by the Company
or any such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by Group Holdings and
delivered to the Company pursuant to the terms hereof or, (b) any failure by Group Holdings to perform any obligation or
covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 5.01. Further Assurances. Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, file and record, or cause to be executed,
delivered, filed and recorded, such further agreements, instruments and other documents, and take, or cause to be taken, such
further actions, as any other party hereto may reasonably request as being necessary or advisable to effect or evidence the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
SECTION 5.02.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the
parties with regard to the subject matter hereof.
SECTION 5.03.
Amendments; Waivers. This Agreement may be amended, modified or superseded, and any of the
terms, covenants, representations, warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed by
parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against
whom enforcement is sought. The failure of any party at any time or times to require performance of any provisions hereof will
in no manner affect the right at a later time to enforce the same. No waiver by any party of any condition, or of any breach of any
term, covenant, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, in any one or more instances, will be deemed to be or
construed as a further or continuing waiver of any such condition or breach or a waiver of any other condition or of any breach of
any other term, covenant, representation or warranty.

SECTION 5.04. Successors and Assigns. All of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties and conditions of this
Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
SECTION 5.05. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic
laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provisions or rule that would cause
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.
SECTION 5.06. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall become illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy for any reason, or shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy, then such provision shall be severed from this Agreement and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not
be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect. In lieu of each provision that becomes or is held to be illegal, invalid,
unenforceable or against public policy, there shall be automatically added to this Agreement a provision as similar in substance to
the objectionable provision as may be possible and still be legal, valid, enforceable and in compliance with public policy.
SECTION 5.07.
Section and Paragraph Headings. The section and paragraph headings in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
SECTION 5.08. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as
if all parties hereto had executed the same document. All such counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one
instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

M&N GROUP HOLDINGS, LLC

By: /s/ Sarah C. Turner
Name: Sarah Turner
Title: Authorized Signatory

MANNING & NAPIER ASSOCIATES, L.L.C.

By: /s/ William Manning
Name: William Manning
Title: Authorized Signatory
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REDEMPTION AGREEMENT
REDEMPTION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the 11th day of May, 2020, by and between M&N Group
Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company having an address at 290 Woodcliff Drive, Fairport, New York 14450
(“Group Holdings”), and MNA Advisors, Inc., a New York corporation having an address at 290 Woodcliff Drive, Fairport, New
York 14450 (the “Company”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement have agreed that Group Holdings shall redeem Class A Units held by the
Company;
WHEREAS, certain shareholders of the Company are each eligible to have the Company redeem their shares in
connection with an exchange transaction among affiliated companies including Manning & Napier, Inc., Manning & Napier
Group, LLC (“MN Group”), Manning & Napier Capital Company, and Group Holdings, and the Company has agreed to sell such
redeemed shares to Group Holdings who will in turn sell corresponding units to MN Group;
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in those certain Redemption Agreements entered into
concurrently with this Agreement between some or all of the shareholders of the Company and the Company (collectively, the
“Company Redemption Agreements”), the Shareholders are redeeming common stock of the Company in exchange for the
redemption price specified in such Company Redemption Agreements; and
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company desires to irrevocably have redeemed by
Group Holdings, and Group Holdings desires to redeem, 34,757,162.0859 of the Class A Units, which amount corresponds to the
ownership percentage of the Company that is being redeemed pursuant to the Company Redemption Agreements (the “Redeemed
Interests”), in exchange for the Redemption Price (as defined below).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the respective covenants and agreements set forth in
this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged,
the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
REDEMPTION
SECTION 1.01. Redemption of the Securities. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the
Closing Date (as defined below), the Company hereby irrevocably submits for redemption and transfers, assigns and delivers to
Group Holdings, and Group Holdings hereby redeems and accepts all right, title and interest in and to, the Redeemed Interests,
free and
11

clear of all liens and encumbrances of any kind, for the Redemption Price. On the Closing Date (or thereafter pursuant to Section
5.01), the Company shall deliver to Group Holdings all instruments necessary to effect the transfer of the Redeemed Interests
from the Company to Group Holdings.
SECTION 1.02. Redemption Price. The redemption price for the Redeemed Interests shall be $51,350,737.12 in cash
(the “Redemption Price”). On or as promptly after the Closing Date as is practicable, Group Holdings shall pay the Redemption
Price by check or wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified in writing by the Company.
SECTION 1.03.
Closing. The closing of the redemption of the Redeemed Interests (the “Closing”) shall take place
immediately following the execution of this Agreement on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall take place at
the offices of Group Holdings, or at such other location as may be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
The Company hereby represents and warrants to Group Holdings as follows:
SECTION 2.01.
Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York. The Company has full legal capacity and authority to
execute this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. To the extent applicable, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of the Company’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action on
behalf of the Company. This Agreement has been duly executed by the Company, and, assuming due authorization, execution and
delivery by Group Holdings, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable
against the Company in accordance with its terms. Each document and instrument of transfer contemplated by this Agreement
(including pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof) is valid and legally binding upon the Company in accordance with its terms.
SECTION 2.02. Ownership of Redeemed Interests. The Company is the lawful owner of record and beneficially owns,
and has good and marketable title to, the Redeemed Interests, free and clear of any security interest, pledge, mortgage, lien, call,
option, charge, encumbrance, adverse claim, preferential arrangement or restriction of any kind, including, without limitation,
any restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership (collectively,
“Encumbrances”). Upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and payment of the Redemption
Price, Group Holdings will own the Redeemed Interests free and clear of any Encumbrance.
SECTION 2.03.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) with or without the giving of notice or the passage
of time or both, violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under, or result in the right to
accelerate or loss of rights under or the creation of any Encumbrance upon any assets or property of the Company, pursuant to the
terms or provisions of any contract, agreement, commitment, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security agreement, note,
lease, license, covenant,

understanding or other instrument or obligation to which the Company is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets
may be bound or affected, (b) violate or conflict with any provision of the organizational documents of the Company or (c)
violate any provision of law or any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree of any court, administrative agency or
governmental body binding upon the Company.
SECTION 2.04. No Consent. No consent, approval or authorization of or declaration or filing with any governmental
authority or other persons or entities on the part of the Company is required in connection with execution or delivery of this
Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
SECTION 2.05.
Sufficient Knowledge. The Company acknowledges that it has (a) been provided access to or been
furnished with sufficient facts and information to evaluate and make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of the
Redeemed Interests pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (b) read and understands all of such information, (c) been provided
sufficient opportunity to ask questions and all of such questions have been answered to its full satisfaction, (d) not relied on any
oral or written representations made by or on behalf of Group Holdings or any of its affiliates (other than as set forth in this
Agreement) and shall not construe or rely on any communication or documentation from or on behalf of Group Holdings or any
of its affiliates as investment, legal or tax advice and (e) obtained such advice (including without limitation the advice of counsel
of the Company’s choosing) as it deemed appropriate in order to make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of the
Redeemed Interests pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Redemption Price
represents the fair market value of the Redeemed Interests.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF GROUP HOLDINGS
Group Holdings hereby represents and warrants to the Company as follows:
SECTION 3.01. Organization; Authorization and Validity of Agreement. Group Holdings is a limited liability company
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. Group Holdings has all requisite
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of Group Holdings’ obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action,
and no other proceedings on the part of Group Holdings is necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and performance. This
Agreement has been duly executed by Group Holdings and, assuming due execution by the Company, constitutes legal, valid and
binding obligations of Group Holdings, enforceable against Group Holdings in accordance with its terms, except as may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws of general application relating to or affecting creditors’
rights generally and except for the limitations imposed by general principles of equity.
SECTION 3.02.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance by Group Holdings of this
Agreement does not and will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision

of the organizational documents of Group Holdings or (ii) violate any provision of law, or any order, judgment or decree of any
court or other governmental entity.
ARTICLE IV
INDEMNIFICATION
SECTION 4.01. Company Indemnity. The Company covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold Group Holdings and
its officers, directors and stockholders, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any
losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) (a “Claim”) incurred by
Group Holdings or any such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of
any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by the Company and
delivered to Group Holdings pursuant to the terms hereof or (b) any failure by the Company to perform any obligation or
covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
SECTION 4.02. Group Holdings Indemnity. Group Holdings covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold the Company
and its officers, directors and stockholders, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any
losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) incurred by the Company
or any such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by Group Holdings and
delivered to the Company pursuant to the terms hereof or, (b) any failure by Group Holdings to perform any obligation or
covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 5.01. Further Assurances. Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, file and record, or cause to be executed,
delivered, filed and recorded, such further agreements, instruments and other documents, and take, or cause to be taken, such
further actions, as any other party hereto may reasonably request as being necessary or advisable to effect or evidence the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
SECTION 5.02.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the
parties with regard to the subject matter hereof.
SECTION 5.03.
Amendments; Waivers. This Agreement may be amended, modified or superseded, and any of the
terms, covenants, representations, warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed by
parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against
whom enforcement is sought. The failure of any party at any time or times to require performance of any provisions hereof will
in no manner affect the right at a later time to enforce the same. No waiver by any party of any condition, or of any breach of any
term, covenant, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, in any one or more instances, will be deemed to be or
construed as a further or

continuing waiver of any such condition or breach or a waiver of any other condition or of any breach of any other term,
covenant, representation or warranty.
SECTION 5.04. Successors and Assigns. All of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties and conditions of this
Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
SECTION 5.05. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic
laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provisions or rule that would cause
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.
SECTION 5.06. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall become illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy for any reason, or shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy, then such provision shall be severed from this Agreement and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not
be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect. In lieu of each provision that becomes or is held to be illegal, invalid,
unenforceable or against public policy, there shall be automatically added to this Agreement a provision as similar in substance to
the objectionable provision as may be possible and still be legal, valid, enforceable and in compliance with public policy.
SECTION 5.07.
Section and Paragraph Headings. The section and paragraph headings in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
SECTION 5.08. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as
if all parties hereto had executed the same document. All such counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one
instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

M&N GROUP HOLDINGS, LLC

By: /s/ Sarah Turner
Name: Sarah Turner
Title: Authorized Signatory

MNA ADVISORS, INC.:

By: /s/ Michelle Thomas
Name: Michelle Thomas
Title: Corporate Secretary
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REDEMPTION AGREEMENT
REDEMPTION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the 11th day of May, 2020, by and between MNA
Advisors, Inc., a New York corporation having an address at 290 Woodcliff Drive, Fairport, New York 14450 (the “Company”),
and William Manning, an individual having an address at 11 Bristol View, Fairport, NY 14450 (the “Shareholder”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Shareholder owns 4,834,557.0099 shares of the issued and outstanding common stock of the Company
(the “Common Stock”);
WHEREAS, the Common Stock converts into 34,696,444.0000 units of Manning & Napier Group, LLC.
WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement have agreed that the Shareholder may annually redeem his or her Common
Stock under (a) that certain Shareholders Agreement among the Shareholder, the Company and the other parties thereto, dated as
of November 23, 2011, as amended (the “Shareholders Agreement”), and (b) that certain Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of M&N Group Holdings, LLC by and among the Shareholder, the Company and the other parties
thereto, dated October 1, 2011, as amended (together with the Shareholders Agreement, the “Ownership Agreements”); and that
the Company shall redeem 4,834,557.0099 Common Stock held by the Shareholder in connection with the annual redemption
process subject to the application of the General Limit as defined in the Ownership Agreements;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the respective covenants and agreements set forth in
this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged,
the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
REDEMPTION
SECTION 1.01. Redemption of the Securities. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the
Closing Date (as defined below), the Shareholder hereby irrevocably submits for redemption and transfers, assigns and delivers
to the Company and the Company hereby redeems and accepts all right, title and interest in and to, the Common Stock, free and
clear of all liens and encumbrances of any kind, for the Redemption Price. On the Closing Date (or thereafter pursuant to Section
5.01), the Shareholder shall deliver to the Company all instruments necessary to effect the transfer of the redeemed Common
Stock from the Shareholder.
SECTION 1.02. Redemption Price. The Redemption Price for the redeemed Common Stock shall be $1.48 per Group
Unit, which is the 15 day average of Manning & Napier, Inc. (“MN”) Class A common stock NYSE closing price between
February 24, 2020 and March 13, 2020, less 5%. The Company shall pay $51,350,737.12 in cash for the redeemed Common
Stock (the

“Redemption Price”). On or as promptly after the Closing Date as is practicable, the Company shall pay the Redemption Price by
check or wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified in writing by the Shareholder.
SECTION 1.03.
Closing. The closing of the Redemption of the redeemed Common Stock (the “Closing”) shall take
place immediately following the execution of this Agreement on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall take
place at the offices of the Company, or at such other location as may be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SHAREHOLDER
The Shareholder hereby represents and warrants to the Company as follows:
SECTION 2.01.
Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The Shareholder has full legal capacity and authority to
execute this Agreement and to carry out his or her obligations hereunder. To the extent applicable, the execution and delivery of
this Agreement and the performance of the Shareholder’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action
on behalf of Shareholder. This Agreement has been duly executed by the Shareholder, and, assuming due authorization, execution
and delivery by the Company, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Shareholder, enforceable
against the Shareholder in accordance with its terms. Each document and instrument of transfer contemplated by this Agreement
(including pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof) is valid and legally binding upon the Shareholder in accordance with its terms.
SECTION 2.02.
Ownership of Redeemed Common Stock. The Shareholder is the lawful owner of record and
beneficially owns, and has good and marketable title to, the redeemed Common Stock, free and clear of any security interest,
pledge, mortgage, lien, call, option, charge, encumbrance, adverse claim, preferential arrangement or restriction of any kind,
including, without limitation, any restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of
ownership (collectively, “Encumbrances”). Upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and
payment of the Redemption Price, the Company will own the redeemed Common Stock free and clear of any Encumbrance.
SECTION 2.03. No Conflict or Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Shareholder and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) with or without the giving of notice or the passage
of time or both, violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under, or result in the right to
accelerate or loss of rights under or the creation of any Encumbrance upon any assets or property of the Shareholder, pursuant to
the terms or provisions of any contract, agreement, commitment, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security agreement,
note, lease, license, covenant, understanding or other instrument or obligation to which the Shareholder is a party or by which he
or she or any of his or her properties or assets may be bound or affected, or (b) violate any provision of law or any order, writ,
injunction, judgment or decree of any court, administrative agency or governmental body binding upon the Shareholder.
SECTION 2.04. No Consent. No consent, approval or authorization of or declaration or filing with any governmental
authority or other persons or entities on the part of the Shareholder

is required in connection with execution or delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby.
SECTION 2.05. Sufficient Knowledge. The Shareholder acknowledges that he or she has (a) been provided access to or
been furnished with sufficient facts and information to evaluate and make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of
the redeemed Common Stock pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (b) read and understands all of such information, (c) been
provided sufficient opportunity to ask questions and all of such questions have been answered to his or her full satisfaction, (d)
not relied on any oral or written representations made by or on behalf of the Company or any of its affiliates (other than as set
forth in this Agreement) and shall not construe or rely on any communication or documentation from or on behalf of the
Company or any of its affiliates as investment, legal or tax advice and (e) obtained such advice (including without limitation the
advice of counsel of the Shareholder’s choosing) as he or she deemed appropriate in order to make an informed decision with
respect to the redemption of the redeemed Common Stock pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Shareholder
acknowledges and agrees that the Redemption Price represents the fair market value of the redeemed Common Stock.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY
The Company hereby represents and warrants to the Shareholder as follows:
SECTION 3.01.
Organization; Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The Company is duly incorporated, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of New York. The Company has all requisite corporate power and
authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement
and the performance of the Company’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and no
other corporate proceedings on the part of the Company is necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and performance. This
Agreement has been duly executed by the Company and, assuming due execution by the Shareholder, constitutes legal, valid and
binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws of general application relating to or affecting creditors’ rights
generally and except for the limitations imposed by general principles of equity.
SECTION 3.02. No Conflict or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement
does not and will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the organizational documents of the Company or (ii) violate any
provision of law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental entity.
ARTICLE IV
INDEMNIFICATION
SECTION 4.01.
Shareholder Indemnity. The Shareholder covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold the Company
and its officers, directors and stockholders, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any
losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) (a “Claim”) incurred by
the Company, or any such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any

misrepresentation or breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document
executed by the Shareholder and delivered to the Company pursuant to the terms hereof or (b) any failure by the Shareholder to
perform any obligation or covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
SECTION 4.02.
Company Indemnity. The Company covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold the Shareholder
harmless from and against, and to reimburse the Shareholder for any Claim, including reasonable counsel fees and expenses,
incurred by the Shareholder after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by the Company and
delivered to the Shareholder pursuant to the terms hereof or, (b) any failure by the Company to perform any obligation or
covenant required to be performed by it under any provision of this Agreement.
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 5.01. Further Assurances. Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, file and record, or cause to be executed,
delivered, filed and recorded, such further agreements, instruments and other documents, and take, or cause to be taken, such
further actions, as any other party hereto may reasonably request as being necessary or advisable to effect or evidence the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
SECTION 5.02.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the
parties with regard to the subject matter hereof.
SECTION 5.03.
Amendments; Waivers. This Agreement may be amended, modified or superseded, and any of the
terms, covenants, representations, warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed by
parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against
whom enforcement is sought. The failure of any party at any time or times to require performance of any provisions hereof will
in no manner affect the right at a later time to enforce the same. No waiver by any party of any condition, or of any breach of any
term, covenant, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, in any one or more instances, will be deemed to be or
construed as a further or continuing waiver of any such condition or breach or a waiver of any other condition or of any breach of
any other term, covenant, representation or warranty.
SECTION 5.04. Successors and Assigns. All of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties and conditions of this
Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
SECTION 5.05. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic
laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provisions or rule that would cause
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.
SECTION 5.06. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall become illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy for any reason, or shall be held by any court of

competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against public policy, then such provision shall be severed from this
Agreement and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect.
In lieu of each provision that becomes or is held to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against public policy, there shall be
automatically added to this Agreement a provision as similar in substance to the objectionable provision as may be possible and
still be legal, valid, enforceable and in compliance with public policy.
SECTION 5.07.
Section and Paragraph Headings. The section and paragraph headings in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
SECTION 5.08. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as
if all parties hereto had executed the same document. All such counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one
instrument.
SECTION 5.09. Consent. By executing and delivering this Agreement, the Shareholder hereby consents to and ratifies
the Company entering into a Redemption Agreement (the “MNA Advisors, Inc. Redemption Agreement”) with Manning &
Napier Group Holdings, LLC, pursuant to which the Manning & Napier Group Holdings, LLC agrees to redeem a number of its
issued and outstanding Class A Units beneficially and of record owned by the Company that corresponds to the ownership
percentage of the Company that is being redeemed pursuant to this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
MNA ADVISORS, INC.

By: /s/ Michelle Thomas
Name: Michelle Thomas
Title: Corporate Secretary

SHAREHOLDER:

/s/ William Manning
WILLIAM MANNING

Exhibit 10.7

REDEMPTION AGREEMENT
REDEMPTION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of the 11th day of May, 2020, by and between Manning &
Napier Capital Company, LLC, a New York limited liability company with an address at 290 Woodcliff Drive, Fairport, New
York 14450 (“MNCC”), and William Manning, an individual having an address at 11 Bristol View, Fairport, NY 14450 (the
“Member”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Member owns 733,460.0000 units of MNCC (the “Units”);
WHEREAS, the Units convert into 733,460.0000 Class A Units of Manning & Napier Group, LLC.
WHEREAS, the parties to this Agreement have agreed that the Member may annually redeem his or her Units under (a)
that certain Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of MNCC by and among the Member and the other parties thereto,
dated as of November 23, 2011, as amended (the “Operating Agreement”), and (b) that certain Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of Manning & Napier Group, LLC, by and among MNCC, Manning & Napier, Inc. and M&N
Group Holdings, LLC, dated October 1, 2011, as amended (together with the Operating Agreement, the “Ownership
Agreements”); and that MNCC shall redeem 733,460.0000 Units held by the Member in connection with the annual redemption
process subject to the application of the General Limit as defined in the Ownership Agreements;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the respective covenants and agreements set forth in
this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged,
the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
REDEMPTION
SECTION 1.01. Redemption of the Securities. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the
Closing Date (as defined below), the Member hereby irrevocably submits for redemption and transfers, assigns and delivers to
MNCC and MNCC hereby redeems and accepts all right, title and interest in and to, the Units, free and clear of all liens and
encumbrances of any kind, for the Redemption Price. On the Closing Date (or thereafter pursuant to Section 5.01), the Member
shall deliver to MNCC all instruments necessary to effect the transfer of the redeemed Units from the Member.
SECTION 1.02. Redemption Price. The Redemption Price for the redeemed Units shall be $1.48 per Group Unit, which
is the 15 day average of Manning & Napier, Inc. (“MN”) Class A common stock NYSE closing price between February 24, 2020
and March 13, 2020, less 5%. MNCC shall pay $1,085,520.80 in cash for the redeemed Units (the “Redemption Price”). On or as
promptly after the Closing Date as is practicable, MNCC shall pay the Redemption Price by

check or wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account specified in writing by the Member.
SECTION 1.03.
Closing. The closing of the Redemption of the redeemed Units (the “Closing”) shall take place
immediately following the execution of this Agreement on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall take place at
the offices of MNCC, or at such other location as may be mutually agreed to by the parties hereto.
ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF MEMBER
The Member hereby represents and warrants to MNCC as follows:
SECTION 2.01. Authorization and Validity of Agreement. The Member has full legal capacity and authority to execute
this Agreement and to carry out his or her obligations hereunder. To the extent applicable, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the performance of the Member’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action on
behalf of Member. This Agreement has been duly executed by the Member, and, assuming due authorization, execution and
delivery by MNCC, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Member, enforceable against the
Member in accordance with its terms. Each document and instrument of transfer contemplated by this Agreement (including
pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof) is valid and legally binding upon the Member in accordance with its terms.
SECTION 2.02. Ownership of Redeemed Units. The Member is the lawful owner of record and beneficially owns, and
has good and marketable title to, the redeemed Units, free and clear of any security interest, pledge, mortgage, lien, call, option,
charge, encumbrance, adverse claim, preferential arrangement or restriction of any kind, including, without limitation, any
restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership (collectively,
“Encumbrances”). Upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and payment of the Redemption
Price, MNCC will own the redeemed Units free and clear of any Encumbrance.
SECTION 2.03.
No Conflict or Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Member and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) with or without the giving of notice or the passage
of time or both, violate, conflict with, result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under, or result in the right to
accelerate or loss of rights under or the creation of any Encumbrance upon any assets or property of the Member, pursuant to the
terms or provisions of any contract, agreement, commitment, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security agreement, note,
lease, license, covenant, understanding or other instrument or obligation to which the Member is a party or by which he or she or
any of his or her properties or assets may be bound or affected, or (b) violate any provision of law or any order, writ, injunction,
judgment or decree of any court, administrative agency or governmental body binding upon the Member.
SECTION 2.04. No Consent. No consent, approval or authorization of or declaration or filing with any governmental
authority or other persons or entities on the part of the Member is required in connection with execution or delivery of this
Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

SECTION 2.05. Sufficient Knowledge. The Member acknowledges that he or she has (a) been provided access to or
been furnished with sufficient facts and information to evaluate and make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of
the redeemed Units pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (b) read and understands all of such information, (c) been provided
sufficient opportunity to ask questions and all of such questions have been answered to his or her full satisfaction, (d) not relied
on any oral or written representations made by or on behalf of MNCC or any of its affiliates (other than as set forth in this
Agreement) and shall not construe or rely on any communication or documentation from or on behalf of MNCC or any of its
affiliates as investment, legal or tax advice and (e) obtained such advice (including without limitation the advice of counsel of the
Member’s choosing) as he or she deemed appropriate in order to make an informed decision with respect to the redemption of the
redeemed Units pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. The Member acknowledges and agrees that the Redemption Price
represents the fair market value of the redeemed Units.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF MNCC
MNCC hereby represents and warrants to the Member as follows:
SECTION 3.01. Organization; Authorization and Validity of Agreement. MNCC is duly organized, validly existing and
in good standing under the laws of the State of New York. MNCC has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into
this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of
MNCC’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and no other corporate proceedings
on the part of MNCC is necessary to authorize such execution, delivery and performance. This Agreement has been duly
executed by MNCC and, assuming due execution by the Member, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations of MNCC,
enforceable against MNCC in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
moratorium or similar laws of general application relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and except for the limitations
imposed by general principles of equity.
SECTION 3.02. No Conflict or Violation. The execution, delivery and performance by MNCC of this Agreement does
not and will not (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the organizational documents of MNCC or (ii) violate any provision
of law, or any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental entity.
ARTICLE IV
INDEMNIFICATION
SECTION 4.01. Member Indemnity. The Member covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold MNCC and its officers,
directors and stockholders, harmless from and against, and to reimburse such indemnitees for, any claim for any losses, damages,
liabilities, deficiencies and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) (a “Claim”) incurred by MNCC, or any
such indemnitee after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation or
warranty contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by the Member and delivered to MNCC
pursuant to the terms hereof or (b) any failure by the Member to perform any obligation or covenant required to be performed by
it under any provision of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.02. Company Indemnity. MNCC covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold the Member harmless from
and against, and to reimburse the Member for any Claim, including reasonable counsel fees and expenses, incurred by the
Member after the date hereof by reason of, or arising from, (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation or warranty
contained in this Agreement or in any instrument or document executed by MNCC and delivered to the Member pursuant to the
terms hereof or, (b) any failure by MNCC to perform any obligation or covenant required to be performed by it under any
provision of this Agreement.
ARTICLE V
MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 5.01. Further Assurances. Each party hereto shall execute, deliver, file and record, or cause to be executed,
delivered, filed and recorded, such further agreements, instruments and other documents, and take, or cause to be taken, such
further actions, as any other party hereto may reasonably request as being necessary or advisable to effect or evidence the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
SECTION 5.02.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between the
parties with regard to the subject matter hereof.
SECTION 5.03.
Amendments; Waivers. This Agreement may be amended, modified or superseded, and any of the
terms, covenants, representations, warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed by
parties hereto. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against
whom enforcement is sought. The failure of any party at any time or times to require performance of any provisions hereof will
in no manner affect the right at a later time to enforce the same. No waiver by any party of any condition, or of any breach of any
term, covenant, representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, in any one or more instances, will be deemed to be or
construed as a further or continuing waiver of any such condition or breach or a waiver of any other condition or of any breach of
any other term, covenant, representation or warranty.
SECTION 5.04. Successors and Assigns. All of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties and conditions of this
Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
SECTION 5.05. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic
laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provisions or rule that would cause
the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York.
SECTION 5.06. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall become illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy for any reason, or shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, unenforceable or against
public policy, then such provision shall be severed from this Agreement and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not
be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect. In lieu of each provision that becomes or is held to be illegal, invalid,
unenforceable or against public policy, there shall be automatically added to this Agreement a provision as similar in substance to
the objectionable

provision as may be possible and still be legal, valid, enforceable and in compliance with public policy.
SECTION 5.07.
Section and Paragraph Headings. The section and paragraph headings in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
SECTION 5.08. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as
if all parties hereto had executed the same document. All such counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one
instrument.
SECTION 5.09.
Consent. By executing and delivering this Agreement, the Member hereby consents to and ratifies
MNCC entering into a Redemption Agreement (the “MNCC Redemption Agreement”) with Manning & Napier Group, LLC,
pursuant to which Manning & Napier Group, LLC agrees to redeem a number of its issued and outstanding Class A Units
beneficially and of record owned by MNCC that corresponds to the ownership percentage of MNCC that is being redeemed
pursuant to this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
MANNING & NAPIER CAPITAL COMPANY, LLC

By: /s/ Sarah Turner
Name: Sarah Turner
Title: Authorized Signatory

MEMBER:

/s/ William Manning
WILLIAM MANNING

Exhibit 31.1
Certification
Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Marc Mayer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Manning & Napier, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
/s/ Marc Mayer
Marc Mayer
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Date: August 14, 2020

Exhibit 31.2
Certification
Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Paul J. Battaglia, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Manning & Napier, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
/s/ Paul J. Battaglia
Paul J. Battaglia
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
Date: August 14, 2020

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Marc Mayer, the Chief Executive Officer of Manning & Napier, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
• The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended; and
• The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
/s/ Marc Mayer
Marc Mayer
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
Date: August 14, 2020

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Paul J. Battaglia, the Chief Financial Officer of Manning & Napier, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
• The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended; and
• The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
/s/ Paul J. Battaglia
Paul J. Battaglia
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
Date: August 14, 2020

